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Corporate Information

DNEEHR
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Corporate Profile
NI B

The Company is a research-driven and market-oriented biopharmaceutical
company with more than 25 years of operation in the pharmaceutical
industry in China.

The Group is fully integrated with solid infrastructures in drug
development, clinical development, regulatory, manufacturing, sales
and marketing based in Mainland China with global perspectives. The
Group has established extensive partnerships with over 20 international
companies and currently markets over 25 proprietary, generic and
licensed-in pharmaceutical products in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan.

The Group focuses on several key disease areas such as cardiovascular,
woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases, oncology, dermatology and
obstetrics. It has more than 40 products under different development
stages stemming from both internal research and development as well as
from the licensing of development, commercialisation, and manufacturing
rights from various United States, European and Japanese companies.

The Group carries out its sales and distribution activities in Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and Mainland China through Hong Kong and Taiwan offices
and branch offices in Chongqing, Guangzhou, Shanghai and Beijing with
direct and channel sales network covering most of the provinces and
cities in Mainland China, marketing both domestic self-developed and
generic products and overseas licensed-in products. Zhaoke Hefei is
currently operating the manufacturing plant of the Group located in Hefei,
Anhui Province of the PRC, comprising four GMP-compliant workshops
for the production of topical gel, lyophilised powder for injection, small
volume parenteral solutions and eye gel. Zhaoke Guangzhou is currently
operating the manufacturing site in Nansha District, Guangzhou of the PRC
which include a complete range of solid dosage production lines for the
development and manufacturing of tablets and capsules.

The mission of the Group is to become a successful biopharmaceutical

group in Asia providing innovative products to fight diseases and improve
health and quality of life.
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Corporate Profile

NCISEy
Currently, the Group has the following products in markets: BAl AEENTIEREED
Market
w5
Country Mainland Hong
of origin China Kong Macau Taiwan Medical application
RiRit FEIR M BB -y 688 BEAR
Proprietary products:
EREM:
Eyprotor® PRC v Corneal ulcer
(BRE)® T AEES
* Livaracine® PRC v Blood clots and deep vein thrombosis
* (BB FE MR R R B A AR M A2
* Nadroparin Calcium PRC 4 Blood clots and deep vein thrombosis
Injection
ol =S b FE I8 R ERARAR %
* Slounase® PRC v Hemostasis
* (RER® FE Vol
Yallaferon® PRC v Viral infection
(LHER® P REERER
Licensed-in products:
BlEEm -
Adasuve USA v Agitation associated with schizophrenia
or bipolar I disorder in adults
{Adasuve) E35l B ARGS9 B S RIS R R 1 2L O AE
* Bredinin® Japan v Immunosuppression in renal
transplantation
* (ThRmE)® A7 B RS E TR RE
Centraxal® Plus Spain v v Acute otitis media with tympanostomy
tubes
{Centraxal® Plus) [ispi%g HERREENZMEHEX
Dicoflor® Italy v 4 Probiotics
{Dicoflor)® BAH BER
Episil® Sweden v Oral mucositis pain
(REEF)® g ABERMBEALR
Ferplex® Spain v v 4 Iron deficiency anemia
CGEERM)® PR R E M
Gaslon N® Japan v Gastric ulcer and gastritis
(Bt A7 BEBRBEL
Intrarosa® Canada v 4 v Vulvovaginal atrophy
{Intrarosa)® meEX SRR EELE
Lutrate Spain v/ v v/ Prostate cancer
{Lutrate) [iijzi%s Rl
Mictonorm® Germany v v Urinary incontinence
(Em)e e FREKEE
Natulan® Germany v v 4 Stage Ill and IV Hodgkin’s disease
{Natulan)® =H E-RENBEFSR
Nitric Oxide for USA v Hypoxic respiratory failure associated
Inhalation with pulmonary hypertension
—aLARBAEREE xHE HBER B = B A R A M AT R 3B
Omacor® Norway 4 Omega-3-acid ethyl esters
{Omacor)® 5 Omega-3M 7 B
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Corporate Profile

NGOV
Market
w5
Country Mainland Hong
of origin China Kong Macau Taiwan Medical application
RRt FEIRit BB -1y A BEAZ
Readyfusor™ Germany 4 Post-operative pain management
{Readyfusor)™ =R MiEEmER
Sancuso® USA v Chemotherapy induced nausea and
vomiting
(EalEF)® % LB AR RIEH
* Teglutik® Spain v v v v Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
* (Teglutik)® BT =G RIRE(E
* Trittico® Italy v v 4 Insomnia/Depression
* (ER)e BAF KR/ EE
Unidrox® Italy v v v Urinary tract infections and respiratory
tract infections
{Unidrox)® BEAH WAPKIB RS B IR B R
VSL#3® Italy v 4 v/ Probiotics
{VSL#3)® VNl fitaal-
Zanidip® Italy v 4 Hypertension
(BEF)® BEAH = 1B
Zingo™ Hong Kong v 4 4 Topical local analgesics
{Zingo)™ ) R AL
Generic products:
HHER:
* Azilsartan Tablets PRC v Hypertension
* [EDER FE = M
* Fondaparinux Sodium  PRC v Deep vein thrombosis
Injection
* BEEFFERIHR I RESERIR M4
Sodium Phenylbutyrate PRC v Urea cycle disorders
Granules
AT BeShFER a3 RERERER
* Treprostinil Injection PRC v Pulmonary arterial hypertension
* ghATSIEBTER FE FEh iR = B
* In the NDRL RERERE HERA
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Revenue e

Gross profit e

Profit attributable to the owners of the A EIEA AFEL
Company

Equity attributable to the owners of the ZANATIHE AEHER
Company

Earnings per share BREF

Basic R

Diluted E

Dividend per share BRAE

Interim H EA

Final AR

Total 4t

Dividend payout ratio

P RO AN Eb

Financial Highlights
BB HE

2022 2021 Change
—g—= —E-—F B
HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FET

1,233,148 1,266,157 -2.6%
770,755 806,284 -4.4%

51,284 1,987,176 -97.4%

1,925,052 2,464,578 -21.9%

HK cents HK cents
A4l AL

337.58 -97.4%
337.35 -97.4%
3.0
3.1
6.1 -67.2%
1.8%

Annual Report 2022 F

7



Financial Highlights
52

REVENUE (HK$’000)

Wz (F7E7T)

1,266,157
1,216,716 1,233,148
1,218,913

1,137,626 I I I

Year
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 FE

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(HK$’000)

RARERAEGER(FET)

2,464,578

2,295,900
2,210,543 pm 2,149,795
I 1,924,107

Year
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 FFE
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
(HK$’000)

RRBHER ARMGRR (FHET)

1,987,176

418,269

125,553 129,316
_— - 51,284
w _ Year

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 #FE

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
(HK CENTS)

BRESZR (GB)
337.58
70.67
21.22 229 8.71

w  Year
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 FE




RESULTS

Revenue Wozs

Cost of sales HERA

Gross profit EA

Other income Hftg A

Other gains and losses, net Hitas RSB E
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER
Administrative expenses THER

Net reversal of/(provision for)
expected credit losses on financial
assets

Y EEREEEBRER/
(BB 58

Research and development expenses ~ H% R Fi% &R
Profit from operations Ryl
Finance costs BHERR

Share of results of associates DEBENTEE
Profit before taxation BRBLATE T
Taxation BE

Profit for the year KEERF
Attributable to: T AL :
Owners of the Company /NI 2N
Non-controlling interests R

FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets FREEE

Current assets MEBEE

Current liabilities MEARE

Net current assets MBEETE

Non-current liabilities FREEE

Net assets BEFE

Equity attributable to the owners RRAIRE AEEER
of the Company

Non-controlling interests JerEfRiER

Total equity R

Five-Year Financial Summary

IFUBRE

1,233,148
(462,393)

770,755
73,734
(54,427)
(346,467)
(198,413)

263
(168,885)

76,560
(7,595)
(1,104)

67,861
(22,026)

45,835

51,284
(5,449)

45,835

HK$'000
TR
2,130,394

651,634
(650,104)

1,530
(289,400)

1,842,524

1,924,107
(81,583)

1,842,524

ES

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t+-HLFE

2021 2020 2019 2018
ZTF ZE-TF “E-NE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TEL FHT TR
1,266,157 1,216,716 1,218,913 1,137,626
(459,873) (435,650) (420,657) (391,255)
806,284 781,066 798,256 746,371
102,323 150,587 75,694 52,069
2,067,799 (57,588) (91,680) 239,156
(366,439) (279,947) (251,759) (221,740)
(297,265) (237,721) (239,088) (188,926)
(90,284) (1,180) (73) (6,823)
(243,835) (203,294) (149,945) (153,171)
1,978,583 151,923 141,405 466,936
(5,722) (6,472) (6,624) (4,710)
(3,495) (11,414) (11,895) (15,842)
1,969,366 134,037 122,886 446,384
(9,482) (55,503) (59,541) (56,621)
1,959,884 78,534 63,345 389,763
1,987,176 129,316 125,553 418,269
(27,292) (50,782) (62,208) (28,506)
1,959,884 78,534 63,345 389,763
P J)
B AR
As at 31 December
Rt=A=1+-A
2021 2020 2019 2018
TR ZZITF ZE-NEF ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TEL FHT TR
2,673,578 2,013,825 2,198,964 2,002,012
963,320 1,239,096 1,441,277 1,004,541
(922,580) (944,049) (908,493) (676,825)
40,740 295,047 532,784 327,716
(323,156) (193,494) (254,310) (91,659)
2,391,162 2,115,378 2,477,438 2,238,069
2,464,578 2,149,795 2,295,900 2,210,543
(73,416) (34,417) 181,538 27,526
2,391,162 2,115,378 2,477,438 2,238,069
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Company and Board, | hereby present the annual report
of the Company for the Reporting Year.

The Group’s profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders for
the Reporting Year amounted to HK$51,284,000, compared to
HK$1,987,176,000 for the last year. Basic earnings per share were
HK8.71 cents, compared to HK337.58 cents for the last year. The Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per share
for the Reporting Year. Together with the interim dividend of HK1.0 cent
per share, the dividend for the full year will be HK2.0 cents per share,
compared to HK6.1 cents for the last year. Subject to the approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, the final dividend will be paid on 15
June 2023.

During the Reporting Year, we are facing a number of challenges including
but not limited to the impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic, regulatory
hurdles, keen competition, and pricing pressures. At Lee’s Pharm, we
continue to work hard and stay committed as one team to finding solutions
to the challenges we face and emerge stronger.

The termination of the commercialisation license of Carnitene at the
beginning of the fourth quarter of the Reporting Year has brought a
negative impact on our revenue and profitability. Nevertheless, our
sales team has worked hard to promote other products in our portfolio
to compensate for the loss of revenue therefrom. During the Reporting
Year, both of our licensed-in Bredinin™ and generic Treprostinil Injection
have reached close to the HK$100 million mark in sales, and the sales of
Fondaparinux Sodium Injection and Sodium Phenylbutyrate Granule also
shown high growth potential in the market. We look forward to seeing the
continued sales growth of these products soon.

On the other hand, we have made significant strides in our R&D efforts.
A total of 7 ANDA and IDL approvals, namely Lidocaine Hydrochloride
Powder Intradermal Injection System, Nitric Oxide Gas for Inhalation, High
Concentration Treprostinil Injection, Procarbazine Hydrochloride Capsules,
Riluzole Oral Suspension, Nadroparin Calcium Injection, and Azilsartan
Tablets, have been obtained from NMPA during the Reporting Year and up
to date. We shall expect these could become our sales growth drivers in
the near future.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi% % B IR A 7
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The Volume-Based Procurement (“VBP”) program has continued to rollout
across the country and cover more products which brought down prices to
public hospitals with volume commitments. By identifying and managing
risks, our Fondaparinux Sodium Injection has been successfully selected in
the seventh-round VBP program. We see this as an opportunity to expand
the market reach of Fondaparinux Sodium Injection and to create more
sales. The eighth-round of VBP program which covered heparin for the
first time has just completed and our Nadroparin Calcium Injection has
also been selected and become another potential growth driver.

In addition, we have three newer commercialised products, namely
Treprostinil Injection, Teglutik® and Trittico® been included for the first
time into the updated NRDL in January 2023. Following the official
implementation thereof from 1 March 2023 onwards, we shall expect an
improving demand and sales of these products which will further enhance
our development in rare disease area.

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the long-term future of this
industry and our company, and the opportunities that lie ahead. We shall
continue to focus on control management and efficiency by regularly
evaluate expenses and implement cost-saving measures in order to
improve our financial position while maintaining our commitment to
quality.

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our
shareholders, business partners, management and staff for their continued
support in our Group. | would also like to thank the Board of Directors for
their efforts and contributions to the Group’s expeditious business growth.
We are committed to delivering value to our shareholders and to making a
positive impact on the patients we serve.

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue and Profit

The Group recorded revenue of HK$1,233,148,000 for the Reporting Year,
representing a decrease of 2.6% from the previous year’s revenue of
HK$1,266,157,000. Sales of licensed-in products was HK$733,337,000
(2021: HK$749,135,000) and accounted for 59.5% (2021: 59.2%) of
the Group's revenue while sales of proprietary and generic products was
HK$499,811,000 (2021: HK$517,022,000) and contributed 40.5% (2021:
40.8%) of the Group’s revenue.

The expiration of the licensing agreement of Carnitene® which was used
to be the flagship product for over a decade at the beginning of the
fourth quarter 2022, together with lower sales of out-patient drugs such
as Ferplex® and surgical drugs such as Livaracine® and Slounase®, had
a significant impact on the Group’s revenue during the Reporting Year.
However, The Group was able to compensate for the loss by focusing on
sales of other products. During the Reporting Year, two of the Group’s
newer products have reached close to the HK$100 million mark. The sales
of newly launched licensed-in Bredinin™ since third-quarter 2021 recorded
HK$90.4 million, grew by 150.7%, and the sales of generic Treprostinil
Injection recorded HK$99.8 million, grew by 24.3%. In addition, two
other newer generic products, namely Fondaparinux Sodium Injection and
Sodium Phenylbutyrate Granule, recorded smaller sales amounts but have
shown high growth potential in the market and grew 257.1% and 168.0%,
respectively. Through targeted marketing and sales efforts, the Group was
able to increase sales of its available products and mitigate the impact of
the lost product and declining products.

The Group achieved a gross profit of HK$770,755,000 (2021:
HK$806,284,000), decreased by 4.4% compared to previous year. Gross
profit margin was 62.5% in 2022, decreased by 1.2 percentage points
from 63.7% in 2021 which was mainly attributable to the increased supply
price of certain imported products and higher proportion of revenue
generated from the sales of licensed-in products during the Reporting
Year.

R&D expenses represented new drugs development in major therapeutic
areas such as cardiovascular, woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases,
dermatology, and obstetrics, as well as in oncology under a separate R&D
arm within the Group.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi% % B IR A 7
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group continued to invest its R&D efforts in new drugs development
in view of its importance. However, the Group also believes that this is
necessary to ensure the financial stability in the short term. As a result,
the Group made the decision to optimise the resources allocation among
prioritised R&D projects to preserve cash. During the Reporting Year,
HK$351,602,000 (2021: HK$463,147,000) was spent in R&D activities,
significantly reduced by 24.1% as compared to last year and represented
28.5% (2021: 36.6%) to the corresponding yearly revenue. Among which
HK$168,885,000 (2021: HK$243,835,000) was recognised as expenses
and HK$182,717,000 (2021: HK$219,312,000) was capitalised as
intangible assets. In additions, HK$13,650,000 (2021: HK$100,717,000)
license fees for development, marketing and commercialisation rights
of certain licensed-in products such as Renazorb® were recognised as
intangible assets during the Reporting Year.

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses was HK$346,467,000 during
the Reporting Year, representing a decrease of HK$19,972,000 or 5.5%
compared to HK$366,439,000 in the same period last year. Overall, the
selling expenses to revenue ratio during the Reporting Year was 28.1%,
decreased by 0.8 percentage point as compared to 28.9% same period
last year. In March 2022, the Group launched its own flagship online
stores on e-commerce platform of Alibaba.com and JD.com to strengthen
its brand awareness and expand its sales channels. The Group continued
to deploy adequate resources to support the works for strengthening the
distribution channels, to prepare for the roll-out of new and upcoming
products, as well as to transform the brand of selected products of the
Group.

The Group’s administrative expenses was HK$198,413,000 during the
Reporting Year, representing a decrease of HK$98,852,000 or 33.3%
compared to HK$297,265,000 in the same period last year. The Group
continued to operate its business in an efficient and effective way and
implemented cost-saving measures to improve efficiency and profitability.

Net profit attributable to the owners of the Company in 2022 was
HK$51,086,000, decreased by 97.4% over the same period in 2021. Saved
for the above, the decrease thereof was also attributable to the net effect
of (i) the fair value loss of certain unlisted investments of approximately
HK$44.3 million due to the negative impacts from the changes in market
conditions which affect the fair value thereof assessed at the end of the
Reporting Year; (ii) the absence of one-off gain of approximately HK$2.32
billion attributable to the derecognition of the investment in Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited as an associate of the Company in April 2021; (iii)
the absence of an aggregate one-time loss of approximately HK$190.7
million attributable to the estimated impairment of intangible assets due
to the optimisation of R&D portfolio in the second-quarter 2021; (iv) the
absence of one-time loss of approximately HK$40.2 million attributable
to the full impairment for the licensing fee and development cost for
a launched oral antihypertensive product previously capitalised, in the
second-quarter 2021; and (v) the absence of net provision for expected
credit losses on financial assets of HK$90.3 million, being the impairment
on the advances made to an associated company in the fourth-quarter
2021.
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Manufacturing Facilities and Production
Capability

Over the years, there have been considerable changes and upgrades in
the Group’s manufacturing and production capability. During the Reporting
Year and up to date, the Group’s Hefei site has completed the production
capacity expansion and process scale up facility upgrades of Yallaferon®,
same line production facility upgrades for new prefilled syringe injection
products before introduction to the market, and the making of registration
batch of new product in the form of oral lyophilized powder used as
sensitiser in surgery for tumor. In Nansha site, the process scale up
equipment installation and commission for the manufacturing of inhaled
pharmaceutical aerosols has been completed and will have the process
scale up pilot run soon, the production process upgrades for oral dose
antihypertension drug is in progress, and the making of three pivotal
registration batches of the oral cytotoxic drugs in the special workshop
have been completed.

Drug Development

To date, the Group has over 40 projects in its pipeline from early- to late-
stage development. The applications made in the prior year for NDA of
Adasuve®, and for ANDA, namely Epinastine Hydrochloride tablet and
Apremilast tablet (FI & K745 ), are under review by the CDE.

Major Therapeutic Areas

The Group is currently developing several assets in major therapeutic
areas, such as cardiovascular, woman health, paediatrics, rare diseases,
dermatology and obstetrics, which includes late stage programs such as (1)
Cetraxal® Plus for acute otitis externa (AOE) and acute otitis media with
tympanostomy tubes (AOMT) which has completed its Phase Il clinical
trial stage during the Reporting Year and its NDA has been successfully
submitted and accepted by the CDE in January 2023; and (2) Intrarosa®
in the treatment of vulvovaginal atrophy (VVA) which is currently in Phase
111 clinical trial stage and has completed the patient enrolment in October
2022.
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Oncology Pipeline

China Oncology Focus Limited (“COF”), a 65% owned subsidiary of the
Group, is a clinical development stage company and the Group’s R&D arm
focused on oncology with emphasis in immuno-oncology. To date, COF
has built a pipeline of 10 oncology assets, including 6 innovative and 4
generics, through internal development and in licensing, and is currently
developing several assets, including (1) Socazolimab (an anti-PD-L1
antibody) in recurrent or metastatic cervical cancer in new drug application
stage in China; (2) Socazolimab in osteosarcoma in Phase 111 clinical trial;
(3) Socazolimab combined with chemotherapy in small cell lung cancer
in Phase 111 clinical trial and has completed the patient enroliment in May
2022; (4) Zotiraciclib, an oral multi-kinase inhibitor in Phase | clinical trial
for glioblastoma; (5) Gimatecan, a topoisomerase | inhibitor in Phase 11
clinical trial for ovarian cancer and in Phase Ib/Il clinical trial for small
cell lung cancer and a Phase | clinical trial for pancreatic cancer in China;
and (6) Socazolimab combined with Pexa-vec (oncolytic virus) which is in
Phase Ib clinical trial for melanoma.

New Products Approval

During the Reporting Year and up to date, the Group obtained 7 ANDA and
IDL approvals from the NMPA.

Zingo®

On 1 March 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for Zingo® (Lidocaine
Hydrochloride Powder Intradermal Injection System) has been obtained
from the NMPA. Zingo® is an amide local anesthetic indicated for use on
intact skin to provide local analgesia prior to venipuncture or peripheral
intravenous cannulation in children 3—-18 years of age and to provide
topical local analgesia prior to venipuncture in adults. The rapid onset of
analgesia in 1-3 minutes provides care givers and patients the opportunity
for a pain-free and needle-free access procedure.

INOmax®

On 8 March 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for INOmax® (nitric
oxide gas for inhalation) has been obtained from the NMPA. INOmax® is a
therapy for the treatment of hypoxic respiratory failure (“HRF”) associated
with pulmonary hypertension (“PPHN”) in term and near-term infants
greater than 34 weeks gestational age. PPHN is a serious condition in
which blood vessels in the lungs constrict, making it difficult to oxygenate
blood, often resulting in HRF. INOmax® is a vasodilator which selectively
relaxes pulmonary blood vessels and, in conjunction with ventilatory
support and other appropriate agents, improves oxygenation in this fragile
newborn population.
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High Concentration Treprostinil Injection

On 9 March 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for High Concentration
Treprostinil Injection (specification: 20ml:50mg) developed and
manufactured by Zhaoke Hefei has been obtained from the NMPA.

Natulan®

On 21 April 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for Natulan®
(Procarbazine Hydrochloride Capsules) has been obtained from the NMPA.
Natulan® has been approved for combining with chemotherapy to treat
Hodgkin’s lymphoma (HL) in adult.

Teglutik®

On 31 May 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for Teglutik® (Riluzole
Oral Suspension) has been obtained from the NMPA. Teglutik® has been
approved to prolong life or delay the institution of mechanical ventilation
in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS).

Nadroparin Calcium Injection

On 31 May 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for Nadroparin Calcium
Injection has been obtained from the NMPA.

Azilsartan Tablets

On 20 September 2022, the Drug Registration Certificate for generics of
Azilsartan Tablets has been obtained from the NMPA. Azilsartan Tablets
has been approved to treat hypertension.

In addition, on 26 October 2022, AU409, an investigational first-in-
class compound with oral active in models of hepatocellular carcinoma
developed by Auransa Inc. and manufactured by Zhaoke Guangzhou has
been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration to
conduct clinical trial in patients with advanced primary liver cancers or
advanced solid tumor with liver predominant metastatic disease in the
United States.

Sales and Marketing

In recent years, the Group has been paying a lot of effort to develop its
sales and marketing function in order to succeed in today’s competitive
business environment. Among others, market access has become a
very important aspect and the Group has taken steps to ensure that the
market access team is well-equipped to navigate the complex healthcare
landscape in mainland China, and the Group believes that these efforts
have already begun to pay off.
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In July 2022, the Group’s Fondaparinux Sodium has been successfully
selected in the seventh-round VBP program. Through the selection in
this VBP program, Fondaparinux Sodium can be able to reach a broader
patient population and make contribution to the Group.

Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Year, the Group’s commercialised
products, namely Treprostinil Injection, Teglutik® and Trittico® have been
included for the first time into the updated NRDL on 18 January 2023 and
will be officially implemented from 1 March 2023.

Together with the other 6 products in the list, a total of 9 products of the
Group have been included in the updated NRDL.

Business Partnership

In-licensing approach is the Group’s preferred mode of business
development strategy. Nevertheless, the Group has remained selective in
entering new in-licensing deals.

On 18 July 2022, the Group has entered into a license agreement with
Unicycive Therapeutics, Inc., a NASDAQ listed company, pursuant to
which the Group has been granted exclusive rights to develop, market
and commercialise Renazorb® (lanthanum dioxycarbonate) in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, and certain other Asian markets. Renazorb® is a
novel phosphate binding agent being developed for the treatment of
hyperphosphatemia in chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients.

On 26 October 2022, the Group has entered into an amendment to the
license agreement with BioQ Pharma Incorporated (“BioQ”) to expand the
licensing portfolio by including two new products, namely BioQ’s second
generation ropivacaine product and the 5FU pre-filled dispenser, to the
existing development, supply and commercialisation agreement therewith.

Corporate Development

On 22 September 2022, the Group has entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreement with the purchaser to dispose 100% equity interest in the
Guangzhou Zhaokang Hospital Company Limited* (EMJKEER AR A7),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which owns the
land use right in the land parcel located at Huangge Da Dao West,
Huangge Zhen, Nansha District, Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of
China specifically for medical and sanitary use, at the consideration of
RMB200,000,000 (approximately HK$226,000,000), details of which has
been set out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 September
2022. To date, the transaction is yet to be completed pending fulfilment
of the conditions including, among others, the completion of due
diligence investigation. In addition, the Company has not formulated any
investment or other plan on the utilisation of the proceeds as at the date
of this annual report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Net Profit Attributable to the
Owners of the Company

The Group’s revenue decreased on a year-on-year basis by HK$33,009,000
or 2.6%, from HK$1,266,157,000 in 2021 to HK$1,233,148,000 in 2022.
During the Reporting Year, the sales of proprietary and generic products
decreased by 3.3% and the sales of licensed-in products decreased by
2.1%.

Revenue Wz
Proprietary and generic products B R RER
Licensed-in products SI#EEmMR

Total Bt

Net profit attributable to the owners of the Company decreased by 97.4%
from HK$1,987,176,000 in 2021 to HK$51,284,000 in 2022.

Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit margin for the Reporting Year was 62.5%, decreased by 1.2
percentage points as compared with year 2021 which was mainly due to
increased supply price of certain imported products and higher proportion
of revenue generated from sales of licensed-in products.

Other Income

Other income was HK$73,734,000 for the Reporting Year, a decrease of
27.9% or HK$28,589,000 as compared to the same period in last year.
Other income included development grants from local government, rental
and utilities income, and research and development service income.
Compared to the year 2021, lower level of research and development
service income was incurred in the Reporting Year and thus lowered the
overall level of other income.

Other Gains and Losses, Net

Other gains and losses experienced a net loss of HK$54,427,000 for the
Reporting Year in contrast to the previous year when it recorded a net
gain of HK$2,067,799,000. Included in the previous year other gains and
losses there were one-off items which comprised of HK$2.3 billion gain
on deemed disposal of interest in associate ZKO, and impairment loss
recognised in respect of intangible assets of HK$230,509,000. For the
Reporting Year, other gains and losses included a net HK$46,360,000 fair
value loss of certain unlisted investment due to the negative impact from
the changes in market conditions.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the Reporting Year was
HK$346,467,000, a decrease of 5.5% as compared to the corresponding
period of last year of HK$366,439,000, representing 28.1% of the
Group’s revenue, decreased by 0.8 percentage point from 28.9% of that
in the prior year. Launch of the Group’s own flagship online stores and
e-commerce platform contributed to the decrease in such expenses to
revenue ratio. The Group continued to deploy adequate resources to
strengthen the existing and exploring new distribution channels, and on
the preparation for the roll-out of new products.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Year was decreased by 33.3%
or HK$98,852,000, from HK$297,265,000 to HK$198,413,000, and
accounted for 16.1% of the Group’s revenue for the Reporting Year,
decreased by 7.4 percentage points from 23.5% in 2021. The Group
continued to operate its business in an efficient and effective way and
implemented cost-saving measures to improve efficiency and profitability.

Research and Development Expenses

R&D expenses for the Reporting Year decreased by HK$74,950,000 as
compared with the corresponding year to HK$168,885,000, and accounted
for 13.7% of the Group’s revenue, decreased by 5.6 percentage points
as compared with 19.3% that of in the prior year. Together with the
capitalised R&D costs of HK$182,717,000 (2021: HK$219,312,000),
the amount spent in R&D activities during the Reporting Year was
HK$351,602,000, decreased by HK$111,545,000 or 24.0% as compared
with the corresponding year.

Taxation

Income tax expense for the Reporting Year increased by HK$12,544,000 as
compared with the corresponding period of prior year to HK$22,026,000.
The Group’s effective tax rate was significantly increased by 32.1
percentage points from approximately 0.5% in the prior year to 32.6%
for the Reporting Year. The inclusion of more one-off items that were not
subject to taxes contributed to a lower effective tax rate in the prior year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE s m Mo

HERE

RZZE_—F+-A=+—8 AEEHEREHEED
554,751,000t (ZE-—F+=-A=+—H :
1,043,464,000%7T)  SRERGEEF B TZFHHF
BRI BIE -

Investments Held

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment portfolio amounted to

approximately HK$554,751,000 (31 December 2021: HK$1,043,464,000)

as recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position under

various categories including:

- interests in associates which are accounted for by using equity  — FHiREREARNREE AR R
method;

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”"); and - BRATESRERIENMKEEE &

- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income —  RAVESEBEMEEWRIIRNTEEE -
(“FVTOCI™).

FAEPBRRARTZRENEHERAFRT OGS
TSR IR

Changes in respective items in the consolidated statement of financial
position have been disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

RIBZ—F+-A=+—HNIBEERTREES
MERREFBNT ¢

Details of the significant investments in the portfolio under financial assets
as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Approximate

20

percentage to

Changes in

Approximate the Group’s fair value
investment Fair value audited total during the
cost as at as at assets as at year 2022
31 December 31 December 31 December (Decrease)
Description of investment 2022 2022 2022 increase
AEE
N-B-—F
R-B-—F R-B-—F +=ZA=+—8#1 “EFERN
+T=ZA=+—H#® +T=ZA=+—H#® REGEERE DN EEE
REFE BMAORERA DVE BMHABEDE (R ) & n
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THETT THETT
Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (Note 1) 2,321,626 417,340 15.0% (370,355)
JERHERIER AR (MiF1)
Other financial assets at FVTOCI (Note 2) 669,082 119,112 4.3% (116,395)
Hi¥e AP EFEBEAM KRR B EE
(Mi5E2)
Total financial assets at FVTOCI 2,990,708 536,452 19.3% (486,750)
BRAFEEBHMBEEWNGRIIRNMBEERE
Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 2) 57,078 13,136 0.5% (46,360)
BRATHEFEBERYIRN I EE (F7E2)
Total financial assets 3,047,786 549,588 19.8% (533,110)

MIGEERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Note 1: ZKO is principally engaged in the research, development and
commercialisation of therapies that address significant unmet medical
needs in eye diseases market. The Group directly held 138,192,000 shares
of ZKO, representing 25.4% of the total issued shares of ZKO as at 31
December 2022. During the Reporting Year, the Group did not receive any
dividend income from ZKO. The Group takes a longer-term view on this
investment as ZKO is still a pre-revenue biotech company. The Group will
closely monitor the progress of the clinical development programs of ZKO.
Note 2: None of the carrying amount of each of the financial assets therein
constitutes 5% or more of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December
2022.

The Group will closely monitor the performance of its investment portfolio
and will continue to invest strategically, and will explore opportunities in
monetising some of the existing investments if appropriate opportunities
in the market arise.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
investment as at 31 December 2022.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s principal sources of working capital in the current year mainly
included cash flow from operating activities and bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) was 1.00 (31 December 2021: 1.04). As at

EREN=REC i

MisEl : KRIRBEBRBREAOME  FARREEL - UR
RREMSNEABESZ RO - AE@EZBE
138,192,000 R K BHER BHiR 1 - HER =T ==
T A=+ —AXBRE B E#ITRNLHH)25.4% °
R|EFER - AEBWEE KRR BHRERE AR S
WA o« AEEBIIFRE BRSIZE - ERKRIRE
138 R A Wi E’Ji#@ﬂ& Al o AEEEE Y ERK
IR R BB Bl

fizF2: WZTZ—F+-A=+—0 HBSEHEEEN
ARSI TEN AN E BB L EMS%EA E o

AEBEZYERREAANRE  BEETRIEER

7 - IAEmiﬁHﬁE HERHEE - SREHSHERE

ity

B EXFIEBEEN  AREBR_Z__F+A=+—

AT (IERRE -

RBEZRUBER

AEBRAFENTELEETRRBERELEER
MRS RERIRITER

MRIZZZF+ZA=+—0 AEENRPLECR
PEERURBEE)RL00(ZE_—F+_A=+—

31 December 2022, the Group had net cash position of HK$35,211,000 H:1.04) RZZEZZF+ZA=+—0  AEEH
(31 December 2021: net cash of HK$30,899,000) which represented by  IR& FiAN 535,211,000/ (=T =-—44+
below: =+—H : #£¥%830,899,000/T) - HINTFIR
2021
Net cash position HEFBERR —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHEIT
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTHER 189,301 277,529
Less: Bank borrowings B RITIER (154,090) (246,630)

The calculation of Group’s gearing ratio based on the net borrowings (after
deducting cash and bank balances) to equity attributable to the owners of
the Company was Nil as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).

Taking into consideration the existing financial resources available to
the Group, it is believed that the Group should have adequate financial
resources to meet its operation and development requirements in the
future.

35,211
2!»‘%%3@1%%0%%@(?[] RIS RIRITESRR) HAR
BAEANELESAENEERBERN S g——i‘f’—ﬂ
=t-BAE(CE_—Ft-A=t—R:%F)-

BERAHAKERRNEENBERR - HELAKE
BAFRMYHERANENBREZERBERTEMS -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R am M

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies.
The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit evaluations of the financial conditions of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the management of the Group closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and commitments can meet its funding requirements.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Currently, the Group earns revenue and incurs costs mainly in Renminbi,
Hong Kong dollars, European Union euro, Japanese Yen, New Taiwan
dollars and United States dollars. The Directors believe that the Group
does not have foreign exchange problems in meeting its foreign exchange
requirements. The Group will continue to monitor closely its foreign
currency exposure and to consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure when necessary.

Pledge of Assets

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Employee Information

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 1,102 (31 December 2021: 1,321)
employees working in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan.

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated on the performance
of individual employees and based on the trends of salaries in various
regions, which will be reviewed regularly every year. Apart from
mandatory provident fund scheme, retirement benefit scheme and
medical insurance, employees share options may also award to employees
according to the assessment of individual performance.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi% % B IR A 7
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECT

While the industry faces challenges such as regulatory reforms and keen
competitions, it plays a critical role in improving patient outcomes and
driving innovation in healthcare. Therefore, the Group would like to take
this opportunity to reaffirm our belief in the positive long-term outlook.

VBP program is becoming increasingly popular in the pharmaceutical
industry in China. While VBP has resulted in lower prices for drugs, it also
presents an opportunity for the Group to deliver greater value to patients
and to drive growth. The bidding for the eighth round of VBP included
a total of 40 drugs which covered heparin for the first time has just
completed in Hainan, and the Group’s Nadroparin Calcium Injection has
been successfully selected therein and become another potential growth
driver in the near future.

The inclusion of the Group’s rare disease drugs such as Treprostinil
Injection and Teglutik® into the updated NRDL is a significant achievement
of the Group as it means that more patients will now have access to these
life-changing treatments. This not only benefits patients, but also creates
more opportunities for the Group to grow and succeed in this therapeutic
area.

In addition, the Group will continue to implement a series of cost control
measures and to emphasis efficiency at every step of the value chain,
particularly in key areas such as sales and R&D, to improve profitability
and long-term sustainability. The Group firmly believes that all these works
to be done will eventually create more value to reward its shareholders for
their support.

EREN=REC i

RE

BETEMYEENEARBRFESESHE - AR
HEBERAREDREANEZZEAEC - At - K
SEZILERRMYREFNRTRED

sy
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15 A 52 B 6 F 5% B2 (9 40 il AT 51 B BRDE TR
(Teglutik)®) A SR ERER B SDALBENER
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

ESERFEAEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lee Siu Fong

Chairman, chairman of nomination committee and member of
management committee, aged 66

Ms. Lee Siu Fong joined the Group in April 1997 and has since been
responsible for the Group’s financial affairs. She is an entrepreneur and
had since 1992 established and run several companies with primary
responsibility in financial affairs. She is the sister of Ms. Leelalertsuphakun
Wanee and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

Managing Director, Chief Marketing & Sales Officer, member of
remuneration committee and chairman of management committee,
aged 69

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee joined the Group in April 1997. She was
appointed the Chief Marketing & Sales Officer in September 2003 and has
been responsible for the Group’s sales and marketing activities since then.
She is also a non-executive director of ZKO. She is the sister of Ms. Lee
Siu Fong and Dr. Li Xiaoyi.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Li Xiaoyi
Senior adviser, aged 60, PhD

Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds a PhD in Pharmacology from the University of lllinois at
Chicago and was a postdoctoral fellow with Parke-Davis Research Division
of Warner-Lambert company in the United States. He is an Honourary
Fellow and Adjunct Professor at the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He was appointed as a member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Anhui Province in China in January
2018. He is the founder of the Group and has been responsible for the
daily operations and research and development of the Group since 1994 to
April 2021. He has been re-designated to a non-executive director of the
Company and serve as a senior adviser to the Company on 29 April 2021.
He is also the chairman and executive director of ZKO.

James Charles Gale
Aged 72

Mr. James Charles Gale joined the Board on 2 January 2022. He obtained
a master's degree in Business Administration from the University of
Chicago. He is the co-founder and managing director of Signet Healthcare
Management LLC (“Signet”), a private equity firm based in New York City.
Founded in 1998, the firm provides growth equity to commercial-stage
life sciences companies. He serves on the board of directors of a number
of Signet portfolio companies including Advantice Health LLC, Ascendia
Pharmaceuticals Inc, Bionpharma Inc (Chairman), Chr Olesen Synthesis
A/S, Leon-nanodrugs GmbH, Pharmaceutics International, Inc and RK
Pharma Inc. He is also on the board of two public companies: Knight
Therapeutics Inc (TSX:GUD) and Hyloris Pharmaceuticals SA (Euronext:
HYL).

SEENTEANEBER

FHITES
e
S ER - 605 * PhD

TNBRETRFBESNTFHEASEYSIETE60 - 8
1£ 2 B A 7] Warner-Lambert &) Parke-Davis fiff 7 #
PFIEELRIAR - HAB BRI KB EER T RIRT
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AMAEREE c BHAKEMEIRA - B - NEF
REE-T_—FNABEASENATEBLARSE
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James Charles Gale
725%

James Charles Galet £ T - —F—HAZHMA
EFTE OB SNTIABIBEEELSM - KA
LAAR %) 7h /5 £ b 89 7L 5 % 7 A B Signet Healthcare
Management LLC ([ Signet]) K REIIHFARESLR
K o ZRRR—NNANFEIL - MBEREERERRE
mRIE R RREARERE - ®E) ) ZMSignetiBE& R
AIWEEE - BEAdvantice Health LLC * Ascendia
Pharmaceuticals Inc * Bionpharma Inc (£/&) * Chr
Olesen Synthesis A/S - Leon-nanodrugs GmbH -
Pharmaceutics International, Inc & RK Pharma
Inc. o 4N WA AMEARARNEETESHKE -
Knight Therapeutics Inc (TSX:GUD) } Hyloris
Pharmaceuticals SA (Euronext:HYL) °
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENRTEAEBRER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Chan Yau Ching, Bob

Chairman of audit committee, member of remuneration committee
and member of homination committee, aged 60, PhD, MBA, BBA,
CFA, MHKSI

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob joined the independent Board on 14 January
2002. He has extensive experience in corporate development and financial
management of high-growth companies. He had been a finance professor,
researcher and consultant. He had also served directorship at various
listed and privately held companies in Hong Kong and in the United States.
He was appointed as the independent non-executive director of Hangzhou
Huaxing Chuangye Communication Technology Co., Ltd., which is a listed
company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from December 2018 to
November 2020. Currently, he is the managing director of KBR Capital
Limited, a company engaged in advising clients on management and
investment activities in China and Hong Kong. He is also the independent
non-executive director of China High Speed Transmission Equipment
Group Co., Ltd. and Daisho Microline Holdings Limited, which are listed
companies on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He does not have
any relationship with any Director, substantial shareholder or controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Lam Yat Cheong

Member of audit committee, aged 61, CPA (Practising), FCCA, BBA

Mr. Lam Yat Cheong joined the independent Board on 1 July 2004. He
is a sole proprietor of an audit firm and has over 30 years of auditing
and accounting experience. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He had also served directorship at various
listed companies in Hong Kong. He does not have any relationship with
any Director, substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the
Company.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles

Tsim Wah Keung, Karl

Chairman of remuneration committee, member of audit committee
and member of nomination committee, aged 64, PhD, MPhil, BSc

Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl joined the independent Board on 20 September
2004. He currently serves as Chair Professor of Life Science at the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree and a Master degree in Biochemistry from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong, and a Doctorate in Molecular Neurobiology from the
University of Cambridge. He has published numerous articles in biological
sciences and traditional Chinese medicines. He also serves in several local
committees in advising the development of traditional Chinese medicine as
health food products. He does not have any relationship with any Director,
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chow Yiu Ming
Group Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary, aged 49

Mr. Chow Yiu Ming joined the Company in October 2014 and is responsible
for the accounting and corporate finance functions of the Group. He has
over 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing, financial management
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Company, he had held several
senior positions with listed and private companies in Hong Kong. He is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He holds
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree, majoring in Accounting
and Finance, from the University of Hong Kong and a Master of Science
in Professional Accountancy degree from the University of London. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Fortune Sun (China)
Holdings Limited which is a listed company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENRTEAEBRER

Jiao Zhongyu

Group Deputy General Manager & General Manager of the Risk
Control Centre, aged 53

Mr. Jiao Zhongyu was appointed as the legal adviser of PRC investment
by the Group in 1999 in his capacity as a practising lawyer in PRC. He
has been appointed as the director of Zhaoke Hefei since 2010 and has
extensive experience in the government affair and legal affairs. In 2012,
he has been appointed as the Chief Officer of the enterprise development
department thereof and responsible for the Group’s strategic planning and
development. The Group established the risk control centre in 2020 and
he has been appointed as the General Manager. He is responsible for the
daily operations of the Group’s legal department and the compliance and
audit department.

Tsui Victor Kailok

Chief Manufacturing Officer, Licensed Professional Engineer, aged
56, P.E. MSc

Mr. Victor Tsui graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnics University
and University of Wisconsin with a master degree in Engineering. Before
joining the Group, he worked for various pharmaceuticals companies in
the United States for over 25 years and was responsible for production
management. He joined the Group in 2009 as Chief Operating Officer of
Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“PP1”, an associated company of
the Group). He has been appointed as Chief Manufacturing Officer of the
Group since 2012 to oversee the Group’s manufacturing operations. He
has also been appointed as director of PPl since 22 March 2013.

Yang Zhonggiang

Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical
(Hefei) Co. Limited, aged 48

Mr. Yang Zhonggiang holds a master’s degree in Pharmaceutical
Engineering from Shandong University and has a practicing pharmacist
certification. He has been working for the Group for more than 20
years, and has been working in the Department of Research and
Development of New Drugs and Quality Department of Zhaoke Hefei. He
has extensive experience in the research and development of new drug,
project management and quality management. He had served as the
quality authorised person of Zhaoke Hefei since 2012 to oversee the its
drug quality management and protection works. In 2017, he has been
appointed as the Executive Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei.
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Directors

Zhang Zeyun

General Manager of the Group Commercial Operations Centre and
Executive Deputy General Manager of Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian Fa
Pharmaceutical Limited, aged 42

Mr. Zhang joined the Group in October 2018 and is responsible for
the business management of the Group’s direct sales team in China.
He graduated from Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine with a
bachelor degree in Chinese Medicine. Before joining the Group, he worked
for several multinational pharmaceutical and healthcare companies
in China for over 15 years and was responsible for sales and market
access management. In March 2019, he was appointed as Commercial
Operations Director of the Group and Executive Deputy General Manager
of Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian Fa Pharmaceutical Limited (“Zhaoke Lian
Fa”), and is responsible for the commercial operations of the Group and
the daily operations management of Zhaoke Lian Fa, such as rationalise
marketing format innovation, responsible for the Group market access
department, establish non-medical market sales team, and responsible
for overall operations management of the oncology products marketing
team. He is currently served as General Manager of the Group Commercial
Operations Centre (“GCOC”), responsible for the development and
management of the GCOC.

Sun Guorui

Deputy General manager of the Group Commercial Operations
Centre, aged 51

Mr. Sun Guorui joined the Group since September 2020 and he graduated
from Sichuan University with a bachelor's degree in engineering and a
master's degree in business administration from Peking University. Before
joining the Group, he worked in a number of internationally renowned
pharmaceutical companies, including Bayer Pharmaceuticals, Merck & Co.,
Ltd., Beijing Novartis Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., etc. He has more than 20
years of sales management experience in the pharmaceutical industry
and rich experience in handling national marketing business and leading
a large-scale marketing team. He is currently served as deputy general
manager of the GCOC.

and Key Personnel Profiles
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENRTEAEBRER

Fang Ling

Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group, aged
54

Ms. Fang Ling graduated from Anhui College of Traditional Chinese
Medicine (currently known as Anhui University of Traditional Chinese
Medicine) with a major in traditional Chinese medicine in 1992, and
received her Master of Business Administration in pharmaceutical
management degree from Business School, Renmin University of China in
2004. Before she joined the Group in March 1999, she had served Anhui
Province Shucheng County Chengguan Town Hospital Division during 1993
to 1998 as a Chinese medicine practitioner. She had been serving for the
Group for over 20 years in various positions. She has been appointed
Corporate Culture and Public Relations Director of the Group in April 2019
and also serves as the chief supervisor of the Beijing branch of Zhaoke
Hefei and the special assistant of the Chairman, and is responsible for
the external affairs such as brand building and public relations for the
Group, and internal affairs such as corporate culture development, brand
development plan, corporate promotion strategy formulation, preparation
and organisation. She is also responsible for the management of Lee’s
Pharm internet-based official account for corporate promotion, official
website, management and operation of the internal newsletter “Zhaoke
Communication”, as well as the management of the daily operations of the
Beijing branch of Zhaoke Hefei.

Chen Yueshen
Director of Administration in China, aged 64

Mr. Chen Yueshen had been serving for the Group for more than 20 years
in various positions such as the director and Deputy General Manager
of Zhaoke Hefei, Chief Operating Officer of the Group and the Deputy
General Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou. He was responsible for the daily
operations of Zhaoke Hefei, including being responsible for the production
and quality management of Zhaoke Hefei. He has extensive experience in
quality management systems and GMP production. In November 2018, he
was appointed as the Director of Administration in China and is responsible
for the Group’s administrative matters in China.
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Directors

Yin Lei
Associate Director, R&D of the Group, aged 50

Mr. Yin Lei holds a bachelor’s degree from the Anhui University of Chinese
Medicine. He is also a licensed pharmacist. He joined the Group in 2014
and is responsible for the research and development of new drugs. He
has been engaged in drug research and development for over 20 years
and has led to many successful cases in the field of small molecule drugs,
peptide drugs and biochemical drugs. He had served as the Deputy
General Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou. In 2019, he was appointed as
Associate Director, R&D of the Group and is fully responsible for the
research and development of new drugs of the Group.

Xia Hongling

Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co.
Limited, aged 58

Ms. Xia Hongling holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
the Renmin University of China and has the qualification of accountant
in China. Before joining the Group, she had been responsible for the
accounting and finance function with a large state-owned manufacturing
enterprise for over 10 years. She joined the Group in 1997 and held
various positions in accounting and supply chain department in Zhaoke
Hefei for over 20 years. She has extensive experience in accounting,
finance and logistics management in pharmaceutical industry. She was
appointed as Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Hefei since 2017 and
further as the General Manager of the Shanghai branch of Zhaoke Hefei
since 2020.

Zhong Chengping

Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou)
Limited, aged 54

Ms. Zhong Chengping graduated from China Pharmaceutical University
with a Bachelor of Science degree and a licensed pharmacist qualification
certificate. Before joining the Group, she worked in many domestic
pharmaceutical companies, including Shanghai Jinke Quanjiao
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Jiuhua Huayuan Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Puji Pharmaceutical Technology Development Co.,
Ltd., etc. She has nearly 30 years of experience in quality and project
management and other aspects. She joined the Group since 2012 as
a quality manager. In 2019, she was appointed as the quality director
and quality attorney of Zhaoke Hefei. In 2021, she was appointed as the
Deputy General Manager of Zhaoke Guangzhou.
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Directors and Key Personnel Profiles
EENRTEAEBRER

CONSULTANT

Professor Sabino lliceto
Scientific Director of the Company

Professor Sabino lliceto is appointed as the Scientific Director of the
Company with effect from 1 February 2022 and is providing consultation
services on all research and development of the Group's pipeline and
portfolio and supports on developing scientific and research projects and
clinical developments across the Group. He is highly regarded Italian
scientist in cardiology. He is currently the Professor of Cardiology and
Director of the School of Cardiology of the University of Padua, Italy. He is
also the director of Cardiology Unit and director of Cardiac, Thoracic and
Vascular Department of Padua University Hospital. He has a considerable
clinical experience as well as a long-standing tradition in planning and
organising scientific projects.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors submit their report with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENTAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of the Group are the developing, manufacturing and
sale and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, as well as the outlook
for the Group’s business, are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”
(pages 10 to 11) and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” (pages
12 to 23) sections. Particulars of significant events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 December 2022,
if applicable, can also be found in the aforesaid sections and the notes
to the consolidated financial statements (pages 87 to 217). Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group can be found
in the section headed “Key Risks and Uncertainties” below. Description
of the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
section headed “Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers”.
Furthermore, principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Group and details regarding the Group’s compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are provided
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section (pages 57 to 69).

This discussion forms part of this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2022
are set out in the financial statements on pages 79 to 217.

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “Final Dividend”) equivalent to HK$0.010 per
share (2021: HK$0.031 per share) in cash to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company as at the
close of business on 31 May 2023. Together with the interim dividend of
HK$0.010 per share (2021: HK$0.030 per share) paid on 27 September
2022, total distribution of dividend by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 will be HK$0.020 per share (2021: HK$0.061 per share).
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EEZgWE

Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming AGM,
it is expected that the Final Dividend will be paid on 16 June 2023.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 44
to the consolidated financial statements.

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associated companies are set out in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 83 to 84.
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are
set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to HK$685,588,000 (31 December 2021: HK$788,750,000).
This includes the Company’s share premium account in the amount of
HK$720,091,000 (31 December 2021: HK$720,091,000) at 31 December
2022, which may be distributable provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$2,734,000 (2021: HK$7,462,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARES ISSUED, REPURCHASED AND
CANCELLED

There were no movement in either the authorized or issued share capital
of the Company during the year.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the 2012 Share Option Scheme and 2022 Share Option Scheme
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below and note
37 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the owners of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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EEZgWE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial year
is as follows:

- Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 13.7% in aggregate for the Group’s total revenue for
the year (2021: 11.6%).

- Purchase from the Groups’ five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 67.4% in aggregate for the Group’s total purchases
for the year (2021: 71.8%).

- The largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
23.4% of the Group’s total purchases for the year (2021: 34.5%).

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) or any shareholder of the Company (who,
to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the number of

issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group’s five major
customers and suppliers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force throughout the financial year. The Company has
also purchased and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the
year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Lee Siu Fong, Chairman
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Managing Director

Non-executive Directors

Li Xiaoyi
James Charles Gale (appointed with effect from 2 January 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob

Lam Yat Cheong
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl
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In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob and Dr. Tsim Wah
Keung, Karl will retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, have
agreed to offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

Each of Ms. Lee Siu Fong (“Ms. Lee”) and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
(“Ms. Leelalertsuphakun”) has entered into a service contract both
dated 14 January 2002 with the Company under which each of them has
been appointed to act as an executive Director on a continuous basis
until terminated by either party by giving to the other party not less than
three months’ notice in writing. During the year, the monthly salaries and
allowance for Ms. Lee and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun have been revised to
HK$530,278 and HK$571,547 respectively.

Dr. Li Xiaoyi (“Dr. Li”) is a non-executive Director and he serves as a
senior adviser to the Company. Dr. Li has a three-year service contract
with the Company from 29 April 2021. Director’s fee is HK$300,000 per
annum and bonus will not be paid for service as a non-executive director
and senior adviser to the Company. Director’s fee is determined by the
Board with reference to the market rate. The term of Dr. Li’'s appointment
is subject to retirement and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the
Articles of Association. Dr. Li has a three-year consulting contract with
the Company from 1 December 2021 for service as a senior adviser to the
Company and is entitled to a service fee of HK$100,000 per month.

In accordance with supplementary agreement dated 16 April 2017 signed
between the Company and each of Ms. Lee, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun and
Dr. Li (prior to his re-designation as a non-executive Director with effect
from 29 April 2021), employment terms of executive Directors have been
revised as follows:

1. Executive Directors are entitled to annual management bonus 1.5%
to 3.0% (determined based on the growth in net profits of the
Group) on the net profit of the Group for the preceding financial
year. Such sum of the management bonus will be shared between
all the executive Directors in such proportion with reference to their
monthly salary in the final month of the complete financial year.
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2. The annual salary increment shall be equal to official inflation rate if
the growth in net profits of the Group is equal to or less than 15%,
or should the growth exceed 15%, the sum of the official inflation
rate and half of the positive difference between the growth in net
profits and the 15% threshold.

3. Each of executive Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Company for
certain years.

In accordance with the supplemental agreement dated 20 December
2021 signed between the Company and each of Ms. Lee and Ms.
Leelalertsuphakun, employment terms of executive Directors have been
revised as follows:

1. The annual salary increment shall be equal to official inflation rate
plus half of the positive difference between the growth in net profits
and the 15% threshold, which shall not be less than 10% or more
than 30% of their salary for the immediately preceding calendar
year.

Each of Mr. Lam Yat Cheong (“Mr. Lam”) and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl
(“Dr. Tsim”) has been appointed on 1 July 2004 and 20 September 2004
respectively as an independent non-executive Director. Contract with Mr.
Lam and Dr. Tsim has been renewed for three years from 1 July 2022 and
20 September 2022 respectively. Director’s fees for both of Mr. Lam and
Dr. Tsim are HK$216,000 per annum and bonus will not be paid.

Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob has a three-year service contract with the
Company from 12 October 2007. The contract has been renewed for three
years from 12 October 2022. Director’s fee is HK$216,000 per annum and
bonus will not be paid.

Mr. James Charles Gale has a three-year service contract with the
Company from 2 January 2022. Director’s fee was HK$300,000 per annum
and bonus will not be paid.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which the Directors had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND KEY PERSONNEL

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the key personnel are set
out on pages 24 to 32.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the management shareholders or substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules, or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as the interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests in Securities” below, at no time during the year
under review was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company
or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.
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Report of the Directors
EEZgWE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

EENRETHRAERESNER

RZZEZ—F+—A=+—H ARAEERESTHK
ABRBENHEARARRREEEEZE(EERLES
FHEIEPIEXVED) 9D RABBRG P HEE A TER
BARIEE S M EIEDEI528BFEMNE LM - &
RIRIZESTHE BITME ARNA 7] KB ArayfEss

(a) Long position in Shares (a) RIGIFE
Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name of director Nature of interest shares held Total shareholding
EEpnE EEME g BEREA wit SRENESH
Lee Siu Fong Beneficial owner 875
PN EmAA
Interest held jointly with 1,600,000
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
s R H AR A R
Interest of a controlled 114,000,625 115,601,500 19.63%
corporation (Note 1)
—ER ARG EE e R (fiFEL)
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee Beneficial owner 6,309,000
ENod EREBA
Interest held jointly with 1,600,000
Lee Siu Fong
AN HERFEOER
Interest of a controlled 114,000,625 121,909,625 20.70%
corporation (Note 1)
—fRIREEDEE MR (L)
Li Xiaoyi Beneficial owner 41,092,766
FINR BnEEA
Family interest (Note 2) 16,000,000
Kk (fit2)
Others 1,920,385 59,013,151 10.02%
EAh
Chan Yau Ching, Bob Beneficial owner 520,000 520,000 0.09%
R IE BEmfEAA
Lam Yat Cheong Beneficial owner 300,000 300,000 0.05%
HEE FmiiA A
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl Beneficial owner 300,000 300,000 0.05%
R EREBA
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Notes: ftsE -

(1) 114,000,625 Shares are held through Huby Technology Limited (“Huby (1)  114,000,6250% %7 J5i% ¥@Huby Technology
Technology”). Huby Technology is an investment holding company Limited([Huby Technology ])#%4 ° Huby
jointly owned by Ms. Lee Siu Fong and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee. Technology & —fREER AR - HF NI K

TREER LT HEES

(2) These Shares are held by High Knowledge Investments Limited which is (&) #% % & 19 i High Knowledge Investments
wholly owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi’s spouse, Ms. Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky (“Ms. Limited#5 - ZRAIBEF/NRETHERE AR
Lue”). The interest held by Ms. Lue is deemed to be part of the interest Kzt (Bx])2EMHE - e tHBENER
of Dr. Li Xiaoyi. WARIES/ N\ B /D s o

(b) Long position in underlying shares — (b) RIBER I E — K L B
share options of the Company

Under the share option schemes of the Company, the following BIEARANTOEREE > THESRRER

Directors have personal interest in options to subscribe for the MEEEIRER A A AR - BT REOEIRRE

Shares. Details of the share options granted to them are as follows: BN

Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January ER 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2022 Granted Exercised 2022 share
R-B-=fF R-B-ZF
-A-H +=B=1+-8
EEpE R A iid: igfeies B (i ke BRITHEE
(Notes) HK$
(Hi3) AT
Lee Siu Fong 30 December 2013 1) 538,000 - - 538,000 7.300
FINE ZE-Z5+ZA=1A
31 March 2015 2) 446,000 - - 446,000 11.200
“T-1%F=A=1-H
31 March 2016 3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
—Z-"E=R=t-AH
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 - - 590,000 7.548
“Z—+5MmA+=H
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 - - 456,000 11.216
—Z-/\fmA+=H
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 - - 592,000 7.324
“E-NFRATHA
15 April 2020 () 588,000 - - 588,000 3.648
—Z-ZEMATEA
21 April 2021 (8) 588,000 - - 588,000 5.806
WA= T-H
25 April 2022 9) - 588,000 - 588,000 2.076
ZE-CERAZTAA
4,385,000 588,000 - 4,973,000
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Balance Balance
as at During the year as at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January ER 31 December price per
Name of director Date of grant period 2022 Granted Exercised 2022 share
R-8=-= R-B-ZE
-B-H TZA=+-8
BEpg RitBH T s Rit fix:3 ok BRITRE
(Notes) HK$
(PzE) BT
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee 30 December 2013 1) 338,000 - - 338,000 7.300
FER ZE-=F+ZA=TH
31 March 2015 2) 446,000 - - 446,000 11.200
—Z-A%=R=t-AH
31 March 2016 3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
B =
13 April 2017 (4) 590,000 - - 590,000 7.548
ZE—tENMAT=A
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 - - 456,000 11.216
- \fMWA+=A
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 - - 592,000 7.324
“Z-NFRATEA
15 April 2020 @) 588,000 - - 588,000 3.648
“Z-ZFMATAA
21 April 2021 (8) 588,000 - - 588,000 5.806
ZZ--EMA-+-A
25 April 2022 9) - 588,000 - 588,000 2.076
ZZZCERAZTHA
4,185,000 588,000 - 4,773,000
Li Xiaoyi 31 March 2015 ) 446,000 - - 446,000 11.200
FIR “T-R5=A=T-H
31 March 2016 @3) 587,000 - - 587,000 5.754
—Z-"¥=A=t-H
13 April 2017 4) 590,000 - - 590,000 7.548
“E—tERAT=A
13 April 2018 (5) 456,000 - - 456,000 11.216
—Z-/\fmA+=H
15 April 2019 (6) 592,000 - - 592,000 7.324
“Z-NEWATRA
15 April 2020 ) 588,000 - - 588,000 3.648
“Z-ZFMATAA
21 April 2021 8) 588,000 - - 588,000 5.806
ZE--EMA=t-H
3,847,000 - - 3,847,000
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(d)

O

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 June 2014 and 30 March 2015
respectively to 29 December 2023.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2015 and 30 June 2016
respectively to 30 March 2025.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 30 September 2016 and 30 June 2017
respectively to 30 March 2026.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2017 and 13 July 2018
respectively to 12 April 2027.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 13 October 2018 and 13 July 2019
respectively to 12 April 2028.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2019 and 15 July 2020
respectively to 14 April 2029.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 15 October 2020 and 15 July 2021
respectively to 14 April 2030.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 21 October 2021 and 21 July 2022
respectively to 20 April 2031.

Divided into 2 tranches exercisable from 25 October 2022 and 25 July 2023
respectively to 24 April 2032.

As at 31 December 2022, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in (a)
12,740 ordinary shares in Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated;
and (b) 830 share options which can be converted into 830 ordinary
shares of Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated when exercised.

As at 31 December 2022, Dr. Li Xiaoyi had beneficial interest in
14,702,800 share options which can be converted into 14,702,800
ordinary shares of ZKO when exercised, an associated corporation
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, when exercised. Dr. Li
Xiaoyi spouse's, Ms. Lue, had beneficial interest in 166,666 ordinary
shares of ZKO. The interest held by Ms. Lue is deemed to be part
of the interest of Dr. Li Xiaoyi. Dr. Li Xiaoyi holds 65% of the equity
interest of Lee's Healthcare Industry Investments Limited, which in
turn is the general partner of Lee's Healthcare Industry Fund L.P. For
the purpose of the SFO, Dr. Li Xiaoyi is deemed to have an interest
in the 2,187,600 ordinary shares of ZKO held by Lee's Healthcare
Industry Fund L.P.

As at 31 December 2022, Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee had
beneficial interest in (a) 23,557 ordinary shares of ZKO; and (b)
200,000 share options which can be converted into 200,000 ordinary
shares of ZKO when exercised.

GEE
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SFER2M - DRATER-F-NF+AT=AR=F A
FLA+T=ZBRE-Z-N\FMOA+-HIETE -

SFER2 - DRATERF-AFTATREARS
FEATABRE-Z-AFMA A ETTE -

AR ARIATA-E-EF+A+RABR-FZ
FEATHAARE-Z=2FMA+HHE ETT6 -

DER2H - DR —F_—F+AZ+—HR=ZR
CoEtAC - BRECE=-FEASTALTE -

DKM DR —FE_—F+ATARR=R
CEFEACHRARECT=CFMA T FIHEIETT
fit

REZZEZ=ZF+-A=+—8 " F)FBL@RH

ULE B R N A2, 74008 L@ F K (b)

Eéfiﬁﬁﬁ%‘f@}%Hssoﬂ%%é‘é%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ@mjat
BRMB30M IEMRIER A B i o

RIZZEZZF+ZA=+—8 "  FIBELR
FEA7T S Al $512 414,702,800 A8 JK BHER B} (1%
BERHAEROIEXVERE /B ER) K
WAk EY14,702,80010 R E T EBE B fEns o
/N RIG T HAE B L +742166,666 i Ik BHR
MEBRTHEEER R - aXITHANER
WEAFNREBITOE IR - T/NRELRH
A Lee’s Healthcare Industry Investments
Limited #) 65% fi% # - T Lee’s Healthcare
Industry Investments Limited /% Lee’s
Healthcare Industry Fund L.P. ¥ & & & #
A o RIBFFHREGRG] - FNRETHELR
Lee’s Healthcare Industry Fund L.P.&HH
2,187,600 KRR I L BT HE AR o

NIZEZZ_F+ZA=1+—08  FEELZLt@R®
23,557 K BIR B @A : R (b)REITERA]
1 5200,000 K BHAR T 2 3@ A% /9 200,00017
PR A Bkt o
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(f) As at 31 December 2022, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, had beneficial
interest in 1,000 ordinary shares of ZKO. Ms. Chan Sau Lin, the
spouse of Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, had beneficial interest in 1,000
ordinary shares of ZKO. The interest held by the spouse of Dr. Chan
Yau Ching, Bob, is deemed to be part of the interest of Dr. Chan Yau
Ching, Bob.

(g) As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Lam Yat Cheong had beneficial interest
in 3,000 ordinary shares of ZKO.

(h) As at 31 December 2022, Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl, had beneficial
interest in 34,323 ordinary shares of ZKO.

(i) Save as disclosed above, no interests and short positions were
held or deemed to be taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by
any Director or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates in the Shares and the underlying Shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code which are required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register
referred to therein.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to a written resolution passed by all Shareholders of the
Company on 26 June 2002, the Company adopted a share options scheme
(the “2002 Share Option Scheme”). At the AGM held on 10 May 2012,
a new share option scheme of the Company (the “2012 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted upon expiry of the 2002 Share Option Scheme.
At the AGM held on 19 May 2022, a new share option scheme of the
Company (the “2022 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted upon expiry
of the 2012 Share Option Scheme. The 2002 Share Option Scheme
expired on 9 May 2012. However, share options granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme before its expiry date will remain valid, subject to
the same terms and conditions.

2012 Share Option Scheme

(a) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the 2012 Share Option Scheme is to advance the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders by providing to
Eligible Persons of the 2012 Share Option Scheme (as defined
below) a performance incentive for continued and improved service
with the Group and by enhancing such persons’ contribution to
increase profits by encouraging capital accumulation and share
ownership.
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(b) Participants of the Scheme

©

A committee of the Board comprising the two independent non-
executive Directors (the “Committee”) may, at its discretion, invite
the following persons (the “Eligible Persons of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme”) to participate in the 2012 Share Option Scheme:

(0] Employees — Persons who are employed by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, and who remain employed, and work in
excess of 20 hours per week;

(i) Executive Directors — Subject to the same requirement as
employees. Additionally, any grants of options to executive
directors require the approval of the independent directors
who make up the Committee, as well as compliance with
Rule 17.04 of the Listing Rules;

(iii) Non-executive Directors, including independent non-

executive Directors — Persons who act as non-executive

Directors and who remain so engaged, in addition to

compliance with Rule 3.11 and Rule 17.04 of the Listing Rules;

and

Advisers and consultants — Members from time to time of
the Company’s scientific advisory board and other persons as
long-term advisers or consultants to the Group in any country
where it operates. The scientific advisory board provides the
Company with guidance and evaluation on the development
progress of research project undertaken by the Group.

@iv)

Maximum numbers available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall
be subject to a maximum limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on
10 May 2012, the date on which the 2012 Share Option Scheme is
conditionally adopted and approved by the Shareholders at the AGM,
which is 47,023,543 Shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2022 were Nil, representing
0% of the Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date
of this annual report. As at 31 December 2022, the number of
Shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the 2012 Share Option Scheme was 27,417,000
(31 December 2021: 28,751,000), representing 4.7% (31 December
2021: 4.9%) of the Shares in issue at the date of this annual report.

®)

©
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®

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person of the
2012 Share Option Scheme

The total number of the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted (including those granted (whether
or not cancelled) under the 2012 Share Option Scheme) and to be
granted to any Eligible Persons of the 2012 Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to the date of the grant to such Eligible Person
of the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued
Shares from time to time (the “1 per cent. Limit of 2012 Share
Option Scheme”). Any further grant of options in excess of this 1
per cent. Limit of 2012 Share Option Scheme must be subject to
(i) separate Shareholders’ approval with that Eligible Persons of the
2012 Share Option Scheme and his close associates (or his associates
if the Eligible Person is a connected person) abstaining from voting
and (ii) the issue of a circular.

Time of exercise and vesting of the option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2012 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as specified
by the Committee in relation to each such option in its terms of
grant provided that the period within which the option must be
exercised (that is, the final expiration date) shall not be earlier than
six months but not more than 10 years from its date of grant (subject
to earlier termination in accordance with the rules of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme).

The Committee may provide restrictions on how and when an option
during the period for which an option may be exercised, including,
if appropriate, a minimum period for which an option must be held
or a performance target, if any, which must be achieved before an
option can be exercised. The 2012 Share Option Scheme has not
specified any performance target that must be achieved before an
option can be exercised.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the total vesting period of
options granted ranges from approximately 6 to 48 months.

Basis for determining the exercise price and
acceptance of offer

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Shares.

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, upon acceptance of the
option, the grantee of an option must pay HK$1 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.
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(@

e

®

—ER-CFBRENESERALIZE
ZRERE

REZERATA T ——FEREAESERALT
BB AT 1218 A B R% S 4 E%
ATHEE(BREEE - - FBIEEFERE
(TREEEEH)) RiGHEH 2 BRE(BEET
- BEEH RARTTIE 2 BEARAE ) A TIE RS B AT R
BT ZROAE  TEBATHDEITRDZ
1%([ZB——FERETE1%0MRE]) - #E—
SRHBRN -T— - FERIETE1%REZ
BREVBEOERRSITIE BT ——F8E
BT A B AT REZEHREA (WEERA
TARBEAL  BIHEBEA)BERESRFER(I)
BHIBRE -

BRETENRBEDR

BRETXAZEENELERTRE B
RIEAZ ENERRERRR - - — FRkE
FHEIZGRITRE - e ZRTT IR R 2 HARR (A&
BB NS RR AR B HEARER - AR
BEAHREEBE10F (JRR_T——F
PR B 2 RANR AL -

ZEGTATAREREN AT ITEMEZITEA R R
BRRE - SE(EE) LAREBRE &2
A sk R R TT R AT L AR 2 RBLA R (W0
B) e T FRRE U EEERBRER
TR AER 2 EARBRE -

BEZT——FERESE - IRLERECZR
BEEN TH6=48(EA -

EETEEZEEREAEY

TEERSESET BB TORUTEEZ&
BE  ()VERLEBZBROWTHIE : () BEEEDR
EHAAMEEER ZRGFHRTE Rk
HEE

RIE—T— — FRERAERT & PR AR AR
BREARAVEINLETTARAE  ERE
ZNE LB RUE -



@

Remaining life of the Scheme

The 2012 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. 10 May 2012. The
2012 Share Option Scheme expired on 9 May 2022.

2022 Share Option Scheme

@

(b)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the 2022 Share Option Scheme is to advance the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders by providing to
Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme (as defined
below) a performance incentive for continued and improved service
with the Group and by enhancing such persons’ contribution to
increase profits by encouraging capital accumulation and share
ownership.

Participants of the Scheme

The Board may at its discretion invite the following persons (the
“Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme”) to
participate in the 2022 Share Option Scheme:

(i) Employees — Any employee (whether full-time or part-time)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who has contributed
to the Group’s research and development, including but not
limited to project leader, project member, engineer and
technician;

(i) Staff and advisers — Any staff, adviser (professional or
otherwise), consultant, agent or business partner that the
Company deems important to provide support to the Group;
and

(iii) Directors — Any director (including executive, non-executive

and independent non-executive directors) of the Group.

The Board would assess the Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share
Option Scheme based on factors such as their working experience,
industry knowledge and their past and/or expected contribution
to the development and success of the Group. For the basis of
determining the eligibility of employees, staff, advisers and Directors
as the Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the
Board would consider period of employment, responsibilities, time
commitment, knowledge in the industry and prevailing market
practice.

@

@

(b)
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Maximum numbers available for issue

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2022 Share Option Scheme shall
be subject to a maximum limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on
19 May 2022, the date on which the 2022 Share Option Scheme is
conditionally adopted and approved by the Shareholders at the AGM,
which is 58,883,534 Shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the 2022
Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2022 were 57,633,534,
representing approximately 9.8% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares as at the date of this annual report. As at 31
December 2022, the number of Shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2022
Share Option Scheme was 1,250,000 (31 December 2021: N/A),
representing 0.2% (31 December 2021: N/A) of the Shares in issue
at the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Persons of
the 2022 Share Option Scheme

The total number of the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted (including those granted (whether
or not cancelled) under the 2022 Share Option Scheme) and to be
granted to any Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant to such
Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed
1% of the issued Shares from time to time (the “1 per cent. Limit
of the 2022 Share Option Scheme”). Any further grant of options
in excess of this 1 per cent. Limit of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
must be subject to (i) separate Shareholders’ approval with that
Eligible Persons of the 2022 Share Option Scheme and his close
associates (or his associates if the Eligible Person of the 2022 Share
Option Scheme is a connected person) abstaining from voting and (ii)
the issue of a circular.
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Time of exercise and vesting of the option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2022 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as specified
by the Board in relation to each such option in its terms of grant
provided that the period within which the option must be exercised
(that is, the final expiration date) shall not be more than 10 years
from its date of grant (subject to earlier termination in accordance
with the rules of the 2022 Share Option Scheme).

The Board may provide restrictions on how and when an option
during the period for which an option may be exercised, including,
if appropriate, a minimum period for which an option must be held
or a performance target, if any, which must be achieved before an
option can be exercised. The 2022 Share Option Scheme has not
specified any performance target that must be achieved before an
option can be exercised.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the total vesting period of
options granted ranges from approximately 12 to 48 months.

Basis for determining the exercise price and
acceptance of offer

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares on the
date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, or (where
applicable) such price as from time to time adjusted pursuant to the
2022 Share Option Scheme and subject to the requirements under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Under the 2022 Share Option Scheme, upon acceptance of the
option, the grantee of an option must pay HK$1 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The 2022 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. 19 May 2022. As
at 31 December 2022, the remaining life of the 2022 Share Option
Scheme was approximately 9.4 years (i.e. until 18 May 2032).

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the following parties (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which are required to
be notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and required to be entered into the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

(a) Long position in Shares

FERRAFZ ZVHEDS

BEITBRABRINIRARB BN RAAEBR O EEIR
BES LR GOEXVEE2RID HAME A AT -

A BARIER RS 75 B HA B 15 1) 5 336 1678
FERMREESAR

(a) RGHE

CHEARRRIAE

Number of Approximate
ordinary percentage of
Name Capacity shares held shareholding
1 3 14 FisEBEREA FREAED L
Huby Technology Limited Beneficial owner 114,000,625 19.36%
EmfAA
Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.82%
—EX R EE R
Li Zhenfu Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.82%
—RRIEFEE R
Lion River I N.V. Interest of a controlled corporation 81,405,000 13.82%
—ER B EE MR
GL Partners Capital Management Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 76,165,488 12.93%
—EX R EENER
Apta Finance S.A. Interest of a controlled corporation 70,771,898 12.02%
—RRIEFEE RS
Cavazza Paolo Interest of a controlled corporation 70,771,898 12.02%
—ER B EE R R
Paponi Claudia Family interest 70,771,898 12.02%
ENIR 3
Qualister SA Beneficial owner 64,867,577 11.02%
EnlEBA
GSR Capital Joy Corporation Beneficial owner 34,566,935 5.87%
EnEEA
GoldenSand Capital Ltd Interest of a controlled corporation 34,566,935 5.87%
—EX R EE R
Wu Sonny Interest of a controlled Corporation 34,566,935 5.87%
hiRE —EREHEE AR
FMR LLC Investment manager (Note 3) 29,503,500 5.01%
BB (HFE3)
High Knowledge Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%
B biA A L)
Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 1) 16,000,000 2.72%
=Rk —ER D EE AR (L)
Family interest (Note 2) 43,013,151 7.30%
Rtz (fi7E2)
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Notes:

(€D} These Shares are legally owned by High Knowledge Investments
Limited, which is entirely and beneficially owned by Dr. Li Xiaoyi's
spouse, Ms. Lue.

2) These Shares are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

3) FMR LLC was deemed to be interested in 29,503,500 shares of
the Company, of which 26,981,124 shares were held by Fidelity
Management & Research Company LLC and 2,522,376 shares held by
Fidelity Management Trust Company.

(b) Long position in underlying shares —
share options of the Company

Report of the Directors
EEgWE

fiat -

(1) #Z % W £ % # L A High Knowledge
Investments Limited# 4 & ZARIRZ/ 31
THERBELT2ERERES

(@  ZERHHES LT HEES RS -

(3) FMR LLC#18 &7 29,503,500 f% A8 22 &) B 17
A 25 0 E R 26,981,124 % (4 Fidelity
Management & Research Company
LLC # A& - 1M 2,522,376 % 8| & Fidelity
Management Trust Company#$ 74 °

(b) RIEBER G HILFE — A 1 AR E

Number of Approximate
ordinary  percentage of

Name Capacity shares held shareholding
e 14 g BEREE BREAEIT
Lue Shuk Ping, Vicky Family interest (Note 1) 3,847,000 0.65%
ERK Kiwigs (fiE1)

Note: B3 -

(¢5) These share options are owned by Ms. Lue’s spouse, Dr. Li Xiaoyi.

(c) Short position in Shares

No short positions of other persons and substantial shareholders in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations were recorded in the register.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information that is available to the Company the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the pubic exceeds 25%
of the Company’s total number of issued shares during the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

(1) ZEERER AL TORBE N IE LS -
(c) REBRGHIEE
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K EAAEHEE RO AR R E o
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DR EBEREES MAEROEXVIBE2RINBH
SR BB IUAER ©
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group conducted certain
transactions with parties deemed as “related parties” under applicable
accounting standards. The details of these transactions are set out in note
43 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the transactions
mentioned in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” which is subject to announcement and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, certain transactions
mentioned in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements also
constituted connected transactions or continuing connecting transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but are exempt from the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions, and details of which have been disclosed in
compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

1. Provision of financial guarantee to PPI, an associate
of the Group

On 11 February 2020 (as supplemented), the Company as guarantor
provided a corporate guarantee in favour of a bank as a security for
the provision of a revolving loan facility of up to HK$13,000,000,
a demand loan facility of up to HK$40,000,000 and an overdraft
facility of up to HK$6,000,000, provided that the total outstanding
balance of the overdraft facility and revolving loan facility shall
not at any time exceed HK$13,000,000, to PPI for the purpose of
funding its normal commercial operation.

The above continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors and they have confirmed

that the transactions:

a. have been entered into in the usual and ordinary course of
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

b. are conducted on normal commercial terms.
c. are entered into in accordance with the terms of relevant
agreements that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of

shareholders as a whole.

d. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.
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The Company’s auditor, HLM CPA Limited, also has confirmed that
the above continuing connected transactions:

a. have received the approval of the Company’s Board of
Directors;
b. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing the transactions; and

c. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcements.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other transaction requiring
disclosure of connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 9.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group, which are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and
provide reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks include rapid change in the general market
conditions, downturn pressure on the overall economy of China and price
competition from other market players. The Board is responsible for the
overall management of the business and review of material business
decisions involving material risks exposures from time to time.

Financial Risk

The Group adopts financial risk management policies to manage its
currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Board
also reviews monthly management accounts, capital structure and key
operating data of the Group.
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Compliance Risk

The Board adopts procedures to ensure the Group is in compliance with
the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group engages professional
advisers and consultants to keep the Group abreast of the latest
developments in the regulatory environment, including legal, financial,
environmental and operational developments. The Group also adopts
a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised use or dissemination of
confidential or inside information.

Operational Risk

The Group adopts procedures to manage its operational risk such as
inadequate management efficiency, inefficient raw material procurement
and production facilities utilisation. The Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
covering business, financial, compliance and operational risks of the Group
and is satisfied that such systems are effective and adequate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sustainability of the Group’s business relies on the growth of the
Group’s employees. Remuneration packages of the employees are
generally structured with reference to prevailing market terms and
individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an
annual basis based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits including
mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and performance related
bonus. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees of the
Group.

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. The Group fully understands
this principal and thus maintain good relationship with the customers to
fulfil their immediate and long-term need.

The Group strives to maintain fair and co-operating relationship with the
suppliers.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND
SERVICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses
and the communities with which it engages. The Group pursues this
business approach by managing its business prudently and executing
management decisions with due care and attention. Over the years, the
Group has been fully committed to environmental protection. Periodic
internal control meetings are held to review environmental issues in the
production plants to update environmental laws and regulations and to
make valuable suggestions and recommendations for improvement.
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COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

The Group is not aware of any instances of material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations such as the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Listing Rules, and other applicable
local laws and regulations in various jurisdictions during the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report prepared in accordance
with Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules will be published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange separately.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The group companies operated in Hong Kong are required to participate
in a defined contribution retirement scheme set up in accordance with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485). Under the
scheme, the employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employer’s monthly contributions are
calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly salaries up to a maximum
of HK$1,500 (the “Mandatory Contributions”), and are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’'s Mandatory Contributions upon their retirement
at the age of 65 years old, death or total incapacity.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the PRC and
Taiwan, the employees of the group companies operated in the PRC and
Taiwan are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. Those group companies
are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement is to make the specified
contributions.

Certain Directors will be entitled to lump sum payment upon retirement
and monthly pension payment after retirement if they have engaged in
continuous service with the Company for certain years.

Particulars of the scheme of the Group are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited by HLM CPA Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Siu Fong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board believes that corporate governance is essential to the success
of the Company and has adopted various measures to uphold good
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of our shareholders,
investors, customers and staff.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

A new CG Code came into effect on 1 January 2022. Nomination
Committee comprising Ms. Lee Siu Fong as the chairman, Dr. Chan Yau
Ching, Bob and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl as the members has been
established by the Board with written terms of reference with effect
from 2 January 2022, in which majority of the committee members are
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by the chairman of the
Board. Since then, the Company has complied with code provision B.3.1 of
the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision B.3.4 of the CG Code, the Board should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the general meeting when the Board proposes
a resolution to elect an individual as an independent non-executive
Directors at the relevant general meeting. The Company had not set
out the explanatory statement in the circular published on 21 April 2022
relating to the re-election of independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Lam Yat Cheong (“Mr. Lam”) has given confirmation of independence to
the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee assessed and reviewed the independence of Mr. Lam. In view
of the diversified knowledge, experience and skills of Mr. Lam in finance,
operation, financial accounting, corporate governance and compliance, the
Nomination Committee believes that his expertise will enable him to fulfil
his roles as independent non-executive Director effectively and can provide
useful and constructive opinion and make contribution to the Board and
future development of the Company. Based on the background of Mr. Lam
including but not limited to gender, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge, it is believed
that Mr. Lam can contribute to diversity of the Board. The Nomination
Committee and the Board are of the view that Mr. Lam has satisfied all the
criteria for independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, if an independent non-
executive director has served more than nine years, such director’s further
appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
shareholders. The papers to shareholders accompanying that resolution
should state why the Board (or the nomination committee) believes that
the director is still independent and should be re-elected, including the
factors considered, the process and the discussion of the board (or the
nomination committee) in arriving at such determination. Mr. Lam has
served the Board for more than nine years and the Company had not set
out in the circular published on 21 April 2022 relating to the re-election
of Mr. Lam the reasons why the Board (or the Nomination Committee)
believes that the director is still independent and should be re-elected
independent non-executive Director.
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Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive Director serving the Company
since 2004. The Board believes that Mr. Lam is considered as independent
and continues to be independent because he has the required elements,
character, integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an
independent non-executive Director by taking into account the factors set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding that Mr. Lam has
served on the Board for more than nine years, the Nomination Committee
and the Board are of the view that this does not and would not affect the
exercise of his independent judgement as he has been providing objective
views and independent opinions to the Company over the years. Mr. Lam
has not engaged in the daily or executive management of the Group nor in
any relationships or circumstances which would interfere with the exercise
of his independent judgement. In addition, the Company has received
from Mr. Lam a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Taking into consideration of Mr. Lam’s independent scope of
work and valuable contributions given to the Company in the past years,
the Board considers Mr. Lam is able to provide independent, balanced and
objective views to the Company’s affairs and continue to independently
fulfill his role as an independent non-executive Director despite the fact
that he has served the Company for more than nine years. The Nomination
Committee also considers that Mr. Lam could continue to contribute
to the diversity of the Board with his past experience as independent
non-executive director in other listed companies in Hong Kong and
his professional experience in the auditing and accounting profession.
Accordingly, the Board and the Nomination Committee recommended
him for re-election as independent non-executive Director at the annual
general meeting. A separate resolution was proposed for Mr. Lam’s re-
election and he was re-elected as an independent non-executive Director
in the annual general meeting held on 19 May 2022.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.4 of the CG Code, the Company should
disclose the length of tenure of each existing independent non-executive
Directors on a named basis in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the annual general
meeting where all of the independent non-executive Directors have served
more than nine years on the Board. The Company has not set out such
information in the circular published on 21 April 2022. The length of tenure
of Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob, Mr. Lam and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl (each
being an existing independent non-executive Director and all of them have
been serving more than nine years on the Board) as at the date of this
report was more than 21 years, 18 years and 18 years respectively.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders. Our non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors had not attended the annual general meeting held on
19 May 2022 as they had other important prior engagement at the same
time.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has complied with the CG Code to
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Looking forward, the Board will continue to conduct reviews on the
Company’s corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has adopted the
Model Code. The Company has made specific enquiries of all the Directors
and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with such Model
Code and required standard of dealing throughout the year ended 31
December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors provides the Group with a wide range of
expertise and knowledge in the pharmaceutical sector. The independent
non-executive Directors are persons of high calibre; with academic
and professional qualifications in the areas of accounting, financial and
pharmaceutical field. With their experience gained from senior positions
held in other companies, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board.

The Company has a Board diversity policy whereby it recognises and
embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. It endeavors to
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The list of Directors and their roles and functions is posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated and
are not exercised by the same individual. The Chairman of the Company
is Ms. Lee Siu Fong and the management committee is responsible for
the effective and timely management of the daily activities and business
dealings of the Group, as well as implementation of all policies and
decision approved by the Board and to assist the Board in implementing
the Group’s strategic plans.

The Board formulates overall strategic plans and key policies of the Group,
monitors its financial performance, maintains effective oversight over
the management, risks assessment, controls over business operations
and ensures good corporate governance and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. Responsibility in relation to daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated to each of the
executive Directors and senior management.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, 12 Board meetings and 1
shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual Director
at these meetings is set out below:

HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—ALFEGRTI2AES
SERL—ABREAE U TAREZHESHMLE

Number Number of
of Board shareholders
meeting meeting
attended/ attended/
Attendees Total Total
HEEEgeE HERRAE
HEE RE R B ERE
Executive Directors HITES
Lee Siu Fong (Chairman) BNE(FE) 12/12 1/1
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director) T (BRI ) 12/12 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Li Xiaoyi R 12/12 0/1
James Charles Gale (appointed with effect James Charles Gale
from 2 January 2022) (B-E-_—F—A_H®REZE) 11/11 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Chan Yau Ching, Bob PR IE 12/12 0/1
Lam Yat Cheong MWHE 12/12 0/1
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl B 12/12 0/1

The Company’s auditor, HLM CPA Limited, also attended the shareholders
meeting.

During the year under review, a meeting was held between the Chairman
and all independent non-executive Directors in accordance with provision
C.2.7 of the CG Code.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All the independent non-executive Directors have confirmed in writing
to the Company that they have met all the guidelines for assessing their
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding
that all of the independent non-executive Directors have served on the
Board for more than nine years, in view that they have demonstrated the
attributes as independent non-executive Directors during their tenure in
office and taking into account their written confirmation of independence
as regards Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers that all
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and believes
that their continued service as independent non-executive Directors will be
beneficial to the Company and the shareholders.
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Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.4(b) of the CG Code, if all the independent
non-executive directors of an issuer have served more than nine years
on the board, the issuer should appoint a new independent non-executive
director on the board at the forthcoming annual general meeting with
effect from the financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2023.
Accordingly, Ms. Cheang Yee Wah, Eva (“Ms. Cheang”) will be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM to be appointed as an additional independent non-
executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the meeting. The
profile of Ms. Cheang is set out in the circular convening the forthcoming
AGM.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Group regularly updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements
regarding subjects necessary in the discharge of their duties. In addition,
the Group has been encouraging Directors to attend training courses or
via online aids or reading relevant materials on the latest development of
applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can continuously update
and further enhance their knowledge and skills.

Records of the Directors’ training during 2022 are as follows:

EERRS

BRIECESZSFAEXB.2.4(b) » HEITARNFETE
SNIEITE B ETBBNTF - BITAEE TARIBRRE
BERE FRE—EFNBUIIENTES =T ==
F—A—B BB MBEEAR - Bt - BER
REFAG FEBREZAEFELT([HrL]) BRI
BURTESE  AALERBEN - BRI 2ZEES
REFEERRAFRG ZEE -

ESTIIREERE

AEBERMEEEEEH MR MK ERTRR
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(B 15 55 P 455 A SR ot — PR = EOAR A AN S e e o

EER T FAEYIRSENT ¢

Type of
continuous
professional
development

Directors training
HEEE

=S BRI

Executive Directors HITES

Lee Siu Fong (Chairman) TN (EE) (i) & (i)

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee (Managing Director) T (B FAATIE) (i) & (ii)

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Li Xiaoyi TR (i) & (ii)

James Charles Gale James Charles Gale (i) & (i)

Independent non-executive Directors BIFHITES

Chan Yau Ching, Bob PR IE (i) & (ii)

Lam Yat Cheong P N=R= (i) & (i)

Tsim Wah Keung, Karl R () & (i)

(0] Attending seminar(s) or training session(s).

(i) Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the
Company’s business or Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable

regulatory requirements, etc.

(i) HEEFSHITIRE -
(i) FBEABARREBAEERE  LHHRRAIRE

EREE RENBNERNOBE B REH
B -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND
ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects.
The Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts of the Group,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a
going concern basis.

The Company set up an audit committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rules 3.21 and the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risks
management system of the Group.

The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditors, the internal auditors (where
an internal audit function exists) of the Company, and the management
as regards their duties relating to financial and other reporting, risk
management, internal controls, external and internal audits and such
other financial and accounting matters as the Board determines from
time to time. The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management system of the Group, overseeing the
audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities as may be
assigned by the Board from time to time.

Audit Committee comprises three members, Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob
(chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Lam Yat Cheong and Dr. Tsim
Wah Keung, Karl, who are the independent non-executive Directors of
the Company. During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, four
meetings were held by Audit Committee to review and comment on the
Group’s draft annual, interim and quarterly financial reports, met with
external auditor and provided advices and recommendations to the Board.
The individual attendance record of each member is as follows:

BEREEEREE

EEERASIAKERALNENER B k2E
- EREMAREURBEEEERUATRQ T
RRASEEFBRROAEERE -

RRARRLTERZES  WASHE AEBESE -
AR & LT RRIES. 21 A RS+ s % E0a
S EREBENIERARRI REEAREENY
BRI - NEEERAR MEREE -

ERREENEREMES - JMNSZBED - M BED
(HEFEARDEZBE) RERE  MOERER BT
MERETDAEOMBLEMRE  RREER N5
% SNED RN BB R A M R N R E RO E M B TS S
S EE - BERZEEIABYEFSBE LRI AKE
MBHERE  NEMEEREREREAORR - BEE
EARENETEES TRERNEMBE REE -

ERREGM=-RKEMEK MR EEL(F%EES
FF) MBELEREEREST - BEHARRRNE
TERTEE - BRE_E-——F+-A=+—H K
FE ERRESBRITTNAEH  USHAEENE
B ¥FERFENBHREERWRESR - HINEZ
HMBTEE YRNESSRUESEREEER - 848
K ERERH RSN T

Number
of audit
committee
meeting
attended/ Attendance
Attendees Total percentage
HEEZZEE
HEE SERE R HE=R
Chan Yau Ching, Bob BRI IE 4/4 100%
Lam Yat Cheong 8=l 4/4 100%
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl JEE 4/4 100%

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration Committee has been established in February 2012 in
accordance with the requirement of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director.
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Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee and Dr. Chan Yau Ching, Bob are
members of the Remuneration Committee. The Company has adopted
the model to make recommendations to the Board to determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and senior
management. The major roles and functions of Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

a. Establish and apply a formal and transparent procedure for
setting policy on remuneration for executive Directors and senior
management, and for fixing the remuneration packages for all
Directors and senior management; and

b. Ensure that procedures and principles for fixing packages of all
Directors and senior management are proper so that the levels of
remuneration of Directors commensurate with their qualifications
and competencies, and that such remuneration is sufficient to attract
and retain the Directors and senior management but not excessive.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee meets at least once a year. During the year ended 31
December 2022, four meetings are held by the Remuneration Committee
and all the committee members attended the meetings to approve the
annual bonus payable to executive Directors for the financial year 2021,
the remuneration packages of executive Directors and the new appointed
non-executive Director and share options granted during the year under
review.

From 2023 onwards, the Remuneration Committee will also review the
share schemes of the Company on an annual basis. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Company has granted shares options on 25 April
2022 and 2 December 2022 under the Share Option Schemes to certain
Directors and employees of the Group, further details of which are set out
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The Remuneration
Committee took into account the purpose of the abovementioned grants of
share options, which was to provide a performance incentive for continued
and improved service with the Group and to enhance their contribution to
increase profits by encouraging capital accumulation and share ownership.
After considering the performance of and contribution made by each
grantee under the aforementioned grants, the Remuneration Committee
was of the view that it was appropriate for the Company to make such
grants without any performance target or clawback mechanism and such
grants aligned with the purpose of the Share Option Schemes.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the Board has resolved
that the senior management of the Company comprise only the Executive
Directors of the Company. Please refer to note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements for details of the remuneration payable to the
Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Nomination Committee has been established in January 2022 in
accordance with the requirement of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee of the Company comprises one executive Director
and two independent non-executive Directors.

Ms. Lee Siu Fong is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and Dr.
Chan Yau Ching, Bob and Dr. Tsim Wah Keung, Karl are members of the
Nomination Committee. The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

Review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

Identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

Assess the independence of independent non-executive directors;

Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular the chairman or chairlady and the chief executive officer);

Review the policy on Board diversity (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
and any measurable objectives for implementing such Board
Diversity Policy as may be adopted by the Board from time to time
and to review the progress on achieving the objectives; and to make
disclosures of its progress on its review results in the annual report
of the Company annually; and

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive director at the general meeting, it should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

(i) the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

(ii)) if the proposed independent non-executive director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

(iii) the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

(iv) how the individual contributes to diversity to the Board.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, two meetings are held by the Nomination
Committee with all committee members attended to assess and review
the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Management Committee has been established in April 2021 which
comprises two executive Directors and several key management
personnels of the Group in respect of research and development,
manufacturing, sales and marketing and finance. The Management
Committee is established for the purpose of effective and timely
management of the day-to-day activities and business dealings of the
Group, as well as implement all policies and decisions approved by the
Board and to assist the Board in implementing the strategic plans of the
Group.

Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee is the chairman of the Management
Committee and Ms. Lee Siu Fong and several key management personnels
are members of the Management Committee. The major roles and
functions of the Management Committee are as follows:

a. Oversee the management and the administrative functions of the
day-to-day operations of the Group;

b. Review the documents from the senior management of the Company
on issues relating to its operation, management, strategies and
developments (such as vision, mission, and annual strategy of the
Company) on a regular basis and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes;

c. Identify market changes and competition or make recommendations
to the Board on issues relating to the Company’s operation,
management, strategies and developments, such as Company’s
market positions, pricing strategies, new markets and strategic
partnerships;

d. Make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
Company’s operation, management, strategies and developments;

e. Handle such other matters as delegated by the Board from time to
time; and
f. Perform all such duties and all such acts in relation to paragraphs

above pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association and all
applicable statutory rules and regulations in force from time to time.

The terms of reference of the Management Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Management
Committee meets at least twice a year. During the year ended 31
December 2022, four meetings are held by the Management Committee
and all the committee members attended the meeting.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary’s biography is set out in the section under
“Directors and Key Personnel Profiles” of this annual report. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the company secretary has taken no less
than 15 hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems over the Group’s asset and
shareholders’ interests, as well as for reviewing such systems’
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against misstatement or loss, and to manage
risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems. The systems include
a well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority, which is designed to safeguard assets
from inappropriate use, maintain proper accounts, ensure compliance
with regulations and regulate the handling and dissemination of inside
information of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has, through the audit
committee with the Group’s internal audit team and the assistance of the
management, conducted a review of the Group’s internal control and risk
management system, including without limitation to financial control,
operational control, and compliance control. The Board assesses the
effectiveness of internal controls by considering reviews performed by the
audit committee, executive management and auditors.

The Board is of the view that the internal control and risk management
systems are effective and there are no irregularities, improprieties, fraud
or other deficiencies that suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Total auditor’s remuneration for the fiscal year 2022 in relation to
statutory audit work of the Group amounted to HK$1,366,000 of which
a sum of HK$1,240,000 was paid to HLM CPA Limited, auditor of the
Company.
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DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Board shall consider the
benefits of diversity when it reviews the Board composition. In designing
the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience and
qualifications, skills, knowledge, length of service and industry and
regional experience. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Measurable objectives include (i) at least one Director is female; (ii)
at least one third of the Board shall be independent non-executive
directors; and (iii) the Board possesses a balance skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. Such objectives will
be reviewed from to time to ensure their appropriateness. The Board is
mindful of the objectives for the factors as set out above for assessing the
candidacy of the Board members, and will ensure that any successors to
the Board shall follow the gender diversity policy. For the Reporting Year,
all items (i) to (iii) have been fulfilled.

The Board comprises seven Directors, among which, two of them are
female. The Board are also characterised by significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of gender, nationality, length of service, professional
background and skills.

At the work place level, as at 31 December 2022, the Group had 1,102
employees in total composing of 496 male and 606 female (i.e. a female-
to-male ratio of approximately 55:45), reflecting a gender equally principle
generally adhere by the Group. The Group is determined to continue
maintain gender diversity and equality in terms of the whole workforce.
The Company expects this is achievable with suitable effort in promoting
the gender diversity culture, which the Group has been advocating for so.

In terms of the Board’s composition, currently, three of the Directors are
independent non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. Our independent non-executive
Directors are of sufficient caliber and stature for their views to carry
weight. The Board has a mix of background and experience in various
fields including accounting and finance, legal, management, investment
and pharmaceutical. These diverse backgrounds, when taken together,
could provide the Group with considerable experience in a range of
activities.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and review the Board composition under diversified
perspectives annually to ensure the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of the
businesses of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy (including but
not limited to the Group’s financial results, cash flow position, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans), dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a
financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure and comprehensive,
transparent reporting. The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring
that there is effective communication with investors and that the Board
understands the views of the major Shareholders. On a day-to-day basis,
the primary contact with the major Shareholders is through the Board and
the chief financial officer of the Company.

Printed copies of the quarterly, interim and annual reports are sent to all
Shareholders. The most recent general meeting of the Company was held
on 22 May 2022. The meeting was opened to all Shareholders and was
attended by substantial Shareholders personally present or by proxy.

As part of a regular programme of investor relations, senior management
holds briefings and attends conferences with institutional investors
and financial analysts to engage in a two-way communication on the
Company’s performance and objectives. A wide range of information on
the Group’s business activities is made available to investors and the
public through the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Announcements of the quarterly, interim and annual results are also
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has reviewed its prevailing shareholders’ communication
policy during the reporting period, and believes the shareholders’
communication policy is still appropriate and effective. Enquiries to the
Board may be made by contacting the company secretary through the
email, or directly by questions at an annual general meeting or a special
general meeting of the Company.
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETINGS ON REQUISITION BY
SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the Company. Two or more
shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of
the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at the
general meeting of the Company may send a written request to the Board
of the Company to request for an EGM. The written requisition, duly signed
by the shareholders concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting
and must be deposited at the registered office of the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general meetings may
follow the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the company secretary whose contact details are
as follows:

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited

1/F, Building 20E, Phase 3

Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2314 1282

Fax: (852) 2314 1708

Email: investor@leespharm.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these documents
are published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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HLM CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Rooms 1501-8, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
FUS AT L EoE 18198
jvﬁjc%mﬁwm 8

Tel TE5H: (852) 3103 6980

Fax %E. (852) 3104 0170

E-mail #¥: info@hlm.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE’S PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee’s
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 79 to 217,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Revenue Recognition
(Refer to Notes 7 and 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

The Group’s revenue amounted to HK$1,233 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. Sales of goods are recognised as revenue when goods
are delivered and titles have been passed.

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of
recognition of revenue.

Our response
Our main procedures in relation to revenue recognition included:
- Obtaining evidence regarding the transfer of control of ownership.

— Testing the key internal controls over revenue recognition, and
assessing whether the accounting policy related to revenue
recognition was applied appropriately and consistently throughout
the year.

- On a sampling basis, making selections from sales records and
delivery records, and tracing to their contracts, delivery orders
and customer’s acknowledgement of receipts, and paying special
attention to samples before and after the end of the reporting period
to assess whether the relevant revenue was recognised in the
correct period.

Based on our procedures described, we found that the amount and timing
of the revenue recorded were supported by available evidence.
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Valuation of Retirement Benefits on Defined
Benefit Plan

(Refer to Note 38 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

The Group entered into service contracts with the eligible directors to
provide certain retirement benefits. There is judgement in determining
valuation of the retirement benefits as recorded at the end of the
reporting period. The valuation is based on a number of assumptions
including discount rate, growth rate of salary and life expectancy. As at 31
December 2022, the Group reported retirement benefits of HK$96 million.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the valuation of the retirement benefits
on defined benefit plan included:

- Assessing the independence and competence of the independent
external valuer appointed by the Group to calculate the fair value of
the retirement benefits.

— Assessing the accuracy and relevance of the input data provided
by management to the independent external valuer by challenging
and corroborating the market data and information from similar
transactions from independent sources.

- Evaluating appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions
used by the independent external valuer.

- Testing mathematical accuracy of the underlying valuation.

We found the methodology and key assumptions to be reasonable.

Intangible Assets Recognition and
Impairment Assessment

(Refer to Note 20 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group reported intangible assets of
HK$1,023 million, of which HK$730 million were capitalised development
expenditure and HK$293 million were license fees.

Development expenditure mainly comprised of development of
pharmaceutical products. The Group capitalised eligible product
development costs upon meeting the criteria as described in Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 38 “Intangible Assets” (“HKAS 38”). Capitalisation
criteria assessment requires significant management judgement and there
is measurement uncertainty at inception and throughout the lives of the
individual projects.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A Zfifi % B R A 7

Y E BT B R K EFETIEE
(ZHiE MR EHF38)

EEEHAERERIARBANURESE TRAE
F - EETEREFNRRE B ERNGEREERHA
B o BRAMENNZERRAER  REMEX  FHa
WERLIESHEG N-ITBE-_—F+-A=+—-H X &
SEBBRNETIGHEESTT

HMHE e

HPEBE RGN R AEFGENEIZEF B -

— iMh BEEEARFERABMNAFEZRENEL
SNEBfb (B AM RSB L 1 K AE

- BEEREREREBUENELURSHTES
BELER - FHEEEERB LI B EEMRE
M A BUR = B AERE AR o

— FHMEBINPEERAERA T EEBRRELAE

—  RISERGER BN EMTERENE -
BAERZETEREZREBEIE -

R EERZR B AT
(ZHiE R ERF20)

RZZE_—F+-_A=+—10 BE£ERESEREE
1,023B8/BTC ' EF 73088 TAEETEEARNF
BRI K293BERTRAEFE -

RBEXHTI2BERABEEER - BEEEERERE
mAEKAN G(BB BT ERDFEI8HR B EE]([&F
BEREREISH T GHRR 2 BTERN - FTEER
MG AR ERNE IR AE - B{E5H 8 FRh R EE
FHIW K2 TR -
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Management is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether any indicator of impairment exists, which requires significant
management judgement and assumptions with reference to the ability to
use or sell the products, its future market or economic development.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the recognition of intangible assets
included:

- Gaining an understanding of the business process undertaken by
management to assess the appropriate accounting treatment for
each project.

- Assessing the reasonableness of recognition and eligibility criteria
for intangible assets by challenging the key assumptions used or
estimates made in capitalising the cost.

- Testing on a sample basis the expenditure capitalised against source
documents and signed contracts.

- Assessing the ownership of license fees.

Our main procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
intangible assets included:

- Assessing management’s determination of the impairment based on
our understanding of the nature of the Group’s business.

— Assessing whether there are any indicators of impairment by
understanding the business, rationale for the products under
development.

- Discussing with and interviewing the responsible staff and managers
on the progress and future prospects of respective development
projects.

— Selecting products with significant development cost and request for
independent valuation to be done for impairment assessment.

Based on our procedures described, we found the recognition and
impairment assessment on intangible assets to be reasonable.
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Impairment Assessment of Goodwill
(Refer to Note 21 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

Management is required to assess at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that goodwill may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the management shall estimate the recoverable amount
of the asset.

Our response

Our main procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

- Assessing management’s determination of the Group’s cash-
generating units based on our understanding of the nature of
the business and the economic environment in which the cash-
generating units operate.

- Based on our knowledge of the business and industry, challenging
the reasonableness of the underlying key assumptions and data used
in the cash flow forecasts (including revenue growth rate, operating
profit, and discount rate used).

Based on our procedures described, we found the estimations of
management in relation to goodwill are supported by plausible evidence.

Fair Value Measurement of Unlisted
Investments Held As Financial Assets at Fair
Value Through Other Comprehensive Income
and Through Profit Or Loss

(Refer to Notes 23 and 24 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements)

The Group held several unlisted investments which were measured using
either market observable inputs or unobservable inputs, and valuation
techniques. The Group’s fair value measurement of the financial assets
arising from the unobservable inputs used in determining the fair value of
the unlisted investments was grouped under level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s unlisted investments which were
measured at fair value amounted to HK$110 million, which had significant
unobservable inputs in the valuation, and categorised within level 3 of fair
value hierarchy, represented 3.97% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2022.

The valuations of these unlisted investments are conducted by an
independent qualified valuer. The appropriateness of the valuation is
dependent on determination of different valuation techniques and certain
key assumptions. With different valuation techniques and assumptions
applied, the valuation result can vary significantly.
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As the unlisted investments are considered significant due to the size of
the balance and the inherent judgement involved in determining the fair
value measurement, is considered as a key audit matter.

The fair value was determined using market approach, income approach
and reference to the prices of underlying investment portfolio quoted by
administrator. The determination of fair value measurement requires the
management to exercise their judgement to ensure the appropriateness of
the estimates and assumptions.

Our response

Our procedures in relation to management’s fair value measurement of
unlisted investments included:

- Evaluating the independent professional valuer’'s competence,
capabilities and objectivity.

- Focusing on the valuation methodologies and assumptions of
unlisted investments that were classified as level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy and involving valuation specialists in evaluating and
assessing:

- the valuation techniques through comparison with the
valuation techniques that are commonly used in the market;

- the validation of observable inputs using external market data;
and

- the reasonableness of management’s assumptions.

— Checking the accuracy and reasonableness of the input data
provided by management to the independent professional valuer.

- Review sensitivity analysis in consideration of the potential impact
of reasonably possible upside or downside changes in these key
assumptions.

Based on our procedures described, we found the impairment assessment
on unlisted investments adopted by management to be reasonable.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identified during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

HLM CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Lap Chi
Practising Certificate number: P04084

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Consolidated

Statement of Profit or Loss

mEBEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —_ET-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T FHT
Revenue Wz 7 1,233,148 1,266,157
Cost of sales SHE R AR (462,393) (459,873)
Gross profit EF 770,755 806,284
Other income HiA 10 73,734 102,323
Other gain and losses, net iz RE1BFRE 11 (54,427) 2,067,799
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (346,467) (366,439)
Administrative expenses THER (198,413) (297,265)
Net reversal of/(provision for) expected EfiSEEBHEEHERD, (EEH)
credit losses on financial assets HE 263 (90,284)
Research and development expenses MRERFAZEER (168,885) (243,835)
Profit from operations T 12 76,560 1,978,583
Finance costs RS AR 13 (7,595) (5,722)
Share of results of associates Pk} k/NCIE S 22 (1,104) (3,495)
Profit before taxation MR A5 A A 67,861 1,969,366
Taxation BIA 16 (22,026) (9,482)
Profit for the year AN R 45,835 1,959,884
Attributable to: T AL -
Owners of the Company ARREEA 51,284 1,987,176
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M A (5,449) (27,292)
45,835 1,959,884
HK cents HK cents
Bl Al
Earnings per share GREF] 18
Basic R 8.71 337.58
Diluted #E 8.71 337.35

The notes on pages 87 to 217 form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

D
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEaRkEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

2021
—ET-—HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHT
Profit for the year R 45,835 1,959,884
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Hip2mE(FX), M
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HigrpeEFMHBEEBR2EE -
to profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on translation —REBINME AR I MR 2 E R 2R
of financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries 37,920
— Share of other comprehensive income of —DEHE AR 2 2
associates 46
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently EZT&EHHEEIBF7IER -
to profit or loss:
— Fair value changes of financial assets at fair —ZAFESBEMEERETIERZ
value through other comprehensive income WK EE2 AT EEY (486,750) (1,706,606)
Other comprehensive expense for the year, AEFEMEEMAS - EMBRTIE
net of tax (582,440) (1,668,640)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income RNEERE(FX) WaigiE
for the year (536,605) 291,244
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THATEEAFERE (L) W
for the year attributable to: HEE
Owners of the Company RABHEEA (528,438) 330,243
Non-controlling interests FEEAR (8,167) (38,999)
(536,605) 201,244

The notes on pages 87 to 217 form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

D
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Notes
P s

Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment W - RE REE 19
Intangible assets mVEE 20
Goodwill EES 21
Interests in associates NN 22
Financial assets at fair value through BATEERIBRIIECVFEE

profit or loss 23
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEEBEMEEWERTIRL

other comprehensive income MBEE 24
Deferred tax assets RIERIHAE 34
Current assets REEE
Inventories =& 25
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR X 26
Other receivables, deposits and HAbEWRIE - 2e RIFEMARIE

prepayments 27
Advance to associates BT FHE AR 2 FIE 28
Tax recoverable A EIFEIE
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITHES 29
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables JEE SRR 30
Other payables and accruals HAbENFRERETEA 31
Bank borrowings RITIER 32
Lease liabilities HEBR 33
Tax payables FEREIIE
Net current assets REEEFE
Total assets less current liabilities EELABERRBEE

e BRI R

At 31 December 2022
RZEZ=F+=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-—F —_ET-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
540,665 688,265
1,023,494 922,525
3,900 3,900
5,163 6,267
13,136 30,480
536,452 1,006,717
7,584 15,424
2,130,394 2,673,578
249,222 331,394
111,278 168,323
101,833 162,736
- 23,338

189,301 277,529
651,634 963,320
101,301 62,599
462,182 684,670
76,727 162,540
6,831 12,639
3,063 132
650,104 922,580
1,530 40,740
2,131,924 2,714,318
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

At 31 December 2022
RZZEZZF+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—B-— —E=—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P s FHT FAT
Capital and reserves EARHE
Share capital &N 35 29,442 29,442
Reserves & 36 1,894,665 2,435,136
Equity attributable to the owners of AR FEEAEGES
the Company 1,924,107 2,464,578
Non-controlling interests FEPERR M R (81,583) (73,416)
Total equity wRER 1,842,524 2,391,162
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Other payables and accruals HEtEMA BN ETER 31 39,337 40,000
Bank borrowings RITIERK 32 77,363 84,090
Lease liabilities HEBE 33 2,573 7,869
Retirement benefits RIREF 38 96,230 111,970
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEAE 34 73,897 79,227
289,400 323,156
2,131,924 2,714,318

The notes on pages 87 to 217 form an integral part of these consolidated F87EZ5217H v ik ARG A B EHRE 2 — 56
financial statements. @

N

o)

B9 EF2I7TEMEMEMBRERENR T =F=
B=1+BEEESERBEAM  WHTIESAE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 217 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023 and

are signed on its behalf by: HE:
Lee Siu Fong Leelalertsuphakun Wanee
I IR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BF BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
——F+-A=+—BItFE

At 1 January 2022 3
-f-A
Employee share option benfits ~ ESERERT
Share options lapsed! BRiERE
Proft/(Loss) for the year FEERT/(ER)
Other comprehensive expense  ZERERZERR
for the year
- Exchange differences on - BEBRELT
translation of financial BBBRIER
statements of overseas 2R
subsidiaries
~ Fair value changes of financial - #AFEREE
assets at fair value through AEHESISL
other comprehensiveincome ~ Eif§AEZAT
8
Total comprehensive (expense)/  AER2(ER)/
income for the year Dt
2021 fnal dividend paid Bf=E=-558
(Note 17) R (1)
2022 interim dividend paic e
(Note 17) RaHi)
At 31 December 2022 i
+2f=1-H

Share

capital

Bx

HK$'000

T

29,442

Share
premium

hifraR
HK$ 000
TR

720,091

720,001

Merger
difference

A8
HK$ 000
TER

9,200

9,200

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share-based
compensation
reserve
WRBRfZ
NekR
HK$'000
TEn

55,964
12109
(6.281)

61,792

FAARRARE

Other
TESErVes

Rfefife
HK$'000
TER

65,302

65,302

Investments
revaluation
reserve

RRE(HE
HK$ 000
TER

(1,948,815)

(484,499)

)

(2,433314)

Exchange
reserve

it
HK$ 000
TER

22,838

(95,223)

(95.223)

(72:38)

HE_Z

Retained
profits

R

HK$ 000
TER

3,510,556

6,281
51,284

51,284

(18,254)

(5,88)

3,543,979

Sub-total

/J\f-|-
HK$'000
Tin

2,464,578
12,109

51,284

(95.229)

(484.499)

(528,439)

(18,254)

(5,886)

1,924,107

Attributable
tonon-
controlling
[EENY

FERRREE
HK$ 000
TER

(73.416)

(81,583)

Total
it
HK$'000
T#n

2,391,162
12,109

45,835

(95,6%0)

(486,750)

(536,605)

(18,254)

(5,889)

1,842,524
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
:\\/T\ 1;_"_ /\ /\ I%:l% %b %

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

KLAREARE Attrbutable
Share-based Investments tonon-
Share Share Merger  compensation Other  revaluation Exchange Retained controlling

capital premium difference reserve Teserves reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total

o Riie AlEE @W/\Fﬂé EER  REEMER i R it

3 &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
Tin TEn Tin Tin Tin TR Tin Tin Tin TAn TR
At 1 January 2021
29,406 714,813 9,200 40,847 65,228 (254,155) (14843) 1,559,299 2,149,795 (34417 2115318
Employee share option benefits - - - 16,888 - - - - 16,888 - 16,888
Exercise of share options 3% 5218 - (1,771) - - - - 3543 - 3,543
Share of reserve of an associate
- - - - 28 - - - 28 - 8
Profit/(Loss) for the year - - - - - - - 1,987,176 1,987,176 (27292 1,959,884
Other comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year
- Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements of overseas
subsidiaries - - - - - - 37,681 - 37,681 239 37,920
- Share of other comprehensive
income of associates - - - - 4% - - - 46 - 4
— Fair value changes of financial
assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income W%‘SEZ“
59 - = - - - (1,694,660) - - (1,694,660) (11,946) (1,706,606
Total comprehensive income/ ﬁr%ﬂﬁn/
(expense) for the year - - - - 46 (1,694,660) 37,681 1,987,176 330,243 (38,999) 291,244
2020 final dividend paid
(Note 17) - - - - - - - (18,254) (18,254) - (18,254)
2021 interim dividend paid
(Note 17) - - - - - - - (L7,665) (17,665) - (L7,665)
At 31 December 2021
29,442 720,091 9,200 55,964 65,302 (1,048815) 2,838 3,510,556 2,464,578 (73416) 2,391,162

217 B 2 M B A GRS M RE 2 —3

i
i

87

S

The notes on pages 87 to 217 form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

D
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

2022 2021
—=B== %
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT FH&T FHET
Operating activities R
Profit before taxation BB BE A 67,861 1,969,366
Adjustments for: M THIIEE ELE R -
Amortisation of intangible assets m A EEH 20 38,857 29,053
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERREITE
equipment 19 113,642 117,814
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair R ATEEBIERIEZHEEE
value through profit or loss, net ZAFEEEFE 11 46,360 21,827
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net SNEEIE, (Uies) F58 11 5,625 (3,051)
Gain on deemed disposal of interests in 18 A& S & QGRS 2 WS
associates 22(ii) (2,321,626)
Gain on disposal of plant and HE R KRR 2 e FEE
equipment, net 11 (242) (35)
Interest expenses FERX 13 6,619 4,404
Interest income FBUA 10 (2,393) (5,912)
Impairment loss on intangible assets mVEE2RERE 20 2,022 230,509
(Reversal of)/Provision for expected B EE AREEEEGER), S
credit losses on financial assets B 26, 28 (263) 90,284
(Reversal of)/Provision for retirement RKER (=), e
benefits 38 (15,740) 7,970
Provision for slow moving stock TETERE 10,060 35,338
Share-based payments LARR 19 2+ 2 5K 3B 37 12,109 16,888
Share of results of associates DIEERE R RIER 1,104 3,495
Write-off of expired stock M AT E 5,710 13,231
Write-off of intangible assets MiHEA A= 11 = 357
Write-off of plant and equipment SRS K B2 11 662 4,220
Operating cash flows before movements “E&SEHZEERERE
in working capital 291,993 214,132
Decrease in inventories FERD 43,278 43,340
Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables EUE SIRFUFL (350) 39,903 (1,950)
Decrease/(Increase) in other receivables, HAEWIE « ZE RIENFERD
deposits and prepayments (4Z0) 52,448 (10,630)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BEEIRRITFRRD — 24,025
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables FERTE SRS, CFid) 39,482 (11,346)
(Decrease)/Increase in other payables H b sE ke B AR D), En
and accruals (190,116) 21,077
Cash from operations EEEAZRE 276,988 278,648
Interest paid [=ERENESS 39 (6,238) (3,787)
Income tax refund REIFTER 14,083 358
Income tax paid BEASFTSE (1,199) (64,536)
Net cash generated from operating REEREE RS THE
activities 283,634 210,683
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

2022
—m——

- —

HK$’000
FEx

(196,367)

(16,485)

(29,016)

2,393
(14,899)
(2,559)

880

(256,053)

60,000
(151,880)
(12,574)

(24,142)

(128,596)

(101,015)

277,529
12,787

189,301

189,301

Notes
g

Investing activities REFE
Additions of development cost and license 2Rk 2N & 71| & 1 AN

fee 20
Advance to associates BN TEEE N R ZFIE
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value WEZAFEZBEMEEWZETIEZ

through other comprehensive income IS EE 24
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value WL AT EBBIERVEZHEEE

through profit or loss
Decrease in time deposits with initial REABR BB = A 2 & HFERUR

terms of over three months
Total interest received =R ERIESR )
Purchase of plant and equipment EEINETINE'S 19
Payment for construction in progress FEEIRMNR 19
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HEBE R &2 FSRIE

equipment
Subscription of shares of an associate R L R ERG
Net cash used in investing activities REZBHAZREFE
Financing activities AMEEE
New loans FTEER 39
Repayment of loans HEER 39
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEEaE 39
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary BRI TR R BT S AR TS SRR 5

shares upon exercise of share options S5
Dividend paid BEAARE 17
Net cash (used in)/generated from  BWEEBH(FFR) EEZREEHE

financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash RERASEERDFHE

equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—BzBEERELZE

1 January
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  YMEER &8 2 /2
Cash and cash equivalents at R+-A=+—-HBzBELRERLZE

31 December
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BE&RBREZED
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHA
The notes on pages 87 to 217 form an integral part of these consolidated E8TEEE
financial statements. 7 e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are the developing,
manufacturing and sales and marketing of pharmaceutical products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on 1 January
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards; Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”); and Hong Kong (IFRIC)
Interpretations, Hong Kong Interpretations and Hong Kong (SIC)
Interpretations (collectively referred to as “Interpretations”).
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract
Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRSs
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and

performance for the current and prior years and/or disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-—_H#+_A=+—RALFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts?®
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)*
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies*
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction*

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all

the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In additions, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” (“HKFRS
27), leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 167), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 367”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(ECECCET A=t —HILEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirely, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent the interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE

TR+ -fA=+—HItEFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the International Accounting Standards Committee’s
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in September 2010).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date;

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance
with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition
date, except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-
by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
does not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly
of the previously held equity interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see above),
and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement
of financial position at cost less any identified impairment losses.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or group of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of
the CGU (or group of CGUSs) is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the group
of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within a
group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of
HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same
basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but
the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that

the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

Manufacturing of proprietary and generic products
and trading of licensed-in products

Revenue from manufacturing of proprietary and generic products
and trading of licensed-in products are recognised at a point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of the product and accepted by the customers. No right
of return by customers is allowed based on contractual terms.
Revenue is thus recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers and the customers accepted the products. There is
generally only one performance obligation and the consideration
include no variable amount.

Other income

Licensing income is recognised over time on a time proportion basis
throughout the license period as providing the licensees the right to
use the Group’s intellectual property.

Research and development service income is recognised when the
Group renders the services and all the benefits are received and
consumed simultaneously by customer throughout the contract
period. Thus, the Group satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises as over time.

Rental and utilities income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Contract balances

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability
is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

@

(b)

©

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of machinery and equipment and premises that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

- the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received;

- any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

- an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted

for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are

transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line item within which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

(d) Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

(e) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

e

Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

- the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

- the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

®

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

- the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

- the consideration for the leases increases by an amount

commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivables, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

@

(b)

©

@

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Rental income is
included in “other income” in profit or loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong Dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals, the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowings costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost to those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grant will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purposes of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income” in profit or loss.

Retirement benefits

Defined contribution plan

Retirement benefits are provided to eligible staff of the Group. Hong
Kong employees enjoy retirement benefits under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme. The employer’s monthly contribution is
5% of each employee’s monthly salary with maximum amount of
HK$1,500 per month for each employee.

The pension schemes covering all the Group’s employees in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Taiwan are defined
contribution schemes at various funding rates, and are in accordance
with the local practices and regulations.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans (including
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Defined benefit plan

For defined retirement benefits plan, the cost of providing benefits is
determined by the valuation conducted by independent valuer at the
end of the reporting period, amortised over the expected average
remaining working lives of the participating directors.

The retirement benefits recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position represents the cost of providing benefits, based on
the valuation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the service. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.

ire ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—HLFE

TEESBER(E)

SRS &R

EHEERAIZESRERRHREM XN ZE
MZRMRSBER - MEERHNEBRMNERS
X S -IREEM B E LR E LA
ZEFTABEERARZ BRI -

EBERN(MTERFE  FRIBER) HEHR
ERSRBERERAAE -

KRG N ZHBLH
RBHEH ARG X 2R

e 8 K e IR EUIRTS 2 Efh A L 1 AR R 45
HARM XN 2 KA REHAMBRATRAZ 2
FEFE - BREEABRBEE RN XN ZR
HRVEZ FIERNGA BEHRKMFESIT o

TimPrEIEm SRR - ARMEAE AR D
2 IR B BT E < R P ETRBEARSE
B REEERBIRATE  REBHANEK
BERERMERR - MRS Atk (AR X
NZMEFRE)AN - RERSHR - AEESIZR
PrEETSRBIGIHERT BT RE 2 RATR
B 2 bt - BIERBMAA 2 E(WE) N EE
WHERBIAE RFHFX RREER] 2 faT - WEIA
W fn it 2 B & RS 1R ARFE R o

BT - ZHIERNARD SN 2B
FEEER RN ERERMRE - EREER
5P B EIR R i B B R AT - 2 AT
ERRBRO X2 MERHEER S BBERE
REEH °

Annual Report 2022

109



110

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reserve in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax for the year (Continued)

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the
tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most
likely amount or the expected value.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as
described below), are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals and
another portion is held for use in the supply of goods or services
or for administrative purpose. If these portions could be sold
separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), these
portions shall be accounted for separately, if the portions could not
be sold separately, the property is classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other
than construction in progress) less their residual values over their
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

5%-20%
7%-33%
10%-33%
10%-33%

Buildings

Leasehold improvement

Plant and machinery

Office and laboratory equipment and electronic
equipment

Motor vehicles 10%-33%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method

are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of

any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

License fee (intangible assets acquired separately)

License fees are consideration paid for the license contracts and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. License fees with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are ready for intended use over the remaining
license period. The license period ranges from 3 to 10 years, with
certain licenses contain renewal clause.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

License fees with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Development cost (internally-generated intangible
assets — research and development expenditure)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
of licensed-in products or from the development phase of internal
projects is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell
it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation commences when the
development of products completes. Amortisation of development
cost of internal projects is over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
while amortisation of development cost of licensed-in products is on
the same basis as license fees.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGU.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUSs) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on weighted average
method. Cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct cost and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”)) added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI™):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
T CET A=t HIEFE

BHE—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

®

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments/partnership interests designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments/partnership interest at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments/partnership interests, and will be transferred to
retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(iii)  Financial assets as at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

This category contains investments in life insurance policies.
The Group accounts for the investments at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments and other items which were
not financial instruments), deposits, loan receivables, advance to
associates, pledged bank deposits, time deposits and cash and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

®

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0]

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 365 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

For loan commitments, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be
the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan
commitment, the Group considers changes in the risk of a
default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment
relates; for financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
E- B —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 365 days
pass due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

@iv)

()

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
basis:

- Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables and other receivables (excluding prepayment
and other items which were not financial instruments),
deposits, advance to associates and cash and bank
balances;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

- Past-due status;
- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial assets at FVTOCI the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IDIN

iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
T HF+ZA=1+—HIEFE

BE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL on
initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified is held for trading if:

it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing
it in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
For financial liabilities that contain embedded derivatives, such
as derivative financial liabilities, the changes in fair value of the
embedded derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to
be presented in other comprehensive income. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables
(excluding contract liabilities and other tax payable) and accruals,
obligations under license contracts, retirement benefits and bank
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract issued by the Group is initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

- the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

- the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate,
is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly,
such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss
on the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10%.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or
loss at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set

off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand,

and time deposits with banks and other financial institutions, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(ECECCET A=t —HILEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

®

Q)

i)

(@iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

the entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

the entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
Group is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity, and include:

@

(b)

©

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on the historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the CGUs to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the CGUs and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$3,900,000 (net of impairment loss provision HK$2,342,000) (31
December 2021: HK$3,900,000, net of HK$2,342,000 impairment
loss provision). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Determination of impairment loss event and
estimated impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade and
other receivables. The provision rates are based on past-due status
of debtors as groupings of various debtors on this basis demonstrate
similar loss patterns with shared credit risk characteristics. The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered. In addition, trade and other receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amount of trade receivables is HK$111,278,000, net of allowance for
ECL of HK$706,000 (31 December 2021: HK$168,323,000, net of
allowance for ECL of HK$1,046,000).

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s financial assets
(including financial assets at FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI)
are measured at fair value with fair value being determined based
on significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques.
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes
in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair value of these instruments. Details of the
fair value measurement are disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Incidental to its principal activities, the Group acquired certain
license fees and capitalised development cost relating to the
development of pharmaceutical products, since these costs meet
the recognition criteria of HKAS 38. The Group reviews the carrying
amount of all intangible assets held at the end of the reporting
period and HK$2,022,000 (2021: HK$230,509,000) impairment was
considered necessary for these assets.

As at 31 December 2022, in view of impairment indicators, the
Group performed impairment assessment on property, plant
and equipment (excluding right-of-use assets) of approximately
HK$409,600,000 (31 December 2021: HK$532,289,000) and right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$131,065,000 (31 December
2021: HK$155,976,000) respectively. No impairment losses in
respect of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
have been recognised for both years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Depreciation

The Group’s net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
(excluding right-of-use assets) as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$409,600,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$532,289,000). The Group depreciates the property, plant and
equipment, using the straight-line method, at the rates of 5% to
33% per annum, commencing from the date the asset is placed into
productive use. The estimated useful lives and dates that the Group
places the assets into productive use reflect the directors’ estimate
of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-—_H#+_A=+—RALFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group recognises share-based payments expense on options
granted. Share-based payments expense is based on the estimated
fair value of each option at its grant date, the estimation of which
requires the directors to make assumptions about future volatility
of the Group’s stock price, future interest rates and the timing with
respect to exercise of the options. The effects of a change in one
or more of these variables could result in a materially different fair
value. The fair value of the share options granted during the year
was estimated at HK$1,278,000 (2021: HK$4,605,000) and the
amount associated with share-based payments for the year ended
31 December 2022 is HK$12,109,000 (2021: HK$16,888,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number of jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes in various jurisdictions. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash
equivalents) and equity attributable to the owners of the Company
(comprising issued share capital, share premium, reserves and
retained profits).

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at end of the reporting period was as follows:

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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EXERER

83
AR
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REBETERER  DNERTEE 2 HEE
£d
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RS - RERBE (S RS R
ABENERBAN - HEFES - AEE
RARRI T -

]

AEBZ EREBEHERFR(BRERIEE
BEARRS RS EE) RAREEA AEHE
w®(BREEETEA  RMEE  RERREE
) o

BEREBLE

RBERRZEERBLERNOT

2022 2021

—BoF T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Debt (Note a) &% (Mizta) 154,090 246,630
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE (189,301) (277,529)
Net debt BT EE (35,211) (30,899)
Equity (Note b) s (Ff3Eb) 1,924,107 2,464,578
Net debt to equity ratio FAERER R N/ATE N/AZR i

Notes:

a. Debts are defined as bank borrowings as described in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

b. Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the
Company.

FifeE :

a. BB TR BRA WIRR AN 320l 2 RITHE

g
A °

b. BEREARBEE NEGZREEARERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BIEKER

Categories of financial instruments

B%ITRES

2021
B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT

Financial assets BREE
At FVTPL BEATHESEBRIERSR 13,136 30,480
At FVTOCI RAFESBEMEEKETR 536,452 1,006,717
At amortised cost TRBRSE R ANF) AR 341,678 480,857
891,266 1,518,054

Financial liabilities MKEaE
At amortised cost RSP AN AR 774,304 1,036,226

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s corporate treasury function provides services to the
business units, co-ordinates access to domestic and international
financial markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating
to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which
analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks
include market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate
risk, and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks and may
use derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. The
use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies
approved by the board of directors, which provide written principles
on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of
financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and
the investment of excess liquidity. The Group does not enter into or
trade derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in

respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the risks of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and other price. The
Group may enter into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
the exchange rate risk arising on foreign currency purchase.

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign
currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations
arise.

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

MR ERERE (&)

TS EEREE
AEEXBEEcTERBRAIMNEER  FIR K
HiBREE - AREARIINEEHA I
hBEINETEE ZERER
MSREBAGRESMETE -

AEEEHTHARREE LI BLSARY S
W TR -

N R E R

REBHETAINEEEZRS Bt - EXZH)
RRRESE °

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated REBRBEARUINETECEREEREY
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting BEZEEDSBHT
period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

—— —

— =

HK$’000

TERT

Renminbi (“RMB™) AR 253,958
United States Dollars (“US$”)  =7T 60,104
Euro (“EUR”) BT 474
Pound Sterling (“GBP”) £S5 ]
New Taiwan Dollars (“NTD™) etk 1,163
Japanese Yen (“JPY”) =] —

315,702 457,698

&fE

2021 2022 2021
—E-—4F —E__ —T_—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT FExT FHT

276,648

123,132

54,255

402

3,364 19,081

473,518

635,367
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ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HHERERGER)
(CONTINUED)
Market risk management (Continued) TSR EE ()
Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis IMNER R BURE DT
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2021: TRAMKNEERBRAIMNEE BT EER T
5%) increase in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$. The 5% (=T = —F : 5%) ZPRED - WRED
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency MERFEUINEEBE 2 MAREEEEIER - WA
denominated monetary items and adjusted their translation at the SN H IR GBS0 R AR EERE - EH
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive @Eﬁ'\iﬁﬁﬂi%ﬁnzi‘a‘ﬂﬂ 045 5% 20 Al B8 7R 4 F1) sk
number indicates an increase in profit or equity whereas a number R o GREBINE R BT ZERRI5%(Z
in bracket indicates a decrease in profit or equity. For a 5% (2021: ?:*E 5%) Bl e | Sl b e E AR A R 8
5%) decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against HK$, there FEARTE

would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit or equity.

Other comprehensive
Profit or loss income

B Hitn 2 E =S

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E- & B4 —E_—fF %
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET FHIT
RMB AREE (2,919) (4,943) 1,120
Uss$ e (3.338) (6,441) 187 156
EUR BT (2,689) (2,072) — =
NTD ek ) Q) 40 )
JPY H (954) (574) —

(9,902) (14,031)
In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is %T*ﬁfﬁ?’ = @F’z?"ﬁjﬁ%*ﬁilﬁﬁl\lﬁﬁk
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year + TH R AR R BRI A R R4 B

end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk management FREEER

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because certain funds are HTELOFEAEMERN - MASEAESH
borrowed at floating rates. The Group currently does not have any ﬂiﬂﬁxx 7N 5= 830 B I 42 1) 7 A ] ) SR DRI
interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors Ko AT BIEEREHERMEER

interest rate exposure periodically.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Market risk management (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate
liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable-rate borrowings is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank balances are
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company
consider that the exposure of cash flow rate risk from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
decrease/increase by HK$770,000 (2021: decrease/increase by
HK$1,233,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure
to interest rates on its variable-rate borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in financial assets measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI
with the underlying assets are equity securities. The Group’s
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on entities operating in
biopharmaceutical industry which are either listed in Nasdaqg Capital
Market® or Hong Kong, or are unlisted.

Other price risk sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, if the price of the equity
instruments had been 5% (2021: 5%) higher/lower, the Group’s
pre-tax profit would increase by HK$140,000 (2021: HK$268,000)
or decrease by HK$131,000 (2021: HK$262,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, while the other
comprehensive income would increase/decrease by HK$24,284,000
(2021: increase/decrease by HK$47,012,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI.
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ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(ECECCET A=t —HILEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by counterparties is the carrying amount
of each financial asset as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate ECL
provision are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk exposure is spread over a number of
counterparties and customers. Hence, it has no significant
concentration of credit risk by single counterparty. Ongoing credit
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the board of directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework to meet the Group’s short, medium and
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have c RERBIBBEAKREEAEINZ&HEH
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial H\EZWFETZ#EEELEE%/RE%%% o BLE2
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be B EERERGRZBITEFGTARER
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a Repayment on Ex MARBITEREBITHE LR 2 ATREME o HAb
Demand Clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of IPTEM B RE R E A A RERB AL -
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The

maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based

on the agreed repayment dates.

On demand Total
or less than More than undiscounted Carrying
Interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount

RERH RERRE
e DPR—F HB—F RERE RESHE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
% FAT FAET FET FET

At 31 December 2022 i
+=ZRA=+—H

Non-derivative financial 748K EE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ENEZEHK

H A fERIE - 475,243 39,337 514,580 514,580
Leases liabilities HEEE 1.76-4.02 6,956 2,591 9,547 9,404
Bank borrowings RITERK 6.42-6.75 83,045 88,930 171,975 154,090
Retirement benefits RRET 7.71-8.71 - 254,746 254,746 96,230

565,244 385,604 950,848 774,304

At 31 December 2021 R-_ZT—_—F

+=-A=+—H
Non-derivative financial JEfT4£BEEE

liabilities

Trade and other payables ENEZEHK

H At 3008 - 617,118 40,000 657,118 657,118
Leases liabilities HEARE 1.76-6.00 12,977 7,982 20,959 20,508
Bank borrowings RITIER 1.39-3.85 164,745 90,502 255,247 246,630
Retirement benefits ERET 3.55-4.54 - 253,899 253,899 111,970

794,840 392,383 1,187,223 1,036,226
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
E- B —F+ - A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BMKRMREREE)

(CONTINUED)
BT Az FEE

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

AEBEETHBEERYBAGEDREREHR
ZAVERE - TRERNNEETZEUHEE
M BRERATHEZ ER(LERARAZ AER
il b g A BUR) -

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at

RT3 BR2 AFE Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable

144

Financial asset 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
BHER ZECZE+ZA=t-HB ZB--H5+ZA=+-H AVESR GEEHNRIERAHE TERARNBAYE
Financial assets at fair Investments in life Investments in life Level 2 Based on Cash Value. N/A
value through profit or insurance policies insurance policies
loss HK$6,255,000 HK$5,856,000
BRATEEBRBER)R ASRBRREFE AERBRREFE FZR ERR2EME - NEf
ZHMBEE 6,255,000/ 7T 5,856,000/ T
Financial assets at fair Investments in Investments in Level 2 Based on market price. N/A
value through profit or club debenture club debenture
loss HK$3,540,000 HK$3,768,000
RATEEBRBERIR eMesEsRE eMeRESRE FZR ERTIHER NER
ZHBERE 3,540,000/ 7T 3,768,000/ 7T
Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 2 Note a N/A
value through profit or HK$581,000 HK$2,288,000
loss
RATEEBRBERIR I ERRIER I LM RREE EZR fitzra NEA
ZHBERE 581,000/ 7T 2,288,000/ 7T
Financial assets at fair Convertible notes Convertible notes Level 2 Note b N/A
value through profit HK$2,425,000 HK$2,968,000
loss
RATEEBRBRIR ARREE HRRER FZR fitzkb NER
LHBEE 2,425,000/87C 2,968,000/87C
Financial assets at fair Convertible notes Convertible note Level 3 Note ¢ Price-to-sale ratio of 1.92
value through profit loss ~ HK$335,000 HK$15,600,000 (2021: Enterprise value to
sales multiple of 4.14)
(Note f).
Discount rate of 10.39%
(2021: 10.90%) (Note g).
RATEERERS HRRRE HRRER E= Fitzke MiEkL.92(ZT=—4% : mEX
ReM%EE 335,0007%7T 15,600,000/ 4.14) (PizES)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi % B R A A

BHER10.39% (=T =4
10.90%)(fi{zg) «



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BMKRAMREREE)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurements of financial BIBTAZLNFEITE(E)

instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

RT3 BH2 AFE Fair value Valuation technique(s)  Significant unobservable
Financial asset 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
BREE ZECCEYZASY-H ZB--5+ZAZ+-B AVESZR  AERNRIEBARE TEFTRABARE
Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 3 Note h Not applicable
value through profit or HK$Nil HKSNil
loss
BATERBRHIIR MY FLmRREETET FEMAREETAT E=1 Mizth TEm
Financial assets at fair Unlisted warrants Unlisted warrants Level 3 Note a Price-to-sale ratio of 1.92
value through profit or HK$Nil HK$Nil (2021: Enterprise value to
loss sales multiple of 4.14)
(Note f).
BATERBRHIIR MY FLmRREETET FETRREETAT E Mizta MiHRL.2(ZT=—F : mEX
BE 4.14) (Kif)
Financial assets at fair Listed equity securities Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an N/A
value through other (both Hong Kong (both Hong Kong active market.
comprehensive income and overseas) and overseas)
HK$426,357,000 HK$861,305,000
RATEFREMZARRY HRAEH(BEREN) EHRAER(FAREN) F—R RERTIHAIRC BEAME Nam
R HBEE 426,357,000/ T 861,305,000/ T
Financial assets at fair Unlisted partnership Unlisted partnership Level 3 Based on the net asset The fair value of underlying
value through other investment investment value quoted by fund investment portfolio.
comprehensive income HK$50,774,000 HK$66,472,000 administrator. The
net asset value of the
partnership investment
is based on the fair value
of underlying investment
portfolio.
RATEEBHME2ERRY FLMABRE FEMEBRE F=R EREGERAMBEETE  HEREESZATE -
R MBERE 50,774,00077T 66,472,0007%7T BBRE 2 EERETENE
BREEE 2 NTE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l\\/T\

B BHRARNTE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

RTSIBHZAPE

Fair value Valuation technique(s)

6. MEEREEE)

MBI AZ A FEHE(E)

Significant unobservable

Financial asset 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 hierarchy and key input(s) inputs
BREE ZECCESZASY-H ZB--5+ZAZ+-B AVESZR  AERARIEGARE TEFTRABARE
Financial assets at fair Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Income approach, the Long-term revenue growth
value through other securities securities discounted cash flow rate ranging from 3% to
comprehensive income HK$59,321,000 HK$78,940,000 method was used to 251% (2021: 3% to 251%)
capture the present value  (Note d).
of the expected future
economic benefits to be Discount rate of 15.90%
derived from the ownership  (2021: 15.11%) (Note e).
of this investee, based on
an appropriate discount
rate.
BRATEEBHMPERRY FEHRAES I ERAE S = WAE-FERERREREEN RAKGERENT3%Z251%
R HMBEE 59,321,000/57T 78,940,0007%7C RIFEE 2R EAERZR  (ZT—F  3%£251%)
REFHEREG REA  (Md) -
R BN R BE -
AR %15.90% (=T =% :
15.11%) (fitte) «
Financial assets at fair Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Note h Not applicable
value through other securities HK$Nil securities HK$Nil
comprehensive income
BATERBEMZANSY FLETRARSZTET FETRABHFTAT F=R Bitzth NEH
R %ERE
Notes: MIZE -
a. Binomial Model was used by applying discrete timestep lattice model of el —IAAIRAL YA A e R AR A s T A AR RE R

the varying price over time of the underlying financial instruments which
based on the exercise price, time to expiration, risk free rate and stock
price as quoted in active market (for fair value measurement within
Level 2) or as determined by Income approach or Market approach (for
fair value measurement within Level 3).

Partial differential equation, especially the Crank-Nicolson finite-
difference method, was used by applying discount rate, volatility level
and underlying stock price as quoted in active market (for fair value
measurement within Level 2) or as determined by Income approach (for
fair value measurement within Level 3).

Partial differential equation, especially the Crank-Nicolson finite-
difference method, was used by applying discount rate, volatility
level and underlying stock price as determined by Market approach
(2021: Binomial Model was used by applying the discount rate and the
underlying stock price determined by Market Approach).

Long-term revenue growth rate was determined by taking into account
of management’s experience and knowledge of market conditions of
the specific industry. Increase in long-term revenue growth rate would
result in an increase in fair value measurement, and vice versa.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= R ZE i GR A 7

i 78 P 7R 2 Bl Ay ] B [ AR EL (AT R 1B - 5
HARS R~ MRRR AR R IRE RIS AT IR (B8 =
BAFEFEMN S ) RREAEXMSEETE (5
F=HAFEEM ) 2RERER)EM

b. FEB AR R R EKFE KRS AT ®
ZHEBRENREMS HER - £ HRCrank-
NicolsonBRZD/E(RE_RATEFEMS)
SIRRNE (R B =R AT EEM ) EE °

s FBERARRE  REKFRETSEEEL
HEREERBRKS ZEX - LHEZCrank-
NicolsonBREDA(ZF——F : BREA/M
RERIEMIHAEE Z HBRERR ZBEAE

) -

d. RHWSERREEBERE S ETEMTRL
BRAHBETE - RPWESHEER EFHEEH AT
EFHEIEM - RZIR °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

e. Discount rate was estimated by considering the weighted average cost
of capital determined by using a Capital Asset Pricing Model. Decrease
in discount rate would result in an increase in fair value measurement,
and vice versa.

f. Price-to-sale/Enterprise value to sales was estimated by considering
companies operating in similar industries to the investee. Increase in
price-to-sale/enterprise value to sales would result in an increase in fair
value measurements, and vice versa.

g. Discount rate was estimated by considering corporate bonds with similar
grading. Decrease in discount rate would result in an increase in fair
value measurements, and vice versa.

h. The underlying investees are under liquidation and no accounting

records are available for fair value estimation. As a result, the
management assessed the fair value is approximately HK$Nil.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year.

ire ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

MR ERERE (&)

MBI AZ A FEHE(E)

B - ()

e. MBEEEREMASAETEEUET M
TRARAGL - WRETRBERAT Es
B K2 -

f. MR/ TE REEBAEEWIRE HITHERE
ZREMERT - R WER EFRERAFE
FTEEM - RZINR °

g. IR REE BRI RIS 2 ABEREF - BIREK
THAEEH AT ETEEMN R2TR -

h. HREBRREDEEEED  RESHIAR
HEEATE - At - EEEFEEATFENS
TR -

RAEE » E—REE R HIWEEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BKREMERE(E)
(CONTINUED)

F=RAFETBZHE

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements

Financial assets

BBEE
At FVTOCI — At FVTOCI —
At FVTPL — At FVTPL — Unlisted Unlisted
Unlisted Convertible equity partnership
warrants notes securities investment
RAFEEB BAFEER BAFEER
BRI BOTEEB Ht2®E Hit2|E
¥t BEIIER- Wz 518 — Wz 518k -
AR ARREE FLERRAES FLHEBRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT FAT FAT
Year ended 31 December EHE-ZT-—&+=§
2022 =t-HLEFE
Opening balance IR A ER 15,600
Additions i1 29,016
Fair value losses: NTEEE
— in profit or loss —RE& (44,281)
— in other comprehensive — R E 2 E
income (19,619)
Closing balance g g 59,321
Year ended 31 December EHZE-FT——F+=-§
2021 =t—HLFE
Opening balance RIS 3,143 2,239 87,199 82,098
Additions g - 17,643 114 10,613
Conversion i - (3,386) 3,386 -
Fair value losses: NERSE :
— in profit or loss —RE%& (3,143) (896) = =
— in other comprehensive —RE 2R
income - - (11,759) (26,239)
Closing balance R g = 15,600 78,940 66,472

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss:

— there are HK$44,281,000 loss (2021: HK$4,039,000 loss)
related to financial assets at FVTPL recognised under “other

gains and losses, net”.

Included in other comprehensive income there is HK$51,802,000
loss (2021: HK$37,998,000 loss) related to unlisted equity securities
and unlisted partnership investment classified as financial assets at
FVTOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is reported as

changes of “investments revaluation reserve”.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

stABES 2 FANE L EIRRE -

= RIEMKERERFEIBTEREH
BEAFEEBESIERZVEEER
44,281,000 T BIE (=T = — F :
4,039,000/8 TE1E) °

AT E fih 2 T ik 0 ER A R 5 BASR 35 A I A IR
AFEEREMEENKZINEZMBEES
B LITTRAZAHARIELTEEREER
£ %8 /451,802,000 TEEB(=ZZT = —F :
37,998,000 TE1E) « WiEARIREE G HE]

SH2 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for
goods sold by the Group to outside customers during the year which
is recognised at a point in time.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chairman of the Company, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on the
types of goods delivered.

During the year, the Group commenced the business in generic
products after obtaining the approval for manufacturing and
marketing the generic products from the relevant authority, and it
has been aggregated into the proprietary segments for reporting.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:

Proprietary and generic
products

— Manufacturing and sales of
self-developed and generic
pharmaceutical products

Licensed-in products — Trading of licensed-in pharmaceutical
products

ire ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

Wy g8

Y an HE A 2 (A s R B RERR 2 F A AN B R S D3
FPHEE MO BEEGRIEFR -

RARRERE(ANEEEERKE) EMAE OB
BERMEDBRAZERUERARZNER

RAEREA - AEERESARE R AERER
BHMHERRFRMBRERES  LH2WRE
M EEAZRDED

AERmE  REFBYBHRERERESSE - K&
BRI 2HmAEMT

B R R —BBERHE BT E RS
FEfmR o
SIEEM — BRI ER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.
(CONTINUED)

7 RPER ()

b Y E T

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by T RIZFZ2F D BE D 2 AEBR G R EES
reportable segments: T

Segment revenue and results

Proprietary and
generic products Licensed-in products Consolidated

ERRGFRER SIEEmR o)

2022 2021 2022 2021 2021
CECCF ekt T —E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FHAT TERT FAT TR TAT

Segment revenue 2 499,811 733,337 749,135 [MBPREREEN 1,266,157
Segment operating results 2 Zf#& & E4E 167,329 220,706 91,319 95,065 258,648 315,771
Research and development 5t & aﬁ%‘%@%

expenses (GERNEN]  (82,932) QNEUENAED] (160,003) IELERLESD)]Y  (243,835)
Impairment of intangible B EERE

assets (43,523) ()] (186,936) [eXor)]  (230,509)
Write-off of intangible MHETEE

assets — (357) - (357)
Segment results DEEE 102,155 (CRAVHY  (252,824) (158,930)

Gain on deemed disposal 18 AHEBE NG

of interest in associates Rz W

(Note 22(ii)) (MzE22(ii)) 2,321,626
Unallocated income RABEBA 14,326
Unallocated expenses AAEER (198,439)
Profit from operations eyl 1,978,583
Finance costs B (5,722)
Profit before share of DIREEE AR EE A

results of associates F 1,972,861
Share of results of AEEE A RIEE

associates (3,495)
Profit before taxation BRAT AT A 1,969,366
Taxation HiIE (9,482)
Profit for the year REFHH 1,959,884

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the
year (2021: Nil).

150 Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A Z4E32 A% A R A &)

tﬁ(ziﬁZ“*BH&thE9\\*5@#245(@ =7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results represents
the profit earned by/loss from each segment without allocation
of central administration costs including directors’ emoluments,
certain transactions with associates, gain on deem disposal of
associates, fair value changes of certain financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, foreign exchange gain/loss, interest
income, finance costs, share of results of associates, and income tax
expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of
segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
reportable segments:

Proprietary and
generic products

ERRGRER

2022 2021
—E-— —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHER FHT

Segment assets AEEE 726,742
Unallocated assets ROBLEE

Total assets BERE

Segment liabilities AEEE

Unallocated liabilities ROERE

Total liabilities BEEE

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
interests in associates, deferred tax assets, certain right-of-use
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, balances with associates, tax recoverable and cash
and bank balances. Goodwill is allocated to segment of
proprietary and generic products; and

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
bank borrowings, tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and
retirement benefits.

Licensed-in products

1,311,699

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZT - —F+-A=1+—HIFE

7 RPER ()

7B R EAE ()

EEN R SRR E AR E 2 S EEAR -
DEEBIBERDEFRITBRAA(BIEESH
T BEERRZETRS BRRHEETHZ

AEZWE - BAFEEBEGRIRZETHH
I,EZ NFEEE - SMNEWE BB FBHK

- ISR - DIEME R R R B RPIEBIRF)
Z’\%iRT%%a‘BFﬁSJﬁHXZm?‘ SERZEE - Ut
TR BEERRE 2MAR S LLERRFHED
BRBEZIA -

THEEREE

T REAZBL B2 AREEEREES

#r

Consolidated

SIEEmR o)

2022 2021 2022 2021
gz
HK$’000

T —E-— B
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FAT FTEr FAT

1,509,248 prNekicRZY AN
743,587

2,393,527
1,243,371

paygvaopicll 3,636,898

574,211 574,762

364,742

807,776
437,960

eCicRel0 Y 1,245,736

RERDHFRALRDHBEOEER :

- BREZEARZERD  BERREE -
TEREEE  BATEBBES EIJEEZ
MBEE - BAFEEBEMEMEIET
R EE  EEEREZHEER - AT
B EARRE RRITERIN - AEERE
BOMERLENH - HEDHEEEF R
MHERDE + R

- B%iﬁfﬂji*” FEfI R - LL%R’IEQ%&
BRI - FAEREREDEESLEDE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Other segment information (included in

the measure of segment profit or loss or
segment assets or regularly provided to

the chief operating decision maker)

Proprietary and
generic products
ERNRGHER

2022 2021
—g-= —F——#

— =

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET

Depreciation of property, — #% « & L& &

plant and equipment (BEERELSE)
(including right-of-use neE
assets)

Amortisation of intangible /& E#
assets

Additions to non-current ~ FRFIEIEREEE
assets (Property, plant (W% - BE R
and equipment, and ARERAE)
intangible assets) during
the year

Impairment of intangible ~ EFEERE
assets

Write-off of intangible MiHEmpAE
assets

104,152

43,523

357

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, more than
90% of the Group’s revenue was derived from activities conducted
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), therefore no
geographical information on revenue is presented.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
geographical markets:

The PRC
HE

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FHAIT

Total assets BERE ANGIRNE 2,002,754
Total liabilities BELE 406,734 532,981

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

155,238

2,022

7 RPER ()

Bt 7 EFE# (AR a1 B 7 R
N7 BEENER 0T BLAE R
REEHR)

Licensed-in products Consolidated

SEEmR Ee)

2022 2021 2022 2021
—g-= —E— [t T

— =

HK$’000 HK$'000 [EIEH0l00] HK$'000
TEx TAT TERr TAET

— =

113,642 117,814

38,857 29,053

282,227 216,250 386,379

186,986 2,022 230,509

357

HEEF

REE-—ZF_—FRk_FT_—F+_A=t—8°
IEFE - REEBI0% IR B R E AR
B ([ )T 2 2575 Bt I S 2 51U sk b s
Ak e

T RiRtRmSEI s 2 ARBEERBEIN :

Hong Kong and others Total

EERH M Mgt

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-— T —E-C —T-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

TiER FAT TER FHAT

PO SMNECEN 1,634,144 WlwgrNoricl 3,636,898
532,770 712,755 ISicRS0 1,245,736




9.

10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS ERR M

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR 9.
CUSTOMERS

For both the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no single
customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

FREEFEFZER

HE_Z-—_FR-_FT-_—F+-A=+—HIt
MEFE  HEE RSP ANEEBREZ10%

HApWg A

2022
—E-_F
HK$’000
FHET

2,393

FIALE -
OTHER INCOME 10.
Interest income on: THEE 2 FEWA -
Bank and pledged bank deposits RITREEMRITIFR
Financial assets at fair value through BATESRIEBRYIRECVIEEE
profit or loss
Advance to associates B THEE AR 2 FIE
Total interest income AR ON L
Government and development grants BT R B
Licensing income FHWA
Rental and utilities income fie RAHERBHA
Research and development service income 5t &R UA
Sundry income FEEMA

The Group received the development grants from the local
government as recognition of the Group’s performance and
development of high-technology pharmaceutical products.

During the year 2022, the Group recognised government grants of
approximately HK$1,152,000 from Employment Support Scheme
provided by Hong Kong government in respect of COVID-19-related
subsidies.

2021
T —F
HK$’000
FAT

2,461

117
3,334

5,912
18,156
3,443
11,798
60,274
2,740

102,323

AEEWRRI T HRA AR AEERERRAES

MR BRI T 2 B

R-B-_FER - NEERERE AR EE
#1,152,000/57C 2 BT B © & MBIREEK

FFRLCOVID-194a R AL IR -
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iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

11. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

11. Ht B R ESERE

2022
—EBE-_—F
HK$’000
FET

Fair value loss in respect of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, net

Gain on deemed disposal of interests in
associates (Note 22(ii))

Gain on disposal of plant and
equipment, net

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
intangible assets

Write-off of property, plant and equipment

Write-off of intangible assets

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net

EHRAHEEBRRIIRZMBEEZ

NFERRFE

BRHEE RS K

(MEE22(ii))
RERE Rz ST

ERBLEEZ CHERBERRE

SNEE (518, ead FER

(46,360)

242

(2,022)
(662)

(5,625)

(54,427)

12.

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging:

EERA

RN IR TFRIA

12.

2022
—EB-—F
HK$’000
FHERT

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets)

Amortisation of intangible assets (included
in cost of sales)

W - BERRE(BEEREEE)NE

B AEREGIABERSE)

113,642

38,857

152,499

Total depreciation and amortisation ERE G
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREN BN

Staff costs BIRKA
Share-based payments LARR 19 24 2 5K 3B
Research and development costs MR RAZEER

Cost of inventories charged to profit or loss BBz 2 FERA

1,366
311,040
12,109
168,885
410,501

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

2021
T4
HK$’000
FHET

(21,827)

2,321,626

35

(230,509)

(4,220)

(357)
3,051

2,067,799

2021
B
HK$'000
FHT

117,814

29,053
146,867

1,312
412,452
16,888
243,835
428,205



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

13. FINANCE COSTS 13. B R A
2022 2021
—E-—F —T-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Interest expenses on: MUATEBEZ A S
Bank borrowings SRITIER 6,238 3,787
Lease liabilities (effective) HEAEER) 381 617
Total interest expenses for financial liabilities 17 3FD 18 AL AT EFEBEZHIE 2 M5
not classified as FVTPL BEZMEMT@eE 6,619 4,404
Bank charges RITEA 976 1,318
7,595 5,722
14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 14. EERBESTHRAEME
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed RIFBEA LR RARMEHIEEEE R RS
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO is as follows: THRABRAFE ZHMAT -

Salaries, Employer's Equity-
allowances, contributions settled 2022
and other Management  to pension Retirement  share option Total
Fees remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense  emoluments
Be BHR Rty WhESE  Z8cF
¢ M EBEA £ g v BRERX i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR ThR TR ThR ThR TR ThR ThR

Executive Directors #1783
Lee Siu Fong F1% 7,332 7,332 (5,230) 2,990 5,092
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee Bl 7,888 7,888 (3,800) 2912 7,000
Non-executive Directors FufTEs
Li Xiaoyi 3R 1,200 1,518 (6,710) 2,416 (2,776)
James Charles Gale (Note iii) James Charles Gale

(it 300 300

Independent Non-executive ~ BUHHTES

Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob BRI 216 216
Lam Yat Cheong izE 216 216
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl BHg - 216 - 216
Total 3 16,420 17,686 (15,740) 10,264
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
(ECECCET A=t —HILEFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

i Re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director with
effect from 29 April 2021.

ii. Resigned with effect from 30 June 2021.

iii. Appointed with effect from 2 January 2022.

The directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments shown above were
for their service in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

No directors of the Company waived any emoluments for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: One of the directors of the
Company waived emoluments HK$2,416,000).

Certain directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments
which are determined based on a percentage of the Group’s profit
after tax for the year.

During the year, certain directors were granted share options in
respect of their services to the Group under the share option scheme
of the Company. Details of the share options scheme are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi % B R A A

, - =
14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 14. EERESTHRAEME (B)
EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
Salaries, Employer's
allowances, contributions Equity-settled 2021
and other  Management to pension Retirement  share option Total
Fees  remuneration bonus schemes Sub-total benefits expense  emoluments
g4 2R : (gLt 5--F
we EAEH BEER ( It IR iE ik
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Tir ThR TiEn Tir ThR Tin T ThR
Executive Directors 4gs
Lee Siu Fong 3 - 5,468 23,850 12 29,330 4720 3,664 37,714
Leelalertsuphakun Waneg E3e) - 5913 25,832 - 31,745 4,580 3,585 39,910
Non-executive Directors FafEs
Li Xiaoyi (Note i) IR (HH) 200 100 18,777 2 12,079 (1,330) 3,454 14,203
Simon Miles Ball (Note ii) Simaon Miles Ball(f3Fii) 150 - - - 150 - - 150
Independent Non-executive ~ BUHTEES
Directors
Chan Yau Ching, Bob RRE 216 - - - 216 - - 216
Lam Yat Cheong #B& 216 - - - 216 - - 216
Tsim Wah Keung, Karl R 26 - - - 216 - - 26
Total &3t 998 11,481 61,459 14 73,952 7970 10,703 92,625
Notes: 5T -

i. B -—FMA-+HhAREHRPTESALHE
BITES -

ii. BE-ZE-—F R A=+HEEHE -

i BT —F—A-HREZ(T -

tY%ﬁﬁZ%?&?ﬁﬁﬂ(}\E@ﬂéEﬁ% N
AR RAEEEREHA M2 RGBS

%i T_—F+-A=+—HIEFE TEX
ARIEFHREAAHE(ZT=—F : AQRIEAF
—(IEENE2,416,000E THE) -

ARBETEETFRBBEAEEARFERBHE
M B DAt E 2 TEAT

NAEER  ETEFRREALKERHKZR
TSR RIRB A AT 81 IR T R A - RRRSAE R
B2 FHEH R A MR MR -
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115,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Transactions, arrangements or contracts
in which directors of the Company have
material interests

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director
of the Company had material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2021:
Nil).

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors of the
Company or body corporate controlled by such directors, or entities
connected with such directors, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2021: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included two (2021: three) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 14 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining three (2021: two) highest paid individuals
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

14.

1L,

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—HLFE

EENRESTHAEME (&)

ERAEERBEEAERZX
£ ZHHAEH

AAREFFRRANEE RTAER - ADAsE
MEBARME L AMARARESEEREER
HAEAEARRCEARS  WHHAH(ZE
——F |

REMX S

RAFEFERGAFEEANTMER - MEUERD
REE IRSFESEHZEAERREZTE
EEMEHM I BERASBZACZER  EERREM
RP(ZTEZ—F: &)

TEBREHAL
REEER  AREEEEBHALED - Mo

(Z2——%: =ZR)REF  EFHEHNLEX
fifE14 - ZEFALTHEB=R(ZF_—4F:

Salaries and other benefits e RHE AR
Employer’s contributions to pension schemes E/K&FTE]EE R
Equity-settled share option expense VARG HE A5 L R AR FA 2

MB) AT IERARIESSZEITEAR @ BSF
ZEHAT ¢
2022 2021
—EC-C—F —T_—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
6,423 3,917
272 189
1,369 1,722
8,064 5,828
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15. AE&EEFHAL(E)

(CONTINUED)
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the directors HERHAT(EIFEEARTES) 2HMN T 548
of the Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is BlZ NEIAT
as follows:
2022 2021
ot St - T —fF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AE
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 £ 2,500,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001&7%3,000,00075 T — 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T £3,500,000/& T 1 1
2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five RAFER  NEBEWENS T RAE &S H AL
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the SIERBEEMARES - s IIARZ 22E) =
Group or as compensation for loss of office. BEERAHIE -
16. TAXATION 16. #i1E
2022 2021
—E-—F —_T_—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHT
Current tax BREATR 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBFEE 13,443 11,177
PRC Enterprise Income Tax BB EASH = =
13,443 11,177
(Over)/under provision in prior years BEFEGRERE) BETR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEH (G)) 161
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEI RS - (284)
(58) (123)
Deferred tax RIERIIE
Origination/(reversal) of temporary B /()T =58 (i5E34)
differences (Note 34) (1,572)
9,482
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. Profits of other group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rates of the
PRC subsidiaries range from 15% to 25% (2021: 15% to 25%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

16. HiE (&)

BIBEFBFEH 2 FEHMES - AERERE
EEE2H BB ME128.2500 2 B R ME - M
2ABBTTU LB B216.5% 2 B REUF - T
HEFERMMAST 2 EEEEE S igEE
1£16.5% 2 Hi— T REH -

REFRCEMSTE(LERERE]) RIEE
FRBREERGS - FEMNBARZHENT
15%%E25%(—F = —14F : 15%%25%) ©

PRt R A 2 B W RS 23R
B -

AEEZBRAXHEGEBERRAZREANE T
HERMT

2022 2021
—EF-—— —T-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHT

Profit before taxation B0 Al Al 67,861 1,969,366
Notional tax at the rates applicable to REANAREEE s RETE 2

results in regions concern HEHE 7,607 327,686
Tax effect of share of results of associates DL E RN RIEB BB E 182 577
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax FLE A & A TR S 2 B w2

purpose 15,458 46,027
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax PRIEM 5 BERRA 2 B

purpose (1,211) (382,665)
Over provision in prior years BT FE R (G)) (123)
Tax effect on temporary differences not REREREE MG E

recognised (5,529) 13,638
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR EE B2 RS E 23,897 41,631
Tax effect of preferential tax allowance BENREEHBTE (13,867) (26,023)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not A SR ARER 2 B I E 1R

recognised (4,453) (11,266)
Tax charge for the year KEEZFHBESH 22,026 9,482

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$912 million (2021: HK$784 million)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the estimated tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

RZT-_—F+-A=+—8  AEBEEFHE
FAZAEAEREEREN 2 HREBEN A
QI2EEB L (ZE_—F : 784BEBIL) - #
AR BETE RS SR F 2 SRR+ B bt 3 A B A A B
TESIBHERIEETIEEE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

17. DIVIDEND

17. BE

2022 2021
—E-— T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the FRERAED IR AR R L BRARR 2
Company recognised as distribution during A2
the year:
2022 interim — HK$0.010 (2021: 2021 —Z - Fh RS —-8K0.0108 T
interim dividend HK$0.030) per share (ZF=—F: ZZ—FFHRE
0.030/87T) 17,665
2021 final — HK$0.031 (2021: 2020 B -FRERE-FR0.031E T
final dividend HK$0.031) per share (ZB=—F: —T-TERHRE
0.031%7T) 18,254
35,919

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of HK1.0 cent
per share (2021: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
December 2021 of HK3.1 cents per share), in an aggregate amount
of HK$5,888,000 (2021: HK$18,254,000) has been proposed by
the directors and is subject to approval by shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, and is not included as dividend
payables in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

NEREHRE  EFERRNBE_T__F
TZRA=+— Eiifzifi/ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁl.o/ﬁm

(ZE=_—F:HE-_T-_—F+-_A=+—A8HL
EEZX/H\HHX@\HX:;.]./%MJ) ' #8%85,888,000
BT (ZZT = —4 : 18,254,000/ 7T) * MHBRF

BRREERFIRFAS LHETTAEE - Bk
BRETEHAE_—F+_A=+—BHEH
BIRRERA 2 AR ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

18. EREF|

FIBIREH -

Earnings:

Net profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share

P
R EEREAREERNTE ZARF
BB AR

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of basic earnings
per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Options

A -
ST E AR & 2 WBR
Fiag

BEEETRRZTE
f R

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purposes of diluted
earnings per share

SEHIREEETTE 2 X BRIE
FHB

RAREAARGEERERNREERNTDERT

2022 2021
—EBoC—F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

1,987,176

2022 2021

—E-—F —T-—%

’000 Share(s) ’000 Share(s)
T AR T

588,649

398

588,835 589,047

Annual Report 2022

161



162

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e WIS ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. W% - BERRE

Office and
laboratory
equipment
Leasehold Leased Leasehold Plant and and electronic Construction
Buildings land premises improvement machinery equipment Motor vehicles in progress Total
BOZRWAK
53 EELH LY U HERAS RERETHE it} FRIR it
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tin ThR Thn Thn ThR Thn Thn ThR
CosT
At 1 January 2021 258,495 152,444 33311 65,907 358,122 150549 13193 52,184 1,084,205
Exchange rate adjustments 1217 4,348 9 1821 10729 3941 a1 14711 30,601
Reclassification (6,026) - - 6,026 = s = s =
Additions - - 15,654 8,605 21736 6,813 - 1542 66,350
Transfer in/(out) - - - 2193 2,34 = = (4.421) =
Disposals - - - - - - (295) - (295)
Write-off (%) - (8,507) (3,557) (203) (312) - (4.200) (16,936)
Modifcation of lease term - - (56) - - - - - (56)
At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022 259,650 156,792 41,19 80,99 398,618 160,931 13115 52,569 1,163,869
Exchange rate adjustments (27,360) (12,661) (2,165) (5,797) (28570) (11,904) (621) (1,581) (90,659)
Additions & - - 2425 718 9,99 425 - 2559 19,883
Transfer in/(out) &)/(t) - - - 7119 2,63 5132 - (14,887) -
Disposals £ - - - - (@) (2.952) - - (2.979)
Write-off - - (11,974) (7.290) (1,467) (656) - (@) (21429
Modification of lease term - - (569) - - - - = (569)
At 31 December 2022 232,290 144,131 28916 75,745 381,119 154,803 1249 33618 1,068,116
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 January 2021 R-3--%-A-A 62,008 17326 17,236 17,062 149,664 86,612 9,745 - 359,653
Exchange rate adjustments B2 1,987 543 a1 474 5,018 2,509 26 - 11,148
Reclassification & (842) - - 842 - - - - -
Charge for the year KEERE 14729 3,087 11,919 13,018 47469 25,765 921 - 117,814
Eliminated upon disposal i - - - - - - (2%5) - (2%)
Eliminated upon write-off 3 (%) - (8,507) (3,557) (188) (368) - - (12,716)
At31December 2020and  A=F=—F+ZA=t-ER
1 January 2022 i 71,786 20956 21,059 2739 201,963 114518 10583 - 475,604
Exchange rate adjustments B2 (6,633) (wm (1,349) (1,954) (17,6%) (8670) (609) - (33,687)
Charge for the year KEERE 12,318 2,067 12,100 16,386 1782 20,407 682 - 113,642
Eliminated upon disposal i = = - - (6) (2,335) - - (2,342)
Eliminated upon write-off stk - - (11,974) (7,290 (838) (615) - - (20,767)
At 31 December 2022 0SS i 83471 2,146 19,836 35,881 232,156 123,305 10,656 - 527 451
CARRYING AMOUNTS BESE
At 31 December 2022 RZBo-F+2f=t-H 148,819 121,985 9,080 39,864 148,963 31498 1,838 33618 540,665
At 31 December 2021 R-B--F+2A=t-A 181,864 135,836 20,40 52,256 196,655 46,413 2532 52,569 688,265
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. W% - BEKRZE(E)
(CONTINUED)

The leasehold land, which is held under medium-term lease, and HETH(APBHASHEAFE) MEFARFPE -
buildings are situated in the PRC.

The Group as lessee AEBERBABA

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant FRAEEEGIAYE - BRERRE)
and equipment)

The analysis of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as RAAEERRSEREEEZOTHT ¢
follows:

2022 2021

—EB-—F —T-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Leasehold land HELH 121,985 135,836
Leased premises HEYHE 9,080 20,140

131,065 155,976

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in FRATERER2HEZ X HER ST :
profit or loss is as follows:

2022 2021
—=E== — T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets RIAEERMNEI D 2 ERAREERE
by class of underlying assets: B -
Leasehold land Gish=gmb: ) 3,087
Leased premises HEWZE 11,919
15,006
Expense relating to short-term leases and HESHEEAERAERET—EAR
other leases with lease terms end within FHEz E A E R EMmESEE . B
12 months from date of initial application 1,651
Total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was approximately Tz HERSRLBENAR
HK$13,682,000 (2021: approximately HK$13,056,000). 13,682,000/ 7T (=Z = —4 : 413,056,000
BIT) °
Total additions to right-of-use assets in 2022 was approximately ZE - S AR ERTEL2,425,000%
HK$2,425,000 (2021: HK$15,654,000). TL(ZZF=——% : 15,654,000 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant
and equipment) (Continued)

For both years 2022 and 2021, the Group leases various offices,
warehouses and motor vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 2 years to 5 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several leasehold land where its
manufacturing facilities and office buildings are primarily located.
The Group is the registered owner of these leasehold land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these leasehold land.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased
premises and equipment.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi % B R A A

19. M2 - WEK&E (&)

EEEEREBA (E)

FREEEGIAYE  BERRHE)
(#])

RIZBZZFRIZFZ—FHEFE - A5EH
EZEMAE - BERAEELSECZA - HES
#2 B HiR A2F E5F ©

HEMDRENEEGERETE - ERESETR
IR BAEN - AEEREEAEHRTETA
BUE 2 HIRE - HASHNCEEWEES LT 58
BN T 2 HAPR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ire ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—HLFE

20. B EE

License Development
fee cost Total
gH%E BB HRA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAT AT
COST
At 1 January 2021 E - —%—-H—H 302,680 573,400 876,080
Exchange rate adjustments ® 3,470 16,551 20,021
Additions 100,717 219,312 320,029
Write-off = (1,072) (1,072)
At 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—-+ZA=+—-HR
1 January 2022 —T--%—-HF—H 406,867 808,191 1,215,058
Exchange rate adjustments ExFE (10,102) (57,384) (67,486)
Additions WE 13,650 182,717 196,367
Write-off k| (43,046) (4,685) (47,731)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ%+=-R=+—H 367,369 928,839 1,296,208
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT BERAE
At 1 January 2021 RZZEZ—F—f—H 16,215 14,911 31,126
Exchange rate adjustments EREE 347 2,213 2,560
Charge for the year REERE 9,154 19,899 29,053
Eliminated upon write-off sk EH = (715) (715)
Impairment provision for the year RERRERE 78,888 151,621 230,509
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-Z-_—F+-A=1+—AK
—E--F—-f—H 104,604 187,929 292,533
Exchange rate adjustments EXRE (1,845) (11,122) (12,967)
Charge for the year KFERRE 11,881 26,976 38,857
Eliminated upon write-off MisHEL8H (43,046) (4,685) (47,731)
Impairment provision for the year AFERERRE 2,022 - 2,022
At 31 December 2022 R-Z-_—%#+-A=+—H 73,616 199,098 272,714
CARRYING AMOUNTS BEEH
At 31 December 2022 RZE__F+ZA=+-H 293,753 729,741 1,023,494
At 31 December 2021 RZZE=—%+ZA=1+—H 302,263 620,262 922,525

Included in HK$1,023,494,000 of intangible assets, there was
no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (2021: Nil), and
HK$746,040,000 (31 December 2021: HK$723,816,000) of
intangible assets are not yet available for use as at 31 December
2022.

£ 5%01,023,494,0008 T 2 EFEEE T - #
EATREAEAFHIEREE(ZS - —F :
) » 746,040,000 (= =—F+=A
=+—H : 723,816,000/ 70) B EER =T
ZZE+-A=t+—HERAHER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE—

20.

E__F+-A=1+—HLLFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Impairment of intangible assets

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the management of the
Company has conducted a review of its intangible assets portfolio
and concluded there is impairment of HK$2,022,000 provision in
respect of a license under development.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the management of the
Company has conducted a review of its intangible assets portfolio.
After considering the continuous reforms of drug pricing mechanisms
by the Chinese authority and the tight competition for drugs which
are covered by the Volume-Based Procurement, the Group has
made a full impairment of HK$40,195,000 (comprising of license fee
HK$35,816,000 and development cost HK$4,379,000) on Rasilez®, a
launched oral antihypertensive licensed-in product of the Group.

In additions, the management of the Company has implemented
tight measure on resource allocation for its existing research and
development portfolio with more focus will be given to prioritised
projects, and decided to postpone a total of 14 development
programmes. A total of HK$190,314,000 impairment provision
(comprising of license fee HK$43,072,000 and development costs
HK$147,242,000) was made.

Development programme

The Group has over 40 early- to late-stage development in various
therapeutics areas. Key development programme is set out below:

1. Anfibatide

Anfibatide is a new molecular entity discovered and
developed by the Group. It is a first-in-class platelet
GPlba receptor antagonist that has fast onset, potent, and
reversible antithrombotic effect among healthy subjects
without impairing coagulation or prolonging bleeding time.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, Anfibatide was not
ready for sales and the Group continues the underlying
research and development activities. As such, it is subject
to annual impairment test based on its recoverable amount.
Management determined the recoverable amount of this asset
using the value in use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on management’s expectations of
timing of commercialisation, royalty rate and success rate of
commercialisation over useful life of Anfibatide. The valuation
is considered to be level 3 in the fair value measurement
hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the valuation.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= R ZE i GR A 7

20.

BREEGA)
B EEBE

REBEZZ-__F+_A=+—HLFE &A1
RIEEECEMAQRZEREEMRSE  YRA

Ant— IR E P EFFHERERE2,022,000/8
T o
REBE-Z-_—F+_A=+—HLFE &2

RIEREECEMARRZENEEMES - RERE
FEE B Y EEET 2 FHERE  URER
EHREERENMBEZERBETFAR  A£LED
MR BI)(AEECHEL 2 A Rits mE3|
EE ) FHE 2 BURE40,195,0008 T(BIEE
H)%# 35,816,000 7T M F 8 6K 244,379,000
JT) °

AN ARRERECAARRZRAEMER
FEEEHITERER IR  BERE
KIEE  WRTEHTEH14BREIEE © EH

4 190,314,000 TR EREE(RIEEF 2
43,072,000 7 7T & 3% i 28 147,242,000 /5
JT) °

FREH

REEEN RV BRI IS B 40185 BN F
MR AERERZIAR - T2RBEBEHIIM
T

1. ZRIFEK

ZIFBRATREERNRARE N D TE
8 EEHAIM/)RGPIbaX 8 HH A -
EREZAEDABRELY - BRRA
HZIMEER  TEEFTRMDEERT

Eﬂjﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁsﬁ ° FQ\:%**E&*%**EE
ToAS+—B - IR

& MASEERETHRRRLRAEE
B o FEit - ZIFBIRAERHE AN E S
ETFRERENR - EEEERCRER
AEREEZEAEZAKNEEE - b
HOARRENERBHRIEFMRERM
FHAZEELRER - ERERREEL

BN R Z BB 2 RS RIER - ERME
BEfEATTHEEHAZE - GEREAR

FEFESHRZE=H -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Development programme (Continued)

1.

Anfibatide (Continued)

With the assistance of an external appraiser, management
determined the recoverable amount of Anfibatide based on the
following approach and the key assumptions:

- Anfibatide will be launched in year 2030 (2021: year
2025) based on the research and development process
and experience of the approval process;

- The estimated royalty rate by reference to general
pharmaceutical market;

- The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the relevant products; and

- The expected success rate of commercialisation by
reference to practices of pharmaceutical industries,
development of technologies and related regulations
from administrations.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

20. %

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE

BILEE (&)

FRER (&)

1.

LB (E)
ESNBSHER AN T - EIEEER AT
$ R E BRREERIEM 2 TS -

. BERAE AR EERELBREZ
B8 REBMBR _F=TFE
(_*_—E TECRFE)ES

. SRBEEEZTHSHZ G TR
. PR Z BRI R BBIAT » A R R BR
HMERBRIHERR R

c DIRELED] - FRINER LB
Eﬁ(?ﬁ%ﬁ Sz BRI E -

KRB —_FR_T - —FF+_A=+—
Bt EATERAZEEZ/EOT ¢

2022 2021
ot St - —E_—F

Pre-tax discount rate BURIRAER
Expected success rate of commercialisation — FEE (LN =
Recoverable amount (in HK$’000) AR E &R (FATT)
Carrying amount (in HK$’000) EEEE(THET)

15.74% 13.64%
20.71% 20.71%
187,520 144,040
140,530 139,129

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no
impairment as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

%E’\ﬂﬁ&ﬁ#% — T E&
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ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-—_H#+_A=+—RALFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)  20. EF&E (&)

Development programme (Continued) Fi%IEE (&)

1. Anfibatide (Continued) 1. RIFEHERRE)
Impairment test — sensitivity SR BE — BUREZ
The Group has performed sensitivity test by increasing $EIEL§5L§HO 35% % A AL 3R K 5,
0.35% of pre-tax discount rate or decreasing 3% of expected T #3% 78 Bl e s 1T HURERIE, - AT
revenue, which are the key assumptions for determining the BHMBEERFTE - BIATRIR K RTEH
recoverable amount of the intangible asset, with all other Hﬁl SNETEREEANESE L TER
variables held constant. The impacts on the amount by which cHEPEENNESEBELARAS
the intangible asset’s recoverable amount above its carrying %EZ%%E(FU: SR 2 REWT -

amount (headroom) are as below:

2022 2021
—EB-—fF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
Headroom Mz 46,990 4,911
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate  _FFFATBRIR R 2 22 (8,385) (4,230)
Impact by decreasing expected revenue TR TEH s 2 R (6,330) (4,633)
Considering the headroom available based on the assessment, ZRIEEAIE 2R LEER  EBERA
the management consider that a reasonably possible change HREEEEWE MR EER
in the key assumptions on which management has based on BZAEAREES T SEELRMEES

its determination on the asset’s recoverable amount would not
cause an impairment loss.
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21. GOODWILL

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

21. B

2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

6,242 6,242

2,342 2,342

cosT A

At beginning and at end of the year REYRER
IMPAIRMENT IE

At beginning and at end of the year REYRER
CARRYING AMOUNTS IRE S

At end of the year RER

3,900 3,900

Impairment testing on goodwill

Goodwill is assessed for impairment annually irrespective of whether
there is any indication of impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the following CGUs. At the end of the reporting period, the
carrying amount of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from:

BERENE

BRSFETRENE - TREGHRRETSR -

BETRENS  SRNAREA TR ELE
fir o REREEF - B EESEISRAUT
SEMELZHE -

2022 2021
—E-F —ET-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT AT

3,900 3,900

Licensed-in products CGU SIEERREEEBN
Proprietary products CGU ENERREEESL
At end of the year RER

3,900 3,900

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs are determined by value-in-use calculations by using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 10%
per annum (2021: 10% per annum).

Based on assessment, the recoverable amount of Proprietary
products CGU is higher than its carrying amount and accordingly,
management of the Group determined that there is no impairment
of goodwill for both years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

AETRENR  BeEABMNZ KBS HEE
AERRERFHMHEEEZESRETEA -
ERBEFEEETE - EARRSRERRZ
BRRERAEF10%(ZT=—_—F : F10%) °

RRIHER  BANERBSELENZAIKE
SHEOREFENSE  WALEEREETHE
R CFRZE—FF+A=t—HIEME
FEWEEERIE
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ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. REFE N Rl 2%

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates during the
year are as follows:

AEERBE QR ZESFRNZEEMT

At beginning of the year REH]
Additions NE

Share of post-acquisition loss AMEWIEEEE
Share of exchange reserve DIGEE
Share of option reserve DL B RS
At end of the year RER

Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period
are as follow:

Place of Proportion of

Name of incorporation/ ownership interest
associate operations held by the Group

EEfBEZ
BENRER i ik FrA R

2022

-
Powder Pharmaceuticals Incorporated  British Virgin Islands/ 33.92% 33.92%
(“PP1") (Note a) Hong Kong

EREXERAR (L4 ) (fiEa) ERBELHS/BE
RIT Biotech (Holding) Company Limited British Virgin Islands/ 24.08%* 24.08%
(“RIT”) (Note b) Hong Kong

RIT Biotech (Holding) Company Limited HERZEE /&
(TRIT])(HfzEb)

ZERO Biotech Company Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong . 36.32%
(“ZERO”) (Note c)

BRENMEERAR (T8R]) () BE/BE

* On 9 June 2022, ZERO and certain shareholders of RIT (including the
Company) executed a share swap transaction, for which ZERO issue
total 2,896 new shares in exchange for total 2,896 shares in RIT held
by these RIT’s shareholders (representing approximately 66.3% of the
total issued shares of RIT). Upon completion, RIT became a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of ZERO while the Company’s interests held in RIT and
ZERO has no effective changes.

170 Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= A B34 A% A R A &)

RIEIR - REEE

2022 2021
—=E_— T4
HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

6,267 6,056
3,632
(1,104) (3,495)
46
28
6,267
A=W/l (I

Proportion of
voting rights held

by the Group

FEEFEEZ
RERELLH)

2022
—g-C

33.92%

24.08%*

2021
—E-—F

Principal
activities

TEER

33.92%

24.08%

36.32%

Development,
manufacturing and
sale of pharmaceutical
products

F%  RENHEEm

Operate a central
pharmacy for
compounding
radiopharmaceuticals

BEREHEMEEYz HR
-5

Operate a central
pharmacy for
compounding
radiopharmaceuticals

mEEANE R PR
a5

* RZZ=—FRXANA  BNERITETRR(E
BARRETRNDEBRR S @ Bk - BT
&$£2,896 IS - KA MRITERAFA
#£2,896XRITHD (FEERRITE BT B
#4166.3%) ° TR 1Z © RITE AT .2 3E2 &K
BARR - MARRFERRITRE M2 #as #&
BERED -



22.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

22. REtE NTl 2R (&)

(CONTINUED)
Notes: 5T
a. Included its wholly owned subsidiaries. a BEE2EMBAF -
b. Included its wholly owned subsidiary. b BEEZENBAR -
c. Included its non-wholly owned subsidiaries. € BEEIFZAMBAR -
(i) Summarised financial information of () BELGZHBERBE
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s BEASEBE QR ZMBEERBIZHY
associates is set out below. The summarised financial R o AN E R E RIRIBEE BB
information below represents amounts shown in the associates’ MEREARE 2 M A R M B RMERFTRER
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. P
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity %S S AR R AR S AR AR E
method in these consolidated financial statements. WIS RER R AR o
PPI RIT ZERO
S RIT £
31 December 31 December 31 December
+=A=1+—-H +=A=t+-H +=A=+-A
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ZECCF ettt —E-F Eetdebrcll —Z2-F Eekdeba
HK$’000 HK$'000 [MzINE0lel0] HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Tz TR Tz THT TEx THT
Current assets MEBEE 10,400 N/ATER 12,423
Non-current assets FnBEE 36,365 N/ATEA 8,168 6,223
Current liabilities REAE 154,460 [V N/ATER 2,854 1,374 90
Non-current liabilities FnBEE - - N/ATERA 624
Non-controlling interest FEE RS - - N/ATER - 2,434
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iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-—_H#+_A=+—RALFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. REtE RRlz = (&)
(CONTINUED)
(i) Summarised financial information of (i) BELGZHBEERBE
associates (Continued) (&)
PPI RIT ZERO
& RIT A

1 January

Year 2022 to Year Year
ended 9 June ended ended
2021 2022 2022 2021

—E--F
BZ el —A-HZ% ] BZ BE
CECCF kbl —F-_F z - Set: Rl T —F
LEE HFE ~ARA LEE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 f HK$°000 HK$'000

T TET Tigw 7 TFign TR

Revenue Wigs 277 6,950
(Loss)/Profit from operations £ ([E18) /&7 (CERXII)Y  (21,382) (1,383) (1,505) 556
(Loss)/Profit for the year AEE(ER)/ a7 (CEREDY  (26,374) (1,414) (1,594) 520
Other comprehensive Het2E(Hx), /e
(expenses)/income (2,222) 757 - -

Total comprehensive (expense)/ AFE2E (FY)/WEhE
income for the year

Dividend received during FREMERE
the year

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
unrecognised share of loss of associates of approximately
HK$6,230,000 (2021: HK$784,954,000). As at 31 December
2022, the cumulative unrecognised share of loss of associates
is approximately HK$12,074,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$5,844,000).

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

RBE-Z-_—F+=-A=1+—HItF
B AEBZABERDEHERRE
?E%ﬁi%ezaoooo/%m(_%@:—i-
784,954,000 L) c R=ZZT==_F+=
A=+—8" zuﬁkﬁ&ﬂ“faﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁfamﬁ
E49412,074,00080(—E=—F+=
HA=+—H : 5,844,000/87T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-—F#+_A=1+—RALFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. RERT 2= (&)
(CONTINUED)
(i) Summarised financial information of () BELGZHBEEXHE
associates (Continued) (&)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information i B ER M ERENRA M BRERAZ
to the carrying amount of the interests in the associates in the B AR RESBEERAT

consolidated financial statements is as follows:

PPI RIT ZERO
¢ RIT Ll
31 December 31 December 31 December
+=A=1-8 +=A=1-A +=A=1-8

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

—ECCF ekl —F-— —E-—F bt —T-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAT TER AT THET TAT

Net (liabilities)/assets BEFH)EEFE (107,695) IENCIFLNY N/ATER 10,978 14,214 9,978
Proportion of the Group’s $‘§I?ﬁ7ﬁ%ﬁéﬁntt il
ownership interests 33.92% 33.92% WVZAN:E] 24.08% 36.32% 36.32%
Goodwill 23,995 23,995 WNVZ%Sihi = = =

Carrying amount of the AEERER RRSE
Group’s interests = N/ATREA 2,643 5,163

3
i

(ii) Deemed disposal of interests in (i) BBHERFEE L a2
associates
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE-_—_H+-A=+—HL
FE
There is no deemed disposal of interest in associate during the —E-_FEATEGELEREE QA
year 2022. R o
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ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-—_H#+_A=+—RALFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

(ii) Deemed disposal of interests in

associates (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

On 29 April 2021, Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (“ZKO”) was
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“ZKO Listing”) by issuing new shares. Immediate
before ZKO Listing, the Company, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, indirectly controlled approximately 33.575% of the
total issued share capital of ZKO. Upon the completion of ZKO
Listing, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
indirectly controlled approximately 25.823% of the total
issued share capital of ZKO. Since the Group will not exercise
significant influence over the operation of ZKO, ZKO ceased
to be an associate of the Company and was accounted for as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income thereafter. This transaction resulted in the Group
recognising a gain of HK$2.3 billion in profit or loss grouped
under the line “other gains and losses, net”, calculated as
follows:

22. RERT 2= (&)

(i) BERHERBE L7 2B

(&)

B2 -F+-A=t—HL
FE

E@**:fiﬂﬂ +h8 - KEIRRE
AR (MR ) BBRITHRNHESRS
ﬁﬁéi%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ BER L (T IERIER R
EWl) c REEKRIRE LW - A2
A2 BB A BT KRR
BB #ITIR AN BEEL33.575% ° RILE
@ﬂtmmﬁé ARRER—EE2EH
ARSI RHR R B B TR AN 4 58
,%’925.823% o B ANEEEKBIRE 2
EEBESAYEN  AUABRETH
AERDNBZEENT - WREEBARYIE
BATEEBEMEZEKESIEZMIEE
E o WERSERAEBRNBRNERS
*ﬁﬁrﬁiﬁﬂu&z = R ERIFRE | 2 Wax 231878
CEAEAAMT ¢

HK$’000

FET

Fair value of investment retained (Note) BERBIRE 2 AFEME) 2,321,626
Less: Carrying amount of the investment on the B REREBRBLZEAFENER -

date of loss of significant influence of ZKO BEZRASHE =

Gain recognised in profit or loss RIBEATER 2 Wk 2,321,626

Note: The fair value was based on the offer price of ZKO'’s initial public
offering.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

23. RAVEEBRBIR2HH

BE

Investments in life insurance policies (Note a)
Unlisted warrants (Note b)

JE LR (MitEb)

Club membership debenture g ES
Convertible instruments (Note c) AR T A (Misc)

ABRBRRERE (HiTa)

2021

= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
6,255 5,856
581 2,288
3,540 3,768
2,760 18,568
30,480

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

These represent the life insurance policies with an insurance company
to insure certain directors of the Company. Under the policy, the
Company is both the beneficiary and the policy holder. The Group is
required to pay an one-off premium payment. The Group can terminate
the policy at any time and receive cash based on the cash value of the
policy at the date of withdrawal (“Cash Value”), which is determined
by the premium payment plus accumulated interest earned minus the
accumulated insurance charges, policy expense charges and a specified
amount of surrender charge if the withdrawal is made between 1st to
15th policy year.

These represent the warrants issued by public and private pharmaceutical
companies operated in the United States.

These represents convertible notes issued by both public and private
pharmaceutical companies (the “Issuers”) operated in the United
States, and they could be converted into equity instruments of the
Issuers. Pursuant to the underlying agreements, the notes carry interest
at 5% to 10% (31 December 2021: 5% to 10%) per annum and will
be matured in years 2023 and 2024 respectively, (31 December 2021:
years 2022 and 2024, subject to any renewal clause).

a. WA R R E—HRBR AR L2 AFSRRRE
B HAARETEERR - RERE - AAF
A RAZEARREREA - AREAXN K
MRE - AEBTBERALRE - WEMRER
BEgHzReEBE(RSEEDRRES - &
BREEETRRENFINLPARRRFS
BRZRRER RERMXEARFESEL
BRRTFEBR(WMAREE—Z=+AFHEDEE -

b. b Th R B 2 N8 R BE S N R B 2 R

B
Az °©

c. WHEEREBZ AR RALEEENA ([ BT
ADBITZ AR ER - AERARITAZRE
m LA - RIBAABEGE  ZZZBZ2FFER
5%%10%(=Z=_—4%+=-A=+—H : 5%%
10%) ' PRIER T _=FER_FT_MOFE
Y (=E=—F+=-A=+—8: =F==
ER-T-NEEEE - WREBETHRR)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RS ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

24. RAFEZEBHEMEZE WS
SR BB EE

2021

B

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong REBAIMNBE T2 RAES (MisEb)

(Note b) 9,017 73,610
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (Note b) R & 2 AR ES (Hitb) 417,340 787,695
Unlisted equity securities (Notes a, b) EETRAES (HizEa  b) 59,321 78,940
Unlisted partnership investments (Note c) EETABIRE (MitEc) 50,774 66,472

536,452 1,006,717

The fair value measurement of these assets are disclosed in note 6 ZEEBEZ NV ETERGEMBRERMT6H

to the consolidated financial statements. 7 -

Notes: MaE

a. These represent the Group’s equity interests in private entities a. AR BRI L REEFMER I 2 FAAETRZ
incorporated in Switzerland and the United States. FSCHE -

b. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held b. ZEREWIHFHEEE - MEFAERIIKKA
for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have #) o AARIEREEBETZZRER/RAFE
elected to designate these investments in financial assets at FVTOCI FRHEMEARGEIIRPBEE  REAR/KS
as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these HERBRARRZZRENTELEHREIE
investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the IRAEEIFAZSREERPENIRREA
Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes EERERREN 2K -
and realising their performance potential in the long run.

c. These represent partnership interests in private funds. €. UL TIRFLAE © 2 & BiEas o

The movement of financial assets at FVTOCI for both years ended 31 HE-T-_—FRZF-_—F+-A=+—H1E

December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: FE - RATEEBEMEEREIR HEE

EZHUT :
2021
T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT

At beginning of the year REH 1,006,717 377,584

Addition (Note) wNE (M) 16,485 14,113

Deemed disposal of interest in associates RAEDEREE QR Z s (MizE22(0))

(Note 22(ii)) 2,321,626
Fair value losses on revaluation recognised, C#REMATEEEFHA

net (486,750) (1,706,606)
At end of the year RER 536,452 1,006,717
Note: There was no non-cash transaction being included in total additions for fizd: —E__FEZERERUEFRRERH

the year 2022 (2021: Included in HK$14,113,000 total additions, there
was HK$3,386,000 being converted from convertible instruments).

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A
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26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

=
INVENTORIES 25. B8
2022 2021
—E-— T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Research materials MR 36,759 86,114
Raw materials AR 66,336 79,663
Work-in-progress bt 22,700 35,684
Finished goods RN 123,427 129,933
249,222 331,394
No inventories are carried at net realisable value at both 31 e T —F+ZA=+—8B " '#
December 2022 and 2021. EIFERASRFESR -
==
TRADE RECEIVABLES 26. B E 3R
2021
—E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Trade receivables FENE Z R 111,984 169,369
Less: Allowances for expected credit losses i : TAHEEEERE
(“ECL™) (706) (1,046)
111,278 168,323

The credit period on sales of goods is 30—120 days. The Group has
recognised an allowance for ECL of 100% against all receivables over
365 days because historical experience has been that receivables
that are past due beyond 365 days are not recoverable. Allowances
for ECL are recognised against trade receivables over 180 days
based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference
to past default experience of the counterparty and an analysis of the
counterparty’s current financial position.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented
based on the invoice date and net of allowance for ECL at the end of
the reporting period:

EREEZEEHA302120H - REBD T
Hi#iB365H 2 FE W RIE R 100% 8 s B E
BEE  REAZRBALER - sHlE#A365H 2
FEU R IE Th SRR e - RiA180H Z B E 5 iR
FARBGEATATRE S ERERE R EEEER
% MG RARESEH2EEFH 2 BER
A5 R E R SARNR I EZ DITEERE ©

AT RENERRAHMESIREE S RANHRE
HRZREAIT - B EMBRIRIBEEEERE

0-30 days 0Z30H

31-120 days 31%2120H

121-180 days 1215 180H
181-365 days 181%365H

Over 365 days and under 3 years 365H A ER=FLAR

2021

B

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT AT
55,268 83,225
39,643 79,836
9,057 5,022
7,282 225
28 15
111,278 168,323
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=)
AR

B BHRARNTE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

26

. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past
due at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has
not recognised an allowance for ECL because there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still
considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a
legal right of offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the
counterparty.

Aging analysis of receivables that are past

26. EWE 5 IR (&)

EXFrEZREE SRR BENREHMRC A
HENAEASEERBREERERELZS
B RAAFHLBZERERYEEAEHA
RRIAIR o ANEE W L S RE A
ERRIEMERMEEE - TREERER AT A
REBEREF T TS REIFRE -

B E R R EE A

due but no allowance for ECL provided BB 2 EW T 2 AR 5 BT
2022 2021
—EB-—fF —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FAT
Overdue by: BER -
1-180 days 1%180H 46,741 71,648
181-365 days 181%365H 281 164
47,022 71,812
Movement in allowance for ECL AR EEEEREEE
2022 2021
—EBoCF —T-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#T FHTT
Balance at beginning of the year FH 2 G584 1,046 1,708
Exchange rate adjustments i R 2 7)) 38
Write-off T sH = (146)
Credit to profit or loss FFAB= (263) (554)
Balance at end of the year FRZER 706 1,046

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group
considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the
reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to
the customer base being large and unrelated.

Aging analysis of receivables that are
past due and allowance for ECL provided

REERKE SRR JRORER - AKEZE
BREKEZRREGREER R BEEHRE D
ABUEEEEARZEAES - AREPEREX
BEERE  REEETRRAR -

i
181%365H
365H A ER=FUR

Overdue by:
181-365 days
Over 365 days and under 3 years

BERIE AR BES
TR 152 BN 2 Bkl 5 9T
2022 2021
—E—— —T——fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
281 163
425 883
706 1,046
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27.

28.

29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT

27.

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

Hin R E - ERFAN

/e

Utilities and rental deposits NERBRASRS

Prepayment for acquisition of plant and

equipment, services and purchase B
Prepaid value-added tax TS ER
Others (Note) EAth (M)

WERSE KR - IRGARIBE 2 Rl

2022 2021
—=E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

3,439 3,579
44,511 99,459
16,223 28,272
37,660 31,426

101,833 162,736

Note:  Others includes receivables from other debtors and advance to staff.

There is no provision for impairment loss on other receivables
recognised in profit or loss for both years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

ADVANCE TO ASSOCIATES

This represents the principal and interest receivables from loans to
associates which carry interest rate of 4% (2021: 4%) per annum
and are repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2021, the management of the Company assessed
the recoverability of the advance to associates and made a ECL
provision (stage 3) of HK$90,838,000. During the year 2022, the
Group recognised Nil (2021: HK$3,334,000) interest income from
advance to associates.

As at both 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amount of
advance to associates is Nil, net of HK$90,838,000 ECL provision.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances carry prevailing interest rates at both 31 December
2022 and 2021.

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade payables by age, presented
based on due date, at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

28.

29.

30.

et . EtbeEREEBEBAZRERBNTETIZ

A

BE_T__FR-F-_—Ft_A=t+—ALk
PREAF L - B 1R el PR H At B A RO RUE
B 1RAE -

BN FHEQNTZHKE

RS A RME B 2 B2 A S R EKAE -
MERTFAE(ZT=—F : 48) AR —FR

B -

RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—H " ARREEED
FHEERM FHE QR Z BN KEEE - B
FHiRTEHA(= B 18 5 (58 = P& B¢ ) 90,838,000
BT -RZTEZ_FE A5EERERIZANTF
e NR 2 KB HBMAAES(ZE_—F :
3,334,000/87T) °

R —_FR-_T-_—F+=ZA=+—H 2
NTPBERRzRIBZ RESEAT EPEM
KIEHA(E B E518#1590,838,000/5 T °

RERRITEER

R-ZZF_—_FR-_FT_—Ft+_A=+t—0 &
ITREMIZE RS o

FES B 57 BRK

INTAEREPAMZINENESERNR =
T oFRE - —F+_A=t+—HZERSIT

0—90 days O0Z90H
91-180 days 91%180H
181365 days 181%365H
Over 365 days 365H M &

2022 2021
—EBo—F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT AT

75,204 56,884
25,230 —
807 5,403

60 &2
101,301 62,599
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iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

30. TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

30. ENE SR (&)

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 90 days. BEETERZFHEEH AR - "EEEA

The Group has financial risk policies in place to ensure that all

payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

ERAXA -

TS RBRIBGR - FEARATA RN BRIRRE NG B

31. Attt BN REREER

2022
—EB-F
HK$’000
FHERT

79,233
122,845

122,716
6,709
499
62,338
107,179

501,519

Contract liabilities AHBE

Sales guarantee deposits HERBRE

Other payables for plant and equipment and  FtEiE & 2% #5 EL AR5 = EL A e < 5008
services

Other tax payables H IR

Obligations under license contract HRIE K EHE

Accrued staff salaries and welfare 2iHEEHE REF

Others (Note) E At (Mf3E)

Classified as: IR

Current nE

Non-current FERE

462,182
39,337

501,519

Note: Others includes payable to other creditors and accrued expenses.

32. BANK BORROWINGS

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FAT
118,312
146,698

208,464
8,136
531
104,712
137,817

724,670

684,670
40,000

724,670

st HteRENEaEREAZRREER -

32. RITER

2022
—m——

- —

HK$’000
TEx

Secured bank borrowings classified as SR RTEAEZ AERRITER(FEa)

current liabilities (Note a)

Unsecured bank borrowing classified as PERREE E 2 EEIFRITIE R

current liabilities

76,727

76,727

Secured bank borrowings classified as non- D AIEREEE 2 AHEIFEITER

current liabilities

77,363

154,090

Total bank borrowings IRITIE AR

Carrying amount of the bank borrowings are $R1TfEIRE ©%8EN T HRIEE
repayable (Note b): (FgaED) -

Within 1 year —F R

After 1 year but not exceeding 2 years iR —FETERMF

After 2 years but not exceeding 5 years BRRFEETBRRS

76,727
6,727
70,636

154,090

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

2021
—T——4F
HK$'000
FAT

150,280

12,260
162,540

84,090
246,630

142,540
26,727
77,363

246,630



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

a. As the bank borrowings include a clause that gives the lenders the
unconditional right to call the borrowings at any time (“Repayment
on Demand Clause”), according to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
which requires the classification of whole borrowings containing the
Repayment on Demand Clause as current liabilities, the bank borrowings
were classified as current liabilities.

b. The table is based on the agreed repayment schedule provided by banks
and the loan agreements.

Bank borrowings carry floating interest rate which is adjusted with
reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate, Prime Rate or Loan
Prime Rate at both 31 December 2022 and 2021. As at 31 December
2022, the effective interest rates of the Group’s bank borrowings
ranged from 6.42% to 6.75% (31 December 2021: 1.39% to 3.85%)
per annum.

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the following

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

32. SRITHERE)

Bt -

a. HRBITEREER T
BRI ([HRER
EESYE (KA T M
EHMARBERE)
f& e

BT BRI N BE R
BRIKX])  HIREEER
ﬁhﬁ?%ﬁ BRI fEREE

RITERC D ERRB A

b. ZRARITRER BRI R Z BEEFEFRRE
Lt o

R-E-——FR-_F-—F+=-A=+—H
TEFIRZS MR (EL2EBBRITRERS -
%@%ﬂii%m?@fﬁﬂ {EHAE)E R -
RZT-_—F+-A=+—8  KNEFEFTER
ZEBRFEFEN T6.42%%E6.75% (=T =——4F
+=-A=+—H:1.39%%3.85%) °

REFRITERA THNEHFHE

currencies:
2022 2021
—=E_— T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT
Hong Kong Dollars &I 154,090 209,722
United States Dollars ETT 24,648
Renminbi AR 12,260
246,630
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. HEA®RE
2022 2021
—E-C—F B4
Present Present
value of value of
the lease Total lease the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
HEMNRRE HAESREE REHGECIEE - {EEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FERT FAT FHET
Within 1 year —FR 6,831 6,956 12,639 12,977
After 1 year but within 2 years —F&ERERA 2,556 2,573 6,118 6,221
After 2 years but within 5 years FEZERERN 17 18 1,751 1,761
After 5 years FF% — - - -
7,869 7,982
20,508 20,959
Less: Total future interest B RRF B B
expenses (451)
Present value of lease liabilities MHE&EHRE 20,508
Lease obligations are denominated in currencies of the functional HEREERESEER e EEHE -
currencies of the relevant group entities.
AY
34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34. ELEBE
The following is the major deferred tax balances recognised and NTARAFERBAEFERR L EBIRIEFRIE
movements thereon during the current and prior years: R HEE)
Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities FEEHE(KE) GfF
Accelerated Taxon
tax Intangible unrealised Right-of-use Lease
depreciation assets profit assets liabilities Total
AERER
MEBERE BlEE 2508 FREEE HEAE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
Thn TEn ThL ThL Thr Thn
At 1 January 2021 W-E-—#-A-H 285 81,570 (18,711) 2459 (2,340) 63,263
Exchange difference EfzE - 2,110 - 64 (62) 2,112
(Credit)/Charge to profit or loss (FPAER)/Blaime (475) (4,220) 3,312 968 (1,157) (1,572)
At 31 December 2021 and RZB=-E+f=1-BR
1 January 2022 “E--E-f-f (190) 79,460 (15,399) 3491 (3559) 63,803
Exchange difference EiZE - (6,125) - (146) 140 (6,131)
(Credit)/Charge to profit or loss (;tAB%)/BEENR (405) 1,044 8,002 (1,715) 1,715 8,641
At 31 December 2022 AZSZZ§+ZR=1-A (595) 74,379 (7,397) 1,630 (1,704) 66,313
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
(Continued)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

34, ELERIE ()

EEHE(EE)  BE (&)

RENGEFMHRRE - EERBEAERBER
B - LT ARMBRRZ B2 EER AR
DT

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FAERT FAT

Deferred tax assets EERIEAE
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE

(7,584) (15,424)
73,897 79,227

66,313 63,803

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has
not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$580
million (2021: HK$562 million) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

RETFECEMREHE B -2 N\F—A—H
2 REIKTB A RBATEREUE SR 2 RS A
MTEHIR - AR AR E R SR B E T BB A
FIPTRRER REHR FIEE LR 545808 & T
(ZF——% :562A 8B L) ZRHEARF LR
ZHA RGN A AR AR R - hiRa B H
RN A% G ZRAHRIEIERIR -
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iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

35. SHARE CAPITAL

35. BRA

Number of shares Share capital

BRO#E RA

2022 2021
—EB-C —ZE-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000

THEx TR

Authorised: Py

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SRMEE0.058 T TRk 1,000,000,000 [EHelXoe[0Ree] 50,000

Issued and fully paid: BREITRERR

At beginning of the year RE 588,835,343 588,125,343 29,442 29,406

Exercise of share options (Note a) riEEERRE (Mita) - 710,000 - 36

At end of the year RER 588,835,343 588,835,343 29,442 29,442

There were no movement in either the authorised or issued share REBE_T-__F+-_A=+—HALFEA K

capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022. NRZEEKEBITRAL EES)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no movement REE-T-_—F+-A=+—HLEFER ' &

in authorised share capital of the Company, and the movement in NAZEERAL LSS - MARE ZEETR

the Company’s issued share capital is as follows: REBIT -

(a) A total of 710,000 new shares were issued upon exercise of (@) REBEARQGERESITT(710,0001HE
710,000 share options under the Company’s share option PR #E 1% B 8174 £ 710,000 37 A& 15 -
schemes at an aggregate consideration of approximately 1R {E4953,543,0007% 70 (HBR BT
HK$3,543,000 (net of issuance cost) of which approximately &) HAF 436,000 Tt AR - HeR
HK$36,000 was credited to share capital and the remaining 493,507,000 ;L at A0 im (B AR - it
balance of approximately HK$3,507,000 was credited to the Sh - HEERE AR (G FRIEAY 1,771,000
share premium account. In addition, an amount attributable to TLERARRAD 2 it 2 Bl & R R B = R )
the related share options of approximately HK$1,771,000 has B ©

been transferred from share-based compensation reserve to

the share premium account.
36. RESERVES

Share premium

36. f#fE
BRG=E

Share premium represents the difference between the nominal value RN EEREANRRROEERZFTEEZENZE

and the issuing value of the shares of the Company.

Merger difference

B e

BHFEHE

Merger difference represents the difference between the nominal AU ERBIEFKERB AR ZRHEELER =T
value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal TZFEARARRG ETHATET NS B EHER IR
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time BETRITARRRMD ZEEZEHEEE

of the Group’s reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s

shares in 2002.
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36.

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are not yet exercised.

Other reserves

Other reserves represent (i) the difference between the
consideration and the carrying amount of the net assets attributable
to the reduction of, or additions of, interests in subsidiaries being
disposed to, or acquired from, non-controlling interests; and (ii)
share of associates’ reserve.

Investments revaluation reserve

Investments revaluation reserve represents the cumulative fair
value changes, net of tax, of financial assets at FVTOCI until they
are disposed of or impaired.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve relating to the translation of the net assets of
the Group’s foreign subsidiaries from their functional currencies to
the Group’s presentation currency are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve.
Such exchange differences accumulated in the exchange reserve
will be reclassified to profit or loss upon the disposal of the foreign
subsidiaries.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company

The Company’s 2012 share option scheme (the “2012 Share
Option Scheme”) and 2022 share option scheme (the “2022
Share Option Scheme”, together with the 2012 Share Option
Scheme referred to as “Share Option Schemes”) were adopted on
10 May 2012 and 19 May 2022 respectively for the primary purpose
of providing incentives to directors, eligible employees, advisers and
consultants.

36.

37.

ire ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

fit e ()

LRG3 2 E 1#1E

Az e REemEe R EmARETEZ
B 2 NFE

Attt
AL IR R BRI 28 S A SR 1

IR RE s W AR I /B A B 2 IR B (G F A E AR
SRBENER  RONDIEBE QR 2 -

REEG#E

REBMREBIERATEEBEMEE KRS
2B EERHERERZ R A HEZF (N
BHBR) -

ELMFE

BRBASEBINTB AR 2 EEFENEIEE
BRMESAEEESWRER CERFHEEERE
i 22 T W B PR BRI B S R B BT © RS AEEESL
RERFAZELZEHNEEBIINIERRRE

MoEERE -

BBRESTE
AV

ARAZ =F - FHREH B =8 =58
O EE )EE el oS B
FREAHE] BRI 2157
(RS SRN =2 —FRA TR
SZFRATARRM  BEAETF  AARE
8  BRIREEHALIRE TR -
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ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE—

37.

E__F+-A=1+—HLLFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

For the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall be subject to a maximum
limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the 2012
Share Option Scheme is conditionally adopted and approved by the
shareholders at the AGM, unless the Company obtains an approval
from the shareholders in general meeting to refresh such 10% in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating such 10%. The overall limit
on the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2012
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

For the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares for five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

For the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the total humber of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme shall be subject to a maximum
limit of 10% of the Shares in issue on the date on which the 2022
Share Option Scheme is conditionally adopted and approved by the
shareholders at the AGM, unless the Company obtains an approval
from the shareholders in general meeting to refresh such 10% in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating such 10%. The overall limit
on the number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2022
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

For the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares on the date of grant; and (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares for five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, or (where applicable) such price as from
time to time adjusted pursuant to the 2022 Share Option Scheme
and subject to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS ERR M

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Details of the Company’s Share Option Schemes during the current
year are summarised as follow:

Grantee Date of grant

ERA RiEAH

Category I:

FH:

Directors

£z

Lee Siu Fong  30.12.2013

FINE “E-=Et-A=+A
31.03.2015
~Z-7%=f=1-A
31.03.2016
~2-55=f=1-A
13.04.2017
“2-tEMA+=R
13.04.2018

—Z-)\¥BA+=A

15.04.2019
“E-NERATRA

Vesting period

RS

30.12.2013 to 29.06.2014
Z3-ZE1ZA=t1HE
—E2-mEXA=tAR
30.12.2013 t0 29.03.2015
St e e o
—E-FF=A=tAA
31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015

13.04.2017 t0 12.10.2017
“E-t§MAT=RZE
“E-tE+A+CR
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018
“2-tEMATZRE
—EB-\EtAt=A
13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018
“%-\fMAt=RZE
“E2-\Et+At=R
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019
“2-\fMAt=ZRE
“E-hELATCA
15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019
“E-NEMATERZE
“E-NE1+ATER
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020
“E-AEMATERE
“B-BELATMA

At

1 January

269,000

269,000

223,000

223,000

293,500

293,500

295,000

295,000

228,000

228,000

296,000

296,000

Granted
during
the year

ERBH

No. of options

HBREHE

Exercised
during
the year

ERfTE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

37. IBRESTEI(E)

2w (&)

MAFEE - ARRZ B SIFHERE T

Cancelled or
lapsed during
the year

FREHAKN

At
31 December

269,000

269,000

223,000

223,000

293,500

293,500

295,000

295,000

228,000

228,000

296,000

296,000

Exercise period

{8

30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023
“B-MEXA=TRE
ZA=thA
30.03.2015 t0 29.12.2023
“B-1F=ZA=1HE
ZBoZETZAZTARA
30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
“E-1fAA=1RZE
—E-n%ZA=1H
30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
“E-~ERAZTRE
—E-REZB=tH
30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026

13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027
“B-tE+ATZRE
“E-tEMATCA
13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
“E-N\EtA1ZRZ
“E-tEMAt=R
13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028
“B-\§tATZRE
“E2-\EMAt=A
13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“E-NELATZRE
“E-\FMAt=R
15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
“E-AETATERE
“E-hEMATRA
15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“ECEELATERZR
“E-AEMATMA

Annual Report 2022

Exercise price
per share

SRKE
HKS
RT

187



188

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Grantee Date of grant

5N RiAH

15.04.2020
“E-TERATRRA

21.04.2021
“E2--#mA-t-A

25.04.2022
i S 1 e

Leelalertsuphakun 30.12.2013
Wanee

FRE —E-=%+-A=1A

31.03.2015
“E-Rf=f=1-A

31.03.2016
“E-7F=A=t-R

13.04.2017
T LFmAT=R

Vesting period

BES

15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020

“E_SEMATEAZ
ZE-BETATOA

15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021

21.04.2021 to 20.10.2021
“B--FMAZt-RBE

25.04.2022 to 24.10.2022

25.04.2022 to 24.07.2023
= EMAZ1HAE

13.04.2017 t0 12.10.2017
“E-tEMAT=RE
“E-tETAT=R
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018
“®-tEMAT=RE
“2-N\EtAToR

At
1 January

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

69,000

269,000

223,000

223,000

293,500

293,500

295,000

295,000

No. of options
BRE%A
Exercised

during
the year

Granted
during
the year

ERBH ERfTE

294,000

294,000

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

37. IBRESTEI(E)

Ao a5l (&)

Cancelled or At
lapsed during 31 December
the year

FREHAKN

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

69,000

269,000

223,000

223,000

293,500

293,500

295,000

295,000

Exercise period

i

15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030
“BCRETATERE
“ECBEMATHA
15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030
“B--FtATERZ
“2-25MATOA
21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031
“$--5tA=t-BE
—B=-ENA=tA
21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031
“B-CEtACt-BE
ZB=-EMA=tA
25.10.2022 to 24.04.2032

—E=

25.07.2023 to 24.04.2032

ZBCZELACTERE
MAZ+mA

30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023

30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
“E-5fNA=1RZE
“E-RE=R=1A
30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
—E-REAA=TRE
ZBCREZB=1R
30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026

30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026

13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027
“E-t§+A1ZRZE
“E-tEMATCA
13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
“E-\EtATZRZ
“Z-tEMAt=R

Exercise price
per share

BRER
HK$

b
3.648
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

Grantee

5N

The Company (Continued)

Date of grant

RiAH

Li Xiaoyi
£

13.04.2018
“F-/\FEAT=A

15.04.2019
“E-NERATRA

15.04.2020
ZZ-ZENWATRR

21.04.2021
ZZ-—-FmA-t-A

25.04.2022
ZBC-FMACTEA

31.03.2015
“F-5F=A=t-A

31.03.2016
~Z-E=f=1-A

Vesting period

BES

13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018
—E-\EMAT=RZ
“8-N\§t+A1=H
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019
“2-\EMAt=AEZ
“E-NFtAT=R
15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019
“E-NEMATERE
“E-NET+ATEA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020
“E-AEMATERE
ZBo2ELATRA
15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020
“E-SEMATERE
ZB-2ETATMA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021
“E-SEMATHERZE
“8--FtATOA
21.04.2021 to 20.10.2021
“E--EMA-t-RAE
ZB--E+ACtR
21.04.2021 to 20.07.2022

25.04.2022 to 24.10.2022

ZB-CETACHOR
25.04.2022 to 24.07.2023
“ECCEMACTER

ZEIZELACT

At
1 January

228,000

228,000

296,000

296,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

223,000

223,000

293,500

293,500

Granted
during
the year

ERBH

294,000

294,000

No. of options

BRE%A
Exercised
during
the year

£

/-

1T

(i3

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

37. IBRESTEI(E)

2w (&)

Cancelled or
lapsed during
the year

FREHAKN

At
31 December

228,000

228,000

296,000

296,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

223,000

223,000

293,500

293,500

Exercise period

i

13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028
“E-\§+ATZRZE
“B2-\EMAt=A
13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“E-NEtATZRZE
“2-\FMAt=R
15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
“E-NFTATERZ
“E-hENMATRA
15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“B-BELATERZR
“B-hEMBTMA
15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030
“BCEFTATEAR
ZB=2EMATMA
15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030
FtATEAZ
“EZ2FMATHA
21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031

ZB=-EMA=tA
21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031
= thzt-

25.10.2022 to 24.04.2032
F+A=1ERE
“EMA=tOA

25.07.2023 to 24.04.2032

=EtA-+HAZ
Z$=ZEMACTEA
30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025
“B-RFAA=1HE
Zg-HFZA=1R
30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025
~ERAZTAZE
ZB-REZR=1R
30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026

30.06.2017 to 30.03.2026
“E-tEAA=1HZ
“B-REZR=1R

Annual Report 2022

Exercise price
per share

BRER
HK$

b
11.216
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

Grantee Date of grant

ERA RLAH
13.04.2017
“Z-tEMAT=R
13.04.2018
—B2-/\$¥mAt=H
15.04.2019
“Z-NENATER
15.04.2020
“Z_2EMATRA
21.04.2021
“Z_-fMAt-H

Category II:

FE:

Employees

5

In aggregate  08.10.2012

At “3-—51ANA
05.04.2013
“Z-=FMARA

Vesting period

R4

13.04.2017 t0 12.10.2017

13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018
“$-tEMAT=RZE
—E-\ftAt=R
13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018
“2-)\¥MAt=RZE
“8-\§+A1ZH
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019
—%-/\fMAt=REZE
“E-hEtAT=R
15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019
“E-WEMATERE
“2-NF+ATER
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020
“E-NEMATERZE
“E-ZELATOA
15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020
“E-SEMATERE
Z2CBETATEA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021
“E-3FMATEAZ
“E--FtA1OA
21.04.2021 t0 20.10.2021
“E--FMA-+-RAZ
bt e
21.04.2021 to 20.07.2022
“E--EMAC+-RAZ
b 3 o e

08.10.2012 t0 07.10.2013
“EtANRZ
“g-=EtAtA
08.10.2012 t0 07.10.2014
“2-ZETANRE
“%-RETALA
08.10.2012 t0 07.10.2015
“§--£1tANRE
“E-EETALA
05.04.2013 t0 04.10.2013
=fMAEAZ
£+AmA
05.04.2013 t0 04.07.2014
“%-=£NARAE
“2-RELARA

At

1 January
2022
R=B-ZF
-A-A

295,000

295,000

228,000

228,000

296,000

296,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

200,000

635,000

1,675,000

150,000

150,000

No. of options
BRE%A
Exercised

during
the year

Granted
during
the year

ERBH FRFTE

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

37. IBRESTEI(E)

Ao a5l (&)

Cancelled or At
lapsed during 31 December
the year 2022
Hog=zf

EREEREN St

295,000

295,000

228,000

228,000

296,000

296,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

294,000

(200,000)

GEF))

(1,675,000)

150,000

150,000

Exercise period

T

13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027
“E-t§1+A1ZHE
ZB-tEMATCA
13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027
“E-\ftA1ZHZE
“E-tEMATCR
13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028
“E-\§1+A1ZHE
“B-\EMAt=A
13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028
“E-NEtRTZRE
“B-\EMAT=A
15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029
“E-NFTATEAR
“E-AEMATRA
15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029
“E-SELATERZR
“E-AFMATEA
15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030
“E-EFTATREAR
“E-Z5MATHA
15.07.2021 to 14.04.2030
“E--FtATERE
“E-ZFMATOA
21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031
“B--F1A-t-RE
“B=-£MA=tA
21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031
“¥-FtA-t-RZ
“2=-FWA=1A

08.10.2013 t0 07.10.2022
=E+ANBE
“E-CETALA
08.10.2014 to 07.10.2022
“Z-ME+ANRE
ZBCZETALA
08.10.2015 t0 07.10.2022
“B-REtANRE
“E-CFTALA
05.10.2013 t0 04.04.2023
=ETRERE
=EMAMA
05.07.2014 t0 04.04.2023
“3-MELARAZ
“E-=E¥MAMA

Exercise price
per share

SREE
HK$

BT
7.548
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. BIRMERTEI(E)

(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)

No. of options

BRE%A
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At
1 January during during  lapsed during 31 December Exercise price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period the year the year the year Exercise period per share
ERA REAH SEH FREH FRfTE FAREEAN 2] SRITER
HK$
A
30.12.2013 30.12.2013 to 29.12.2014 604,000 604,000 30.12.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“B-=H+ZA=1A “B-ME+ZA=1HE
ZA=thA
30.12.2013 to 29.12.2015 620,000 620,000 30.12.2015 t0 29.12.2023
S el e o
ZB-RETZAZTAA
30.12.2013 to 29.12.2016 650,000 650,000
—B-ZFt
-8 ZB-EETCACtAA
07.10.2014 07.10.2014 to 29.06.2015 300,000 300,000 30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024
“3-mETALA “E-NETALAZ

—B2-REXA-tAR
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2015 250,000 250,000 03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024
“E-ME+ALEZ —2-1FtA=HE
“E-5Ft+AZA —2-mE+ARA
07.10.2014 to 29.06.2016 300,000 300,000 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024

“E-NETALAZ
—B-XEXBZTAR
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2016 250,000 250,000 03.10.2016 to 06.10.2024

“E2-ME+ALEZ
“E-~E+AZA
07.10.2014 to0 02.10.2017
“E-NETALAZ
~E-tF1+A=A
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2018
—E-t5+fA=HEZ
—2-\£+A=R
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2019
“B-t§1+AZRE
“E-AF1+A=A
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2020
“E-tF+A=HEZ
ZBCBFTACA
03.10.2017 to 02.10.2021
“B-t§1+AZRE
“B--%£+hZH
15.04.2020 to 14.10.2021
“E-SEMATERZE
“8--£1A10A
15.04.2020 to 14.04.2023
SEMATERE
—E-=ENATRA

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

500,000

3,525,000

3,525,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

500,000

3,525,000

3,525,000

“B-REtAZRE
ZBCOETARA
03.10.2017 to 06.10.2024
“3-t§1+AZRE
ZB-mE+BRA
03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027
“B-N\§tAZRE
“B-tE+A-R
03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027
“B-NE1+AZRE
ZB-tE+AZR
03.10.2020 to 02.10.2027
“BCRELAZRE
“B-tE+A-R
03.10.2021 to 02.10.2027
“8--F1AZRE
ZB-tE+AZR
15.10.2021 to 14.04.2030

15.04.2023 to 14.04.2030
~®-ZERATRAZE
“2=BERATOA

Annual Report 2022
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37.

BE-_E-—F+-_A=+—HIFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

No. of options

BRE%A
At Granted Exercised
1 January during during
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2022 the year the year
RZ%=ZF
ERA HLAH BRA -A-H AR ERfTE
23.10.2020 23.10.2020 to 22.10.2021 500,000
S i S CZCEETACTZRAE
mt Jab o e
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2022 500,000
S LR
ZB-SETACTCR
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2023 500,000
SBCRETACTZRE
fmt Jat 2 ey
23.10.2020 to 22.10.2024 500,000
“BCRETACTZRE
Z2-METASTR
02.12.2022 02.12,2022 to 01.12.2023 250,000
“E--#+-A-H
ZBIZE+ZA-A
02.12.2022 to 02.10.2024 250,000
2022 to 02.10.2025 250,000
et Jen 35 o o
500,000
28,751,000 2,426,000
Exercisable at the end
of the year
RERAF{E
Weighted average HK$6.116 HK$1.738
exercise price
IMETH TR 6.116% 7 1.738%7

On 25 April 2022 and 2 December 2022, the Company has granted
share options to subscribe for a total of 1,176,000 and 1,250,000
ordinary shares of the Company under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme and 2022 Share Option Scheme respectively, and the
closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the
date of which the options were granted was HK$2.06 and HK$1.42
respectively.

The estimated fair values of the options granted and a description of
the basis for fair value measurement is set out on pages 202 to 203.

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Schemes as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 were
12,277,543 and 57,633,534 respectively.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F R ZEER#2e AL A R A 7

EREHAKN {8

(2,510,000)

HK$4.996

4,996}

37. B AERT 8 (&)

Ao a5l (&)

Cancelled or At
lapsed during
the year

31 December
Exercise period

Exercise price
per share

SROEE
HK$
A

500,000 23.10.2021 to 22.10.2030 5.310

£+A=1t=RZE
ZBF+A=1+2R

500,000 23.10.2022 to 22.10.2030
ZRZEHASTERE
ZB=2E+ACTIR

500,000 23.10.2023 to 22.10.2030

ZBF+A=1+2R
500,000 23.10.2024 to 22.10.2030
15+A=1tZRE
ZB=2E+ACTIR
250,000 02.12.2023 to 01.12.2032
A-RZ
£+ZA-A
250,000 03.10.2024 to 01.12.2032
Z2-METAZEE
£+ZB-B
250,000 03.10.2025 to 01.12.2032
“B-RfTAZRE
“#+ZA-A
500,000 03.10.2026 to 01.12.2032
\E+AZHZE

28,667,000
22,304,000

HK$5.844

5.84487

R_E-_—FHA-—+HRBEER=_ZE-_—F+=
BB AATGEHRBE_-_ZT——FHERETE
T —FHEREAEI B LEAIRES R
1,176,000/% }1,250,000/% 7" A &) & @Ak 2 B
fEHE - REEREAAER H B R 2 AN A B YT
BH R AE2.067 T K% 1.42787T °

PR A A FERAFEAEEEZ
HIE N E 20252038 °

RN-_E-_—_F#—AF—BRER_ZT-_—-%+_A4
=+—0  IREERE S AR 2 BREE
B2 R4&12,277,54313 %57,633,53417 °
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37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

The number of ordinary shares of the Company that may be issued

%= 4B

AR e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE

37. BIRRESTEI(E)

SHEIR N Z AR TS I AT e B

in respect of options granted under the Share Option Schemes
during the year is 2,426,000 (representing approximately 0.41% of
the number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue during the

year).

Details of the Company’s share option schemes during the prior year
are summarised as follow:

No. of options

AR (4E)

FRNREBRAE

TZARARREBREE B2,426,0000% (FHE K
FREARRIDBEITER

A% %8 490.41%) °

RE—FE » RNRARZ B BIFBRmmT -

BREA
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At Exercise
1 January during during lapsed during 31 December price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2021 the year the year the year Exercise period per share
R-B--F
ERA RiHAH SEH -R-R B ar ERfE EREHEIAN & BRTEE
HK$
BT
Category I:
5
Directors
£z
Lee Siu Fong  30.12.2013 30.12.2013 t0 29.06.2014 269,000 - - - 269,000 30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
<1 “E-ZF+ZA=tH F+-A=1HE —MEXA=TEZ
—mERAZTHA ZEC=ET-AZTAR
30.12.2013 to0 29.03.2015 269,000 - - - 269,000 30.03.2015 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“2-=E+-A=tRZ -R¥=A=1AZ
—RE=A=thA “E-=Ft-A-thA
31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
—3-1%=R=t-A 1F=A=1t-RZ -R¥NA=1AZ
—RENAZTHA “Z-RF=A=1H
31.03.2015 to0 29.06.2016 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.06.2016 to 30.03.2025 11.200
—2-R%=f=t-A% I EAA=THE
2 ERRZTNE “ECRE=A=1H
31.03.2016 31.03 2016 t0 29.09.2016 293,500 - - - 293,500 30 09.2016 to 30.03.2026 5.754
2 5=A=t-H 2 ENA=tRZE
“EEZA=1A
31.03.2016 to 29.06.2017 293,500 - - - 293,500 30 06.2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
2 ¥=A=t-BH% 2t/ A=tRZ
S A 2y T-RE=A=1A
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to0 12.10.2017 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027 7.548
ZE-t45MAT=R “3-t45MATZRE “E2-t5tA+=RE
i ) “EtENATZR
13.04.2017 to0 12.07.2018 295,000 - - - 295,000 13 07 2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“3-tFMA+ZA% =
—2-\#tA+ZH
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to0 12.10.2018 228,000 - - - 228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
“Z-\fWA+=R “E2-\FMAT+=AZ “2-\f+A1=RE
“2-\&+ATZH “2-\fmA+=A
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 228,000 - - - 228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
“2-\EMA+=RZ “E-NEFEAT=HE
“2-NFLATZA —Z-\f@A+ZA
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“3-NEWATRA “I-NEmATERZ “Z-NETRTRER
“E-NETATEE “E-NERATEA
15 04.2019 to 14.07.2020 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7.324

=

“Z-EELATRRAE
“ECNEMATIA

Annual Report 2022
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HE-_T- S+ -A=1+—HILFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

37. BIRRESTEI(E)

The Company (Continued) AR A (&)
No. of options
BREA
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At Exercise
1 January during during lapsed during 31 December price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2021 the year the year the year Exercise period per share
RZB--% g
ERA RHAH SEH -A-A FREL FRAE ERERAR ToA=t-R fiiEH BR{TEE
HK$
BT
15.04.2020 15.04.2020 to 14.10.2020 294,000 - - - 294,000 3.648
ZECZERATRA T-TEMATRAZ
2FTATEA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 294,000 - - - 294,000 15.07. 2021 t0 14.04.2030 3.648
ZE_FENATRAE “E--%tAtTRAZE
“RC-FrATmA ZZEMATIA
21.04.2021 21 04.2021 to 20.10.2021 - 294,000 - - 294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031 5.806
—3--fmA=t-A “F--5tA=t-R%
“E=—FNAZTR
- 294,000 - - 294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031 5.806
Sl -y =)
ZE=-¥mA-TH
Leelalertsuphakun 30.12.2013 69,000 - - - 69,000 30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
Wanee
ZER “3-=5+-A=1A “E-=F+-A=tRZE ? EK/—\H’—E!K
“Z-MmERAZTAA “2-=FtZACTAR
30.12.2013 to0 29.03.2015 269,000 - - - 269,000 30.03.2015 10 29.12.2023 7.300
“2-=ET-A=tRZ “Z-nf=R=1HE
—3-7F=A=thA ZE-=Ft-A-thA
31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
Z5-1%=R=t-A T-RE=A=1-RZE
—RENAZTHA
31 03.2015 to 29.06.2016 223,000 - - - 223,000 11.200
~NEAAZTNR
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 293,500 - - - 293,500 30 09. 2016 to 30 03.2026 5.754
2 5=f=t-H = F=A=1+-RZE ~ENR=TRE
- \ERAZThR ZE-AFZR=1R
31.03.2016 t0 29.06.2017 293,500 - - - 293,500 30 06.2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
2 "¥=A=t-BH% t E~A=1AZ
S 2y ZB-5=R=1H
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.10.2017 to 12.04.2027 7.548
ZE-t45mAT=R “E-t5MATZRE F-tETRT=ZHE
“E-tE+ATZA "B tENATCR
13.04.2017 to0 12.07.2018 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
“3-tFMA+ZA% “2-)\ftR+=HE
“3-)\EtAt=H “ELEMATCA
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 228,000 - - - 228,000 13.10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
“E-\EMA+=R “E2-\EMAT+=AZ “Z-)\ftA+=ZHE
“2-\&+ATzA “2-\fmA+ZA
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 228,000 - - - 228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
“2-\¥mA+ZRZ === nitﬂ+’5l
“F-NErATZR —Z-\¥mA+=A
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“E-NFWATRA “F-NFWATERR ZZ-NETRTRER
“Z-NET+ATMA “Z-NERATEA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7.324
Z2-NEMATRRZE “Z-REYATRAER
“ZCZ5LATMA R NEMATRA

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= R ZE i GR A 7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—HLFE

37. BIRRESTEI(E)

(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
No. of options
BikEA
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At Exercise
1 January during during lapsed during 31 December price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2021 the year the year the year 2021 Exercise period per share
RZF=-§ i
ERA RiEH SEH -A-8 ERR ERAE FREERAR TZA=-B 1S BR{TEE
HK$
BT
15.04.2020 294,000 - - - 294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030 3.648
ZZ-ZENATAA “Z-TETATRAZE
ZZ-TEMATEA
i 294,000 - - - 294,000 15 07 2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“ETEMATRAR
—FtA+REA
21.04.2021 21 04.2021 t0 20.10.2021 - 294,000 - - 294,000 5.806
“Z--FMAZt-A
- 294,000 - - 294,000 5.806
Li Xiaoyi 31.03.2015 31.03.2015 to 29.09.2015 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.09.2015 to 30.03.2025 11.200
2 ZE-h%E=f=1-H ZE-RE=f=1-R% “F-RENA=TRE
“F-RFNAZTAA “BCRE=A=tH
31.03.2015 to 29.06.2016 223,000 - - - 223,000 30.06.2016 t0 30.03.2025 11.200
ZE-RFZR=1-HE “3-7"5/~A=TRE
S e = “Z-RF=R=1R
31.03.2016 31.03.2016 to 29.09.2016 293,500 - - - 293,500 30.09.2016 to 30.03.2026 5.754
- AE=A=t-B B A~E=A=t-A% tAZ
2 ENAZthA ZEZ¥=R=1H
31.03 2016 to 29.06.2017 293,500 - - - 293,500  30. 06 2017 to 30.03.2026 5.754
Z-~E=f=1-RZ
—“Z—+FxAZtNnA
13.04.2017 13.04.2017 to 12.10.2017 295,000 - - - 295,000 7.548
ZE-tEMAT=R “E-tEMATZRZE
I
13.04.2017 to 12.07.2018 295,000 - - - 295,000 13.07.2018 to 12.04.2027 7.548
o tiEﬁH»iEi - \ftht+=R%
“2-)\tAt=R S_tFMATZR
13.04.2018 13.04.2018 to 12.10.2018 228,000 - - - 228,000 13 10.2018 to 12.04.2028 11.216
~%-\fMA+=R —Z-\¥BA+=RZE “Z-\F+AT=RE
“Z-\F+ATZH “2-/\FRATZR
13.04.2018 to 12.07.2019 228,000 - - - 228,000 13.07.2019 to 12.04.2028 11.216
“Z-\fBA+=HE ZE-NELAT=HEE
“Z-NErATZR 2-\FmATZA
15.04.2019 15.04.2019 to 14.10.2019 296,000 - - - 296,000 15.10.2019 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“E-NEMATERA “2-NEMATEAZ “Z-NETRTRER
“E-NETATER ZECNFNATHA
15.04.2019 to 14.07.2020 296,000 - - - 296,000 15 07.2020 to 14.04.2029 7.324
“EF-NEWATRRR “ZCRELRTRAR
“Z-ZEEATRA “ECNENATIA
15.04.2020 15 04.2020 to 14.10.2020 294,000 - - - 294,000 15.10.2020 to 14.04.2030 3.648
“Z-ZENATRR “Z-RETRTRAER
ZE=TENATRA
15.04.2020 to 14.07.2021 294,000 - - - 294,000 15 07 2021 to 14.04.2030 3.648
ZE-RENATRAZE 2
“Z--£rATMA
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AR e WIS ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

37. BIRRESTEI(E)

The Company (Continued) AR A (&)
No. of options
BiEHE
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At Exercise
1 January during during lapsed during 31 December price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2021 the year the year the year Exercise period per share
RoT=-F R
HEA RikaH SEH -A-R FRERH FRAE FREERAN TZA=H-B S BR{TEE
HK$
AL
21.04.2021 - 294,000 - - 294,000 21.10.2021 to 20.04.2031 5.806
“Z--¥MACt-8 -z
“E=-£PACTA
21.04.2021 to0 20.07.2022 - 294,000 - - 294,000 21.07.2022 to 20.04.2031 5.806
“EC-FPACT-RE ZEoCEFACT-HEE
S oy —3=-¥MA-TA
Category II:
Employees
{54
In aggregate  08.10.2012 08.10.2012 to 07.10.2013 400,000 - (200,000) - 200,000 08.10.2013 to 07.10.2022 4.996
aif “Z-Z%1ANR “F-Z5TANRZ S S L
“Z-=F1AtR St i
08.10.2012 to 07.10.2014 880,000 - (245,000) - 635,000 08.10.2014 to 07.10.2022 4.996
“E-5+ANRE “Z-RETANRE
“F-MET AL o=
08.10.2012 to 07.10.2015 1,940,000 - (265,000) - 1,675,000 08.10.2015 to 07.10.2022 4.996
T-—#tA)\RZ “E2-RETANRE
“Z-1Ft+AtH “FC-ETALA
05.04.2013 05 04.2013 to 04.10.2013 150,000 - - - 150,000 05 10. 2013 to 04.04.2023 5.620
ZZ-=fNARA S
—2-=41+ARA
05 04.2013 to 04.07.2014 150,000 - - - 150,000 05.07. 2014 t0 04.04.2023 5.620
“E-mELARAZE
=EMARA
30.12.2013 30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2014 604,000 - - - 604,000 30.12.2014 to 29.12.2023 7.300
ZE-ZEtCAStE ZR-=EfTZASTRE “2-MEF-A=TRE
—mE+ZA=thA ZZC=Et-A-tAR
30.12.2013 t0 29.12.2015 620,000 - - - 620,000 30.12.2015 to 29.12.2023 7.300
ZZ-=FtZA=tRZE —Z-Af+-A=1AZ
—RE+-A=thA i St 2 gl 2
30.12.2013 to 29.12.2016 650,000 - - - 650,000 30 12.2016 to 29.12.2023 7.300
“3-=Et-A=tRZ
“E-AFT-A-thA
07.10.2014 07.10.2014 to 29.06.2015 300,000 - - - 300,000 30.06. 2015 t0 06.10.2024 10.340
“3-NE+HALA “3-NE+AtAR T-RE AZTHZ
21§/ AZTAE “mETARE
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2015 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2015 to 06.10.2024 10.340
T-METALRE “Z-15TAZRZ
“Z-RF1ACR ZZMETASE
07.10.2014 to0 29.06.2016 300,000 - - - 300,000 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“B-METALER B E A=TRE
e S 2 = “E-mETARA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2016 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2016 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“2-METALRE “2-§tRZRZ
—F—FtHA=A —Z-mETAKA
07.10.2014 to 02.10.2017 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2017 to 06.10.2024 10.340
“3-mETAtRE “Z-t51RZRZ
“E-+F1+AZH “Z-METARA
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AR e SRR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—HLFE

e = —
37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. B #ESHEI(E&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
No. of options
BkEA
At Granted Exercised Cancelled or At Exercise
1 January during during lapsed during 31 December price
Grantee Date of grant Vesting period 2021 the year the year the year 2021  Exercise period per share
WoB-—f& R=%=-%
ERA RHAH SEH -A-A FREL FRAE ERERAR ToA=t-R fiiEH BR{TEE
HK$
BT
03.10.2017 03.10.2017 to0 02.10.2018 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2018 to 02.10.2027 6.190
“B-t%#1+A=H t5+A=RZ “E2-N\FtAZRZE
“3-\E+AZH b S 5
03.10.2017 to0 02.10.2019 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2019 to 02.10.2027 6.190
t£+A=A% =
“E-NFTAZR “E-+%+ACA
03 10.2017 to 02.10.2020 250,000 - - - 250,000 03.10.2020 to 02.10.2027 6.190
500,000 - - - 500,000 6.190
15.04.2020 3,525,000 - - - 3,525,000 3.648
“E-TEPNATIA
“R--£+A1MA
15 04.2020 to 14.04.2023 3,525,000 - - - 3,525,000 3.648
TA+EAZE
ZE=ZENATRA
23.10.2020 500,000 - - - 500,000 23.10.2021 to 22.10.2030 5.310
“RRFHA=TEA Ft+A=1t=RZE
I
500,000 - - - 500,000 23.10.2022 to 22.10.2030 5.310
F+A=1t=RZE
TETA+-A
500,000 - - - 500,000 23.10.2023 to 22.10.2030 5.310
FtAZ+=RZE
TETAZTZA
500,000 - - - 500,000 23.10.2024 to 22.10.2030 5.310
== “BCMETAZTZRE
“mE+A=1ZA T=RETA-TZA
21,697,000 1,764,000 (710,000) - 28,751,000
Exercisable at the end 22,844,000
of the year
RERT1TEE
Weighted average HK$6.107 HK$5.806 HK$4.996 - HK$6.116
exercise price
MEHTEE 610757 5.806/57C 499677 - 6.116757

In respect of the share options exercised during prior year, the
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise was HK$5.87.

On 21 April 2021, the Company has granted share options to
subscribe for a total of 1,764,000 ordinary shares of the Company
under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, and the closing price of the
shares of the Company immediately before the date of which the

options were granted was HK$5.66.

ERE—FERTEZERE  RITEBHZM
HEFHIRERS.87HTT °

R-ZZE-_—FWMA=-+—A8 ' ARFRERE=Z
——FRRE BB L AT REA $£1,764,0008%
RNARERRZERAE - SERERER D B 8T
ZARARRGKTERS.667TT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-—_H#+_A=+—RALFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. B #ESHEI(E&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR A (&)
Particulars of share options: FERR RIS -
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHBH T6EH BRITEE
HK$
BT
08.10.2012 (i) 259,500 options exercisable not less than 6 months from date of grant 4.996
but not more than 10 years, i.e. 08.04.2013 to 07.10.2022
—ZE——F+ANH () 259,500 ERERIETIHRERE BHRFANEABTERTF(N_T—=FN
ANBZEZZ-__F+ At BBHER)TTE
(i) 259,500 options exercisable not less than 15 months from date of grant
but not more than 10 years, i.e. 08.01.2014 to 07.10.2022
(i) 259,500 fERERAIENPRER L BHEF+TEEABTEZR+F(BIZT—MEF
—ANBE=Z==F+AtAHH) RITE
(iii) 1,160,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2013 to
07.10.2022
(i) 1,160,000/ EREAIR _T—=F+A\BE_T_—_F+A+BEHERNTTE
(iv) 2,230,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2014 to
07.10.2022
(iv) 2,230,000(EREATR-_ZT—NF+ANBEZ_T-_—F+A+-BHHERNTTRE
(v) 2,650,000 options exercisable during the period from 08.10.2015 to
07.10.2022
(v) 2,650,000 EREAIN -_Z—AF+ANBEZ-_Z-—F+ALBPERTRE
05.04.2013 (0} 50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more than 10 years from 5.620

the date of grant, i.e. 05.10.2013 to 04.04.2023
=%/ ARRA () EHRZ50%AETPREREBHEASSNERETZRTFE=_E—=F1+AAH
E=T = =F(9 A0 AHRE) AITE
(i) unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less than 15 months from
date of grant but not more than 10 years, i.e. 05.07.2014 to 04.04.2023
(i) HMARTEZHBACTIRERLBHEHTRBEABTERTF(AIZS—NF+
RABZE=ZZT-_=FMAMAHHHE) AT
30.12.2013 (i) 1,614,000 options: 50% exercisable not less than 6 months but not more 7.300
than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e. 30.06.2014 to 29.12.2023;
and in respect of the unexercised balance thereof be exercisable not less
than 15 months but not more than 10 years from the date of grant, i.e.
30.03.2015 to 29.12.2023
“Z—=F+-A=+H () 1,614,000 : EH 250%AEFDRE R B R SNEAERSR+F
(BIZZ—MEANA=FTRE-ZE-_=F+=A=+ N BHHE)RTE : MstEERT
EZHEms AETNPREREBHEA TREABTZRTF(I=E—AF=
A=+RE-ZT==F+=A=+NBHHE)ATTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

37. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. BRETE(&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHEBH T6EH BRITEE
HK$
BT
(i) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2014 to
29.12.2023
(i) 669,000EREAR_Z—NFEF+-_A=+tRE-_ZE-_=F+_-_A-+ABHHEA
71E
(iii) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2015 to
29.12.2023
(iii) 669,000 EKEAIN _E—AF+_A=+HE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=-+HLAHHEA
1fE
(iv) 702,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.12.2016 to
29.12.2023
(iv) 702,000 BB EINR_-_E—A"EF+_A=+HEE-_ZT-_=F+_-F -+ A BHHERX
171
07.10.2014 (i) 600,000 options: 50% will be exercisable during the period from 10.340
30.06.2015 to 06.10.2024; and 50% will be exercisable during the period
from 30.06.2016 to 06.10.2024
—T—mE+T AR (i) 600,000 fEMRME : B Z50% AN _E—HFNA=THEE_Z_M&F+ XA
HBATTEE : R50% AR _E—RFANA=TEE-Z-_WF+ H/XBHERTTR
(i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2015 to
06.10.2024
(i) 250,0000EBREAN_—F—HF+A=BE_F_MNF+ AXAHBEATTE
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2016 to
06.10.2024
(i) 250,000 FEREFAIR —Z—R"F+HA=FBEZ T _WF+ /B HERTE
(iv) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2017 to
06.10.2024
(iv) 250,000 BEREAIN-_T—+F+A=HZ T _WF+ ANHBABAITE
31.03.2015 (i) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2015 to 11.200
30.03.2025
“Z-AF=A=+—H () 669,000ERETR_Z—AFAA=THE_Z_RF=A=1HHEANTE
(i) 669,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2016 to
30.03.2025
(i) 669,000PEREAIN_T—R"FNA=THE_Z_AF=A=THEBRTE
31.03.2016 (i) 880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.09.2016 to 5.754
30.03.2026

—TE—XE=A=+—H (i) 880,500EREIR_E—NFENA=TEE-_ZT_\F=A=TBHHHRITE
(i) 880,500 options will be exercisable during the period from 30.06.2017 to
30.03.2026
(i) 880,500 BERERAIN_T—+FNA=THE_ZT_F=A=THBHERTE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
T —F+-_A=+—HALEE

BHE—

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

37. BRRESTEI(E)

(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR A (&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHAH T8 BRITEE
HK$
BT
13.04.2017 (i) 885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2017 to 7.548
12.04.2027
—Z—+tFMA+=R (i) 885000ERETR_Z—tFTAT=AZ_T_+FNA+-HHEAANTTE
(i) 885,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2018 to
12.04.2027
(i) 885,000 EREAIR_ZT—NF+AT=HE_Z_+FN A+ _HBPHEARTE
03.10.2017 (i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2018 to 6.190
02.10.2027
—tF£+A=H () 250,0000EBEEAN_F—N\F+A=ZRE_T_tF+A_RAHMBAATTE
(i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2019 to
02.10.2027
(i) 250,0007EREAIN_T—NEF+A=HEZ_T_+F+ A= HBBERTE
(iii) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2020 to
02.10.2027
(iiiy 250,000 BREAIR T -_ZTFE+A=HE"T_+F+ A - HBEBATE
(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2021 to
02.10.2027
(iv) 500,000 EREAIR T -_—F+A=AZE_T_tF+A-AHBARITE
13.04.2018 (i) 684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.10.2018 to 11.216
12.04.2028
—N\FMA+=8 (i) 684,0000BREAN_Z—\F+A+=BE_ZF-)\FWA+_AHPREATTE
(i) 684,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 13.07.2019 to
12.04.2028
(i) 684,000 BRENR =T NFLAT+T=BE="T=-/\FNA+=—HHHEARITE
15.04.2019 (i) 888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2019 to 7.324
14.04.2029
—NFEWMA+HB () 888,0000EREAINR_Z—NF+ATARBE=Z-AFMA+MAHAMARTTE
(i) 888,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2020 to
14.04.2029
(i) 888,000 EREIR T _TFLAT+THBE_T-_NFMNA+MBEHREARITE
15.04.2020 (0} 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2020 to 3.648
14.04.2030
—Z-ZHFMA+TAE () 882,000 ERERIN_ZE_ZF+ATHARE_ZT=240 A+ HBHERTTE
(i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.07.2021 to
14.04.2030
(i) 882,000 EREAIN T _—F+ATABZE-_T=FFWA 1+ B BREANTTEE
(iii) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.10.2021
to 14.04.2030
(i) 3,525,000 FEREAIN—_F - —F+A+HAE-_Z=2F/ A+ R HEATRE
(iv) 3,525,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 15.04.2023
to 14.04.2030
(iv) 3,525,000 BREATR="E_=FMA+RABEE=_Z=2FM A +MA HERTE
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BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 37. BRETE(&)
(CONTINUED)
The Company (Continued) AR a] (&)
Exercise
price per
Date of grant Exercise period share
RHEBH T6EH BRITEE
HK$
BT
23.10.2020 (i) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2021 to 5.310
22.10.2030
—E-TF+A-+=H () 500,000ERETR_E_—F+A_+=ZBE_Z=ZTF+A -+ _BHMRTT
(5
(i) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2022 to
22.10.2030
(i) 500,0000EBREAIN T —F+A-+=HE_ZFT=FF+ -+ _BHHEANTT
&
(iii) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2023 to
22.10.2030
(iii) 500,000 EREAIR —E-_=F+A-+=AFE_ZT=F+ A -+ _AHHERTT
it
(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 23.10.2024 to
22.10.2030
(iv) 500,000 HEREAIR —T_MF+A-_+=AE_S=F+ A -+ _HEBENT
&
21.04.2021 (i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 21.10.2021 to 5.806
20.04.2031
“Z-—HFMA=+—H () 882,000EREAIN_ZE-_—F+A-T+—HE-_ZT=—FWA=+BBREANTITE
(i) 882,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 21.07.2022 to
20.04.2031
(i) 882,000 EREAIN_T__F+A-_+—HE_T=—FMA_+HBHBR/THE
25.04.2022 (i) 588,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 25.10.2022 to 2.076
24.04.2032
“Z-_FMA-+AH (i) 588,000BEEAIN T —F+A-THAAE-_T="FA _+MHAHARATT
fi&
(i) 588,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 25.07.2023 to
24.04.2032
(i) 588,000/ EREAINR T _=F+tA-_+HBE_T=_"FPMH _+OABHHERNIT
&
02.12.2022 (i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 02.12.2023 to 1.420
01.12.2032

T HF+-AZH () 250,0000BREAINR-_ZE_=F+-_A-_RE_T="4F+_"H—HHBEATE

(i) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2024 to
01.12.2032

(i) 250,000 EREAIR =S _NF+A=AE=_F=—F+=A —BHPHATTE

(ili) 250,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2025 to
01.12.2032

(i) 250,000 EEREAIN T -_HF+A=ZHE-"ZT="F+_"F —BHHPHEARTTRE

(iv) 500,000 options will be exercisable during the period from 03.10.2026 to
01.12.2032

(iv) 500,000 BREAR-"E-_"F+A=AE=_T=_F+=A—BHHATTHE
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HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

The following table summarised movements in the Company’s share
options during the year:

Outstanding at

During the year

37. BIRRESTEI(E)

Ao a5l (&)

TR AR 2 2

Outstanding at

1 January 31 December
2022 R 2022
R-B=Z=f Cancelled or R-B-=fF
—A—H Granted Exercised lapsed +=A=+-H
RATE BRE BT BEHEREN i RATHE

Directors EZE
Lee Siu Fong BN 4,385,000 588,000 - = 4,973,000
Leelalertsuphakun Wanee Z /4 4,185,000 588,000 - = 4,773,000
Li Xiaoyi TR 3,847,000 - - — 3,847,000
Total for directors R0 12,417,000 1,176,000 - - 13,593,000
Employees E5 16,334,000 1,250,000 - (2,510,000) 15,074,000
Grand total st 28,751,000 2,426,000 = (2,510,000) 28,667,000

Equity-settled share options are measured at fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share options is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will
eventually become vested.

During the year 2022, options were granted on 25 April 2022 and 2
December 2022, and the estimated fair values of the options granted
on those dates are HK$938,000 and HK$340,000 respectively.

During the year 2021, options were granted on 21 April 2021 and
the estimated fair value of the options granted on that date is
HK$4,605,000.

The fair value was derived by the Binomial Option Pricing Model
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. There were no market conditions associated with the
share option grant.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi % B R A A

VAR AR B 2 BRI R R D HERT & (D
BRGNS ERBIRTZTE) - URBEEZE
PRENIR I BB E < A FE - HIRBAEEMH
Rt RRFB 2D - RBBHIRNAEARE

RZZEZZFE DR ZTE=__FMA=+H
AR-—ZE-_—F+t-_BF-_BREERE AR
ZERAHBECEBREZATRFES A
938,000/5 7T 5 340,000/5 T ©

RIZZ—FEF RZTEZ—FHA=+—HE
AR AE - MAZ B R ZEBREZ G AFE
/4,605,000/8 T °

RFETINE B DB 2 B R G R A=
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37.

38.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

The Company (Continued)

The following significant assumptions were used to derive the fair
value:

1. exercise price of HK$2.076 and HK$1.420 (2021: HK$5.806);
2. expected volatility of 44.67% and 45.49% (2021: 44.61%);

3. the options life is 10 years (2021: 10 years);

4. annualised dividend yield of 3.21% and 2.89% (2021: 1.14%);
and

58 the risk free rate of 2.64% and 3.45% (2021: 1.11%).

The expected volatility is determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price over option life. Annualised dividend
yield are based on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

The Group has recognised an expense of HK$12,109,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$16,888,000) in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately, there is no forfeited
contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

37.

38.

ire ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

BT 8 (&)

2w (&)

AT RAELNTERA 2 E2RE

1. TE(B2.076/8 T N1.4208 T (T ——
£ : 5.806/87T) :

2.  JEHRNIR44.67% N 45.49% (- &~ —
F 1 44.61%) :

3. BERARHRTF(CE_—F:+%F):

4. FREE3.21% % 2.89% (=T = —
£:1.14%) : &

5. 2 [ R A K 2.64% 5 3.45% ( —F — —
#£:1.11%) °

TEHR R Ty SRR IB E B M A A A R E 2
SERIBETE » FIERBEUELERER - =
Ba A BRRRNRESH A FEZ B ATHEK
BERTE -

BE-_ZTZ-_—_F#+-_A=+—BILFEE ' &
EERREARABLH2EREABARX
12,109,000/ 0 (=& = —F : 16,888,000/
JT) °

BERAKEF
EFRRA B

AEBBEESRFMERTES GG BB BT
BREREBEHRFEATESTE([REETT
Bl - ARSI EZEERAEBZEESH
BH BBUSTAZHZESER - RiEX
BestE EXREEESEARESHEBAK
AZ5% st EIEHER - FABEBKRALRA
30,000 7T © s EERENRFERE - WAER HANE
B A ORI IR B 2K T 2 B R Uit SR o
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ARE ISR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HIFE

38

. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(Continued)

Defined contribution plan (Continued)

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$758,000 (2021:
HK$770,000) represents contributions payable to the MPF Scheme
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Taiwan
are members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC and Taiwan. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits is to make the
specified contributions.

Defined benefit plan

Retirement benefits scheme represents the retirement benefits
provided to certain directors of the Company in accordance with
their service contract (as supplemented).

Each of the eligible directors will be entitled to lump sum payment
upon retirement and monthly pension payment after retirement if
he/she has engaged in continuous service with the Group for certain
years.

The carrying amount of the retirement benefits represents the
cost of providing benefits determined by valuation conducted by
independent valuer at the end of the reporting period, amortised
over the expected average remaining working lives of the eligible
employees. The fair value of the retirement benefits at 31 December
2022 was valued by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The fair value is
measured by using discounted cash flows method to capture the
present value of the expected future economic benefits that will flow
out of the Group arising from the retirement benefits. The valuation
is considered to be level 3 in the fair value measurement hierarchy
due to unobservable inputs used in the valuation. Details of key
unobservable inputs are as follows:

38. BERKER (&)

EFERF B (A

PIEF AR 2 758,000 T ( T = —4F :
770,000/ 7T ) B H X AAS BIZE SR BIFTET
At RARRTES RN 2 -

AEETERGENBARCEERTEREE
BUTEE 2 BIRERRIRENFE 2K E - B
RAPAERTERARZ SE AN L RRRENE
BT MERBFIRHEAS - ARERRKE
MERAEZ BEERELFEHRK -

EEEF &

BARMEA B RIRRIRG A QO (RHEFT)AAAF
ETERRHZRKET -

BEEEREFMECHERBAEEE TFE
AEENERRZE —SBFTARREREES
BRAERKS -

BRER 2 EmSBEARERBMNZKA - THiRB
SAEERRIRE BARATE T2 EEETE - WG
BINEB 2T TR T TIEFEIEEY - RINE
AR B —F+-A=+—HBZRAFEDHE
$EERA R (RSB RS 2 B FE A
B EE - AFERAMBERESREXMELRE
RN AR B 2 TERT AR AR A B A 2 3R
Bt 2 - ERNHEFEATIBREAZIE - FE
WEBAFEFEERZE =M - EBRAI#E
BABEFBOT ¢

2022 2021
—E-= —T——%F

B
HOMEE

Discount rate
Salary growth rate

7.71%—-8.71%
2.18%—-10.00%

3.55%—-4.54%
2.86%-10.00%

Provision for retirement benefits was accrued in the consolidated
financial statements but the retirement benefits scheme was not
established up to the date of this report. Thus, no actuarial gain or
loss is considered.

During the year, HK$15,740,000 reversal of provision for retirement
benefits (2021: HK$7,970,000 provision) was recognised in profit or
loss.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A ZEfifi % B R A A

BAENBRENGEMEREAR - BBER
HEBH - RNERIF R MR - B - T
ZRERKEKEE -

F£R - RIBEAER15,740,00078 TR K4 F)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 390. BMEEMELE 2AEZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING HEE
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRAMINHASEEREZDMEEZ BB
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 2y BREREEKIBEEYY  ARETHME
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EZBEDNEREREIARRRERELAREE
flows are, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s ZEARESRERNBEAREZMERER
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing BB
activities.
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BITER HEAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET
(Note 32) (Note 33)
(M13E32) (M$5£33)
At 1 January 2021 RZE=Z—F—H—H 141,377 15,330 156,707
Changes from financing cash MERSREE :
flows:
New loans raised FTIEER 227,371 - 227,371
Repayment of loans HEER (122,616) - (122,616)
Repayment of lease liabilities HERSaE = (11,405) (11,405)
Other changes: Hih# 5 :
Interest payable FERTRE 3,787 617 4,404
Interest paid EASFLE (3,787) = (3,787)
New leases entered/lease modified ] E (E]HE = 15,598 15,598
Exchange rate adjustments [ S 2 498 368 866
At 31 December 2021 and RZE=_—F+=-A=+—H
1 January 2022 r—=T—_—%—H—H 246,630 267,138
Changes from financing cash RERSHEE !
flows:
New loans raised FEE R 60,000 — 60,000
Repayment of loans EEER (151,880) = (151,880)
Repayment of lease liabilities HEREAE — (12,574) (12,574)
Other changes: Hith 25 :
Interest payable FERFE 6,238 381 6,619
Interest paid [=EREISS (6,238) — (6,238)
New leases entered/lease modified #75]HE &5 HE — 1,856 1,856
Exchange rate adjustments EE = A 2 (660) (767) (1,427)
At 31 December 2022 RZEB__F+-_HA=+—H 154,090 9,404 163,494
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EAREIE
2022 2021
—EB-—F —T-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Capital commitments contracted for: ERTISETH ZERERE
Investment in financial assets at fair value  RIZAFEBEBEME AWK Z 75
through other comprehensive income BEZERE 22,654 39,119
Intangible assets — license fee and EBREE -BFEBRAZEKR
development cost 129,770 125,162
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 79,295 85,567
231,719 249,848

41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

No assets were pledged as at both 31 December 2022 and 2021.

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Financial guarantee to associates

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounting to HK$18,289,000 (2021: HK$42,565,000) in respect of
financial guarantees given to bank for the banking facilities granted

to associate.

The directors of the Company have considered the probability of
default is remote. Accordingly, no provision has been made in the
consolidated financial statements for these guarantees.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

41.

42.

BEEH

RIE - —FR-_TE-_—F+-A=+—HBWE
BIREE -

FREE
[ E 2 AIfR AR B 1R 1R

RZZEZZF+=ZA=+—H8 ' ' A&EH
18,289,000/8 7L(=ZF = —4 : 42,565,000/%
TO)SARBE - EH— R QR RRITRE R
BITEH SRR A -

AARESR RN ZFAREMERE - Bt - Wik
WERE BITSRR AT Z SRR IEL B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Details of the balances between the Group and the related parties
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are disclosed in notes 27 and
28 to the consolidated financial statements. Details of transactions
between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties. In the opinion of the directors, the following
transactions arose in the ordinary course of the Group’s business:

(a) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and key management during
the year was as follows:

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZT - —F+-A=1+—HIFE

43. BBAR S

AARHENBAR(AAARZBE B 2E
BMERSGRGAEREREE - WENANTR

o REEMEH AR T —_FR_FT-_—F
+ A=+ B2 BEFENRE VIEHREAMN =T
27R28% %’ - AEEBMEMEAB HH 2R BFHE
RTXHEE -

FRAERBEEBEBRTETATRS - EFR
B TARSTINAEE BT EBREL -

() TEEEASZH1E
FR BERTEEEABZEHMOT

2022 2021
—=—= —T-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

Short-term benefits = ERER

Share-based payments LARRED =15 2 3R 3B

Retirement benefits and other post-
employment benefits

RIRAEH e B At BE R AR A= A

17,668 73,938
8,317 10,703

(15,722) 7,984

— Defined contribution plan —ERRHKETE
— Retirement benefits —RIRER]

18 14
(15,740) 7,970

10,263 92,625

The remuneration of directors and key management is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

EENTEEEABRZHHATHEZES
KEREARERTIZBBRET -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

43. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Transaction with associates

43. BB AR5 (&)

Interest income FLEWA

Rental and utilities income e R AHRBRA

Purchase of consumables R ERESR

Research and development service 7 R A RBFWA
income

Service expenses BR#% =

(b) EEBE LA 2X 5
2022 2021
—EBoC—F —ET-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
3,334
4,248
2,777
21,889

(c) Donation to Lee’s Pharmaceutical
— Kanya Lee Scholarship Limited
(“Kanya Lee Scholarship”)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, total HK$2,433,000
(2021: HK$7,450,000) was donated to Kanya Lee Scholarship.
Ms. Leelalertsuphakun Wanee and Ms. Lee Siu Fong, director
of the Company, are also a member of key management
of Kanya Lee Scholarship and Kanya Lee Scholarship is
considered as a related party to the Group.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

(C) BIFEXALEH - FHELE
ELEMAA( FHEFLE
E2 ) EH 15t

REBEZE-TE-_—_F+=-A=+—H
LtFEE RAEMFFHESBHA
#2,4330008 L (=T = — F
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4=

AR e SRR

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

1.

General information of subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2022 are set out as follows:

Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered
subsidiary operations share capital
AL/ BRERf/
HEARER B/ mend Rt &5 HERA
Lee’s Pharmaceutical British Virgin Ordinary Uss$1
International Limited Islands
Lee’s Pharmaceutical RERAHS D 1%
International Limited
LPH Investments Limited Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$100
LPH Investments Limited  fIZ&S LER 100%7T
LPH Il Investments Cayman Islands ~ Ordinary US$100
Limited
LPH I1 Investments FERS Lk 10037
Limited
China Cardiovascular British Virgin Ordinary US$1
Focus Limited Islands
HELNEBEERAT ERRNES Lak 1%
Guangzhou Zhao Kang PRC Paid-up capital US$19,000,000
Hospital Co. Ltd*
(Note a)
EMkERRARAR i BRBA 19,000,000
(fits+a)
Lee’s Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Ordinary HK$18,400,000
(HK) Limited
FRAER(BR)ERAE  FA AR 18,400,000 7
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000
(HK) Limited
KHEx(BE)ERAR R TR 1,000,000/%70
Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$2,000,000
(Hefei) Co. Limited*
(Note a)
IRER(AE)ERAR  HE R 2,000,000% 7

(Ffta)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Hz—-2—-—

F+r-A=+—RHIFE

44, KRB EEMBATFE

1. WEBARAAZ—KREH

ARBEEMBRARAINR_T=__F+=A1
=+—BZFBHINT

Proportion ownership interest
held by the Company

RRARRER ARRERL S

Directly
ER

2022
—m——

—

100%

100%

Indirectly
GE:

100%

2021
“E--F

Principal
activities

TEEB

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Investment holding
RERR
Investment holding
RERR
Investment holding

REHR

Investment holding
REARR

Hospital and medical
care

B LEmes

Investment holding
and trading of
pharmaceutical
products

RERRREELER

Investment holding

RERR

Manufactures and sale
of pharmaceutical

products
BERHEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, ZRFEEWB A TFE(E)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. WEBRAEZz—MRER (&)

(Continued)

Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/

Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership interest Principal

subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities

AL/ BRERT/
WEARER R/ EEny LikFil R RAREE A RRRLY) TEXH
Directly Indirectly
B Gt
2021
—EC-&

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$16,000,000 100% Trading of
(Guangzhou) Limited* pharmaceutical
(Note a) products

KMEZ(ENERAT  E BRKA 16,000,000 BEZm
(Fits+a)

Zhao Kang Medical Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$1,000 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited

KRERRARRAR RERE LEk 1,000%7C RERKR

Zhao Kang Medical HK Hong Kong N/A N/A 100% N/A
Limited (Note c)

KEBRERSERAH A TaA TER TER
(fitzkc)

Guangzhou Zhaoke Lian ~ PRC Paid-up capital US$1,000,000 100% Trading of
Fa Pharmaceutical pharmaceutical
Limited* (Note a) products

EMAMBEBERRAR  HH BRBA 1,000,000%70 BEZq
(fitz+a)

Zhaoke Lian Fa PRC Paid-up capital RMB900,000 100% Not yet commenced
(Guangzhou) business
Biotechnology Limited*

(Note a)

KRR (BNEIRR  HE BRRA AR#900,00070 HARRER
ARAE (fizka)

Zhaoke Lian Fa PRC Paid-up capital RMB500,000 100% 100% Not yet commenced
(Guangzhou) Logistic business
Limited* (Note a)

ke (BN IRERRR HE BRRA AR500,00070 HARRER
(fitzta)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44, ZRFETEWB A AFE(E)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries 1. WEBREz—MEX (&)
(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered Proportion ownership interest Principal
subsidiary operations share capital held by the Company activities
AL/ BRERT/
WEARER R/ EEny LikFil R RAREE A RRRLY) TEXH
Directly Indirectly
B Gt
2021
—EC-&
Zhaoke Lian Fa PRC Paid-up capital RMB500,000 100% Not yet commenced
(Guangzhou) Business business
Services Limited*
(Note a)
KB (RN ARRE  PE BRRA AR#500,00070 HARRES
ARAR(MiTa)
Lee’s Pharmaceutical Taiwan Ordinary NTD1,000,000 100% 100% Trading of
Taiwan Limited* pharmaceutical
(Note a) products
BEFREXARAT = Lk #75%1,000,0007 E&Zm
(fitzra)
Lee’s Pharm Genomics ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Drug development and
Lab Limited service
FRALHERERE B LR 1%T SRR RRE
BRAF
Dreamboat Ventures British Virgin Ordinary US$1 100% Investment holding
Limited Islands
Dreamboat Ventures EBRLES LAk e RERR
Limited
Lee’s Keno Pharmaceutical Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Not yet commenced
Limited business
FRAHBERRAR i Lak %1 HAREES
Beijing Keno PRC Paid-up capital Nil 51% Marketing and selling
Pharmaceutical of pharmaceutical
Technology Limited* device
(Note b)
FRAREEREARAR  HE BRRA £ BUESHTISERRINE
(Fitztb)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
1. General information of subsidiaries
(Continued)
Place of Paid up
incorporation/ issued/
Name of registration/ Class of registered
subsidiary operations share capital
AL/ BrERs/
WEARER R/ EEny LikFil R
CVie Therapeutics Cayman Islands  Ordinary US$135,000
Company Limited
PEEREABERAR  HEEHS LR 135,000%7C
China Oncology Focus British Virgin Ordinary US$226,200
Limited Islands
PEERREARAR ERELHE AR 226,20057T
Zhaoke (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000
Oncology
Pharmaceutical Limited
KN(BE)EBENERAR & LR 10,0007
Zhaoke (Guangzhou) PRC Paid-up capital US$9,640,000
Oncology (2021:
Pharmaceutical Limited* US$8,240,000)
(Note a)
KMEN)EBENERAR HHE BRKA 9,640,000%70
(fitzra) (ZB=-%:
8,240,00057T)
* For identification purpose only
Notes:
a. These are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises.
b. These are sino-foreign equity joint enterprises.
@, Dissolved by deregistration during the year 2022.

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A

44, RPFEEMB N RIFE (&)

1. HBRaEz—KREX (&)

Proportion ownership interest Principal
held by the Company activities
RAREE A RRRLY) TEXH
Directly Indirectly
B i
2022 2021
C“ECCF ekl
CWILZN  56.26% Development
and trading of
pharmaceutical
products
FEREEZm
65% Development of
oncology products
FREEER
65% Development of

65%

oncology products
FRERER

Development of
oncology products

REERER
* EHHT)
P -
a. I AINE A B o
b. B AFIEELERE -
c. K=Z = — FE N AR S ARAL



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

2. Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests
The table below show details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests at the

end of the current year:

Proportion of

RE I ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

44, RNREEMB N RIFE (&)
2. BEBAHEZERERZ
HFEENBLAZFHE

TRERAEEARAFEREEERIFE
Mt 2 SEREMBRRZFHS -

Place of ownership interests and
incorporation/ voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary operations non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests
FERERFEEZ
WEAREE AT S FEREERRERLA PRFFERER 2 ER Btk ERER

2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
“E--f% “E-CF —T--& —E-CF “Z--F

e

HK$'000 GIG  HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR TAL TiEx THL

China Oncology Focus Limited British Virgin Islands 35.00% 35.00% (3,853) (27,122) (47,213) (42,654)

(“COF”) (Note)
TEEEEEERAR(COF)) () HBRI#HS

Note: Include its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Summarised financial information in respect of Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is
set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

i . BEEZENRBAR -

BREE EAFERES Y AREHER
AZMBEHBERFINT « U THHHE
HEE AR EERNA TR 2 28 -

COF and its subsidiaries
COFRHHKE A =
2022 2021
—E_— —T_—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT

31,903

166,951 146,257

328,930 337,046

4,818

(87,681) (79,215)

Current assets mBEE

Non-current assets SEMBEE

Current liabilities e BUE

Non-current liabilities JEME B fE

Equity attributable to the owners of the  ANARIEH AE(LIERS
Company

Non-controlling interests PR

(47,213) (42,654)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 44. XABEEMB A BFE(E)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
2. Details of non-wholly owned 2. BEEAHLEZRERZ
subsidiaries that have material HFE2EWB LT ZHEE)

non-controlling interests (Continued)

COF and its subsidiaries
COFREMEAR

Year ended Year ended
2022 2021
BZE HZE
—B--fFiE Tk
FE FE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Revenue W ek 8,342 3,223

Expenses =53 (19,352) (82,617)
Loss for the year AEFEEER (11,010) (79,394)
Loss attributable to the owners of the AAEHEE AEGEE

Company (7,157) (51,606)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling ISR AE R (L 1R

interests (3,853) (27,788)
Loss for the year AEEER (11,010) (79,394)

Other comprehensive expense ARRHEEABRGEMEERSE

attributable to the owners of the

Company (11,487)
Other comprehensive expense PR R R H 2 A

attributable to non-controlling interests (6,186)

(17,673)

Other comprehensive expense for the year ANFE H i 2 HE [

Total comprehensive expense attributable 72 F# A ARE(L 2 4458
to the owners of the Company

Total comprehensive expense attributable JE¥ZRAEzS (G 2 EIR S 4258
to non-controlling interests

(63,093)

(33,974)
(97,067)

Total comprehensive expense for the year ZAF[E2 S A%

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests = FFHEf RS 2 AE 8

Net cash inflow from operating activities &&/EEIRE R AFEE

Net cash outflow from investing activities && ;AR 4L 7 HF4

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing Y& EENR S GR),RAFEE
activities

Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERA/ (Rl ) F8E

(94,476)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
sRa B RS ERR M

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BHE-B-—F+-A=1+—RHIFE

2022
—EB__F
HK$’000
TERT

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries
Investment in associates

Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income

FRBEE
SEIEPNCIA:: 5
KB R R ZIEE

BATEERERIIRUMBEE

BAFEEBEMEEEETIRZ

MIEAE

689,827
4,684

9,596

118,091

822,198

Current assets

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

REBEE

HAEUHRIE - #2E RIARN R

16,397

10,168

26,565

Tax recoverable ATYEIR IR
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHE S
Current liabilities REEE

Other payables and accruals
Tax payables

H i A TR0A N et &
FERTEIR

5,003
41

5,044

21,521

843,719

29,442
685,588

715,030

Net current assets REBEEFE
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRREBARS
Capital and reserves EXK#E

Share capital A&

Reserves (1]

Total equity R
Non-current liabilities E1 =Nt

Other payables and accruals
Retirement benefits

HALRERT BB K R &
RKAER

32,459
96,230

128,689

843,719

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Siu Fong
TN
DIRECTOR
BF

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45. XD EMBEMR TR #E

2021
B4
HK$’000
FAT

778,058
6,267

25,431

160,201
969,957

14,739
55
10,576

25,830

23,595

23,595
2,235
972,192

29,442
790,780

820,222

40,000
111,970

151,970
972,192

RAARMBRARER-ZE_=F=A=1+HEK
EESRERBEAMN WA TIIEBSARES

Leelalertsuphakun Wanee

IR
DIRECTOR
EZ

Annual Report 2022 F5% 215



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR IR T L

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-ZBE-—F+-A=1+—HIFE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

Share
premium
RiteE
HK$'000
Thn
At 1 January 2022 RZZ-—#-8-H 720,091
Employee share option benefits [EEERERT
Share options lapsed BRERE
Profit for the year RERRT

Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEEM2EFY
- Fair value changes of financial assets at

-RATERBEMEEUEE

Merger
difference

affEE
HK$'000
T

45. RRXTMBIRR R i (&)

ARAZHEZE
Share-based Investments
compensation revaluation Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
WAtz

HeRh REBfHGRRE REEH Eh

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT AR AT

55,964 (46,363)
12,109 -

790,780
12,109

(6,281) - -
= = 5423

fair value through other comprehensive ~ ZEHKEEAFERE

income (98,582) (98,582)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for AEE2 (B /MEaE

the year (98,582) 5,423 (93,159)

2021 final dividend paid BNz -ERERE - (18,254) (18,254)
2022 interim dividend paid Sy ——e - (5,888) (5,888)
At 31 December 2022 RZB==E+=f=1-A 720,091 (144,945) 39,450 685,588
At 1 January 2021 R=E=-%-5-H 714,813 9,200 40,847 (19,655) 52,096 797,301
Employee share option benefits [EEERERR - - 16,888 - - 16,888
Exercise of share options fieeamRiE 5,278 - (1,771) - - 3,507
Share options lapsed BRMERE - - - - - -
Profit for the year REREA - - - - 35,711 35,711
Other comprehensive expense for the year A&FEH2ERE
— Fair value changes of financial assets at  ~ZATEREE M2 ENETIR

fair value through other comprehensive ~ ZEKEEZAFERS

income - - . (26,708) . (26,708)
Total comprehensive (expense)fincome  AEE2E (B /MEaE

for the year - - - (26,708) 35,711 9,003

2020 final dividend paid ERZEZSERERE - - - - (18,254) (18,254)
2021 interim dividend paid BR-B-—Ehiks - - - - (17,665) (17,665)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F+ZA=1-H 720,001 9,200 55,964 (46,363) 51,888 790,780

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited 2= K 255 i A BR A A




46.

47.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F+-A=1+—HLFE

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 46. KEHETH
The Group as lessor KEBERBLHFAL
The Group usually, as a lessor, entered into leasing arrangements AEBE—RMUWEAEHEANGIYAR—=Z=2=F2M1
for a period of 1 to 3 years. ExHE -
Undiscounted lease payments receivables by the Group in future AEBP KRR ARMBIR RS T2 T A #iH
periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as KERERK RBBAERRNT -
follows:
2022 2021
—EB-—F —T-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Within one year —FNRN 3,004 282
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 47. LEBEF

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year’s presentation.

ETUBRMFEEN OB  IHAATEZIIHE
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Definition

B=

“AGM”
[ERAFAE]

“ANDA”
[{cHEEmss

“Audit Committee”
[BEEEE

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[E2%g)

“CDE”

“CEQO” or “Chief Executive Officer”

[1TRR A ]

“CG Code”
[fEEER<TAI

“China”, “Mainland China” or
“the PRC”

[P B sk A B AR |
“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”, “we” or

“Lee’s Pharm”

[ARRA  [HAP I FERA LR |
“Director(s)”
[E=]

“GMP”

[GmP]

“Group”, “our Group”,
“the Group” or “we”

[ AL IR M)

“HKFRS”
[ BB SR ]

“Hong Kong”
[&%]

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HKS$”
Bl

the annual general meeting of the Company

ARABBERBAFARE

abbreviated new drug application, an application for a generic drug to an
approved drug in China
L FTEE E R - N RSB YRR

the audit committee of the Board
EFEETHNERZE®

the board of directors of the Company

RARESFS

the Center for Drug Evaluation of NMPA (B 2 Es BB 18 B EFETH L), a division
of the NMPA mainly responsible for review and approval of IND and NDA
RREREBETERERETH L  BREERNTEIM - TEAFFEABRBERTER
EHE

chief executive officer
TTHABE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
LR RIRT R P 2 E AT R

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

MEARAME - iAFHRME I REES  RPISHITHRRAE

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited

FRAEHIZERBR AR
the director(s) of our Company, including all executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors

ARREE  BER2ENTES  FATESRBAVIIFRTES

good manufacturing practice
BEnAELESERRE

the Company and its subsidiaries
AR REMB AR

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BB RS R

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EFEBRRITTHR

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEEEREET

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A Zfifi % B R A 7



“IDL”
[ 1 B2t fif o |

“Listing Rules”

[ LRl

“Main Board”

k]

“Management Committee”
[EREEg]

“Model Code”

“NMPA”

[BIZREER ]

“Nomination Committee”

Fr==E3 =

“NRDL”

[E&fR %50 B 8

“R&D”
(73 )

“Remuneration Committee”
[FEZEe ]

“Reporting Year”
[FREFE ]

“RMB”
AR

“SFO”

&7 R 5EA

Definition

Import Drug License
HEOZE LT EE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended
or supplemented from time to time
AR S EARA - S TEHERT S T

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange

B PrEENE SRR (T RESETS) - BN B IGEMIL B2 W1TE(E

the management committee of the Board
EFERTHNEREZES

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
ETRRIM ST AR LT BRITAERETES R ZNIRE TR

new drug application, an application through which the drug sponsor formally
proposes that the relevant regulatory authority approve a new drug for sales and
marketing

B LT SN EIRARBZ RS U R AR E B E T S E R T

National Medical Products Administration, the institution that performs the
functions of China Food and Drug Administration instead according to the
Institutional Reform Plan of the State Council of the PRC

BREMEEERR  BEFEEKROREBERESR REERRMEREEEEREITH
BEAVHIE

the nomination committee of the Board

EEgETHREZER

National Reimbursement Drug List issued by the China National Healthcare
Security Administration
BRI R B RIE R KR RERERRE - THRIRFAES R Z4m B £)

research and development
ek

the remuneration committee of the Board

BB THHEHMERS

the year ended 31 December 2022
EZE2022F12A318ItFE

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEEPIESTIEE R RPEED - LTRHERT - Tk AR X B2k

Annual Report 2022
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Definition

“Share(s)”
[ %15 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ AR

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 FAT

“United States”

[Z<E ]

“US dollars”, “U.S. dollars”,
“US$” or “USD”

E

“Zhaoke Guangzhou”

[JRRHEM |

“Zhaoke Hefei”

[JERERe]

“ZKO”

[JERIER R

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company of HK$0.05 each
RRFRRAH EARE(EO0.058 Ty & @AR

holder(s) of Shares
BIpHEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
EREBARGMBERDR  REBRXZNEEMERATNEZEMBRR

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction
ZHBRERH - HEL BHEEZEAEEENMAIE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EBEFEERET

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Guangzhou) Limited (JK&l22% (EIN) B R AF), a limited
liability company established in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of our Company

Rt (B ERAR  RPBERIZBEREFEAT - AEARNEEZENE AT

Zhaoke Pharmaceutical (Hefei) Co. Limited (JKEIZ£ % (A ) AR A F]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of our Company

KB EE(AR)BRAR  RPBERZZEREERR - RARANEEEZENE AR

Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands on January 20, 2017 and redomiciled to the Cayman lIslands on 2
June 2020 with limited liability whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 6622)

KBRRIBRAR  RZE—tF AT EEABEXHSHEMAIZBRAR TR =E
—TFEANAZHEMERSHERERAR] - EROIBRZFIER EH(RMH RS - 6622)

Lee’s Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited Z=F A Zfifi % B R A 7
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